Public Document Pack

Cabinet
Date:
Time:

Thursday, 12 March 2015
6.15 pm

Venue:

Council Chamber, Birkenhead Town Hall

Contact Officer:
Tel:
e-mail:
Website:

Lyndzay Roberts
0151 691 8262
lyndzayroberts@wirral.gov.uk
http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1.

MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members of the Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have any
disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests in connection with
any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state the
nature of the interest.

2.

MINUTES
The minutes of the last meeting have been printed and published. Any
matters called in will be reported at the meeting.
RECOMMENDATION: That the minutes be approved and adopted.

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL
3.

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2015/16 (Pages 1 - 30)

4.

FINANCIAL MONITORING 2014/15 (MONTH 10) (Pages 31 - 52)

5.

CAPITAL MONITORING 2014/15 (MONTH 10) (Pages 53 - 68)

6.

CREATION OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK (Pages
69 - 76)

7.

ENTERPRISE ZONE - RE-INVESTMENT OF BUSINESS RATE
UPLIFT (Pages 77 - 92)

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND PUBLIC HEALTH
8.

RESIDENTIAL/NURSING FEES SETTING PROPOSALS (Pages 93 104)

9.

INTEGRATED HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE PROPOSED
COMMISSIONING AND DELIVERY ARRANGEMENTS 2015 (Pages
105 - 110)

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES
10.

PENSBY HIGH SCHOOLS - OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION
(Pages 111 - 130)

11.

ADMISSION
ARRANGEMENTS
FOR
COMMUNITY
AND
VOLUNTARY CONTROLLED PRIMARY AND SECONDARY
SCHOOLS AND COORDINATED SCHEME FOR 2016/17 (Pages
131 - 168)

ECONOMY
12.

BIRKENHEAD TOWN CENTRE - MASTER PLAN PRINCIPLES
(Pages 169 - 184)

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
13.

PERIODIC REVIEW OF FEES FOR SCRAP METAL LICENSES
(Pages 185 - 190)

NEIGHBOURHOODS, HOUSING AND ENGAGEMENT
14.

SELECTIVE LICENSING (Pages 191 - 208)

SUPPORT SERVICES
15.

NOMINATION OF CIVIC MAYOR AND DEPUTY CIVIC MAYOR
2015/16
The Cabinet is requested to make nominations for the positions of
Civic Mayor and Deputy Civic Mayor for the municipal year 2015/2016,
which will be submitted to the Annual Meeting of the Council.

16.

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR
(PART 1)
To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.

17.

EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND
PUBLIC
The following items contain exempt information.
RECOMMENDATION: That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by
the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to
that Act. The Public Interest test has been applied and favours
exclusion.

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL
18.

APPLICATION FOR FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (Pages 209 - 214)

ECONOMY
19.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK: HEAD LEASE WITH
COMPANY (Pages 215 - 222)

20.

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR
(PART 2)
To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
CABINET
12 MARCH 2015
PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2015/16
REPORT OF

Councillor Adrian Jones

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR

Central and Support Services

CO-ORDINATING CHIEF
OFFICER

Strategic Director: Transformation &
Resources

1.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The purpose of this report is for Cabinet to consider and recommend to Council:
i.
The starting salary of the Chief Executive within the agreed salary range
as approved by Council on 8 December 2014; and
ii.
2.

The approval of the Council’s Pay Policy Statement for the financial year
2015/16.

BACKGROUND

2.1 The Localism Act 2011 sets out the requirements for Councils to determine and
publish annual pay policy statements. The requirements of The Localism Act
include:



The Pay Policy Statement to be approved by Full Council, in advance of the
financial year to which it relates.
The Pay Policy Statement to be published on the Council website.

2.2 The Pay Policy Statement is required to set out the Council’s policies relating to
the following:



3.

Chief Officer Remuneration, including salary, allowances, and enhancements
at termination.
Remuneration of its lowest paid employees.
The relationship between Chief Officer Remuneration and that of other
employees.

THE PAY POLICY STATEMENT

3.1 The Pay Policy Statement 2015/16 is attached at Appendix One for the
consideration of Cabinet.

Page 1

3.2 The Pay Policy Statement is to be submitted to Full Council for approval. Cabinet
are asked to refer the Pay Policy Statement 2015/16 to Full Council on 16 March
2015.
3.3 The Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) have made
some recommendations to revise the code on data transparency and there has
been national consultation on this. If approved, this may mean changes to the
Pay Policy Statement. In this event Council will be updated of the changes.
3.4 The Pay Policy can be amended by resolution of Council. This includes in-year
amendments.
4.

KEY CHANGES AND UPDATES FROM THE 2014/15 STATEMENT

4.1

The 2015/16 statement reflects key changes and updates that have occurred within the
last financial year as follows;

5.



The implementation of nationally agreed pay awards (refer to Paragraph 3.5 of the
Pay Policy Statement). Please note that we are awaiting final confirmation of the
2014/15 pay award for JNC Youth and Community and the Soulbury Committee.



The changes agreed at Council on 8 December 2014 to the salary of the Chief
Executive (refer to Paragraph 4.3 of the Pay Policy Statement).



The annual increase of the Living Wage rate and application of the Living Wage to
all employees, including apprentices (refer to Paragraph 3.14 of the Pay Policy
Statement).



Links to The Local Government Transparency Code 2014. The purpose of the Pay
Policy is to provide transparency with regard to the Council’s approach to setting
the pay of its employees. The purpose of The Transparency Code is to provide
access to data for local people in respect of information relating to the Council,
including senior salaries and organisational structure.

THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S SALARY

5.1. The Chief Executive’s salary was reviewed as part of the recent recruitment
process and Council agreed on the 8 December 2014, that the salary for the
Chief Executive was to be within a range of £155- £175k.
5.2. At its meeting on 24 February 2015, Council confirmed the appointment of The
Chief Executive and it is proposed that the new Chief Executive will start on
£165k within the agreed range salary, with annual incremental progression
through the range.

6.

RELEVANT RISKS

Page 2

6.1 The Council is required to prepare and approve its Pay Policy Statement
2015/16 before 31 March 2015. The Council will be at risk of not meeting the
requirements of The Localism Act 2011 if this is not achieved.
7.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 The Chief Executive salary range was agreed at Council on 8 December 2014.
7.2 No other options were considered as the Pay Policy Statement is a requirement
of the Localism Act 2011.
8.

CONSULTATION

8.1 The Trade Unions have been consulted on the key updates and changes for the
2015/16 statement.
9.

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

9.1 Not applicable for this report.
10. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS
10.1 The cost of the Living Wage increase (effective 1 November 2014) is £7,500
including on-costs. This will be built into departmental budgets under the
provision for pay growth.
10.2 The cost of the pay awards, including NJC, JNC (Craft, Youth and Community,
Chief Officers) and the Soulbury Committee is £2,205,870. This is met within the
budget proposals for 2014/15 and 2015/16.
11. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
11.1 The Council is required to meet the requirements of the Localism Act 2011.
12. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
12.1 The EIA is available at:
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversitycohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-2010/law-hr-asset-management

13. CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS
13.1 Not applicable for this report.
14. PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
14.1 Not applicable for this report.
15. RECOMMENDATION/S

Page 3

15.1 Cabinet is requested to recommend to Council at its meeting on 16 March 2015
that:
i.

The starting salary for the Chief Executive be agreed at £165k which is
within the salary range agreed by Council on 8 December 2014, with annual
increments of £5k to the top of the salary range; and

ii.

The approval of the Council’s Pay Policy Statement 2015/16 as set out at
Appendix One.

16. REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
16.1 Council agreed the salary range for the Chief Executive on 8 December 2014.
Following appointment the starting salary requires confirmation and agreement
by Council.
16.2 The Council is required by Section 38 of The Localism Act 2011 to prepare a Pay
Policy Statement for each financial year.
APPENDICES
Appendix One:

The Pay Policy Statement 2015/16

REFERENCE MATERIAL
None
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

Council

8 December 2014

Pay Policy Statement (2014/15)

10 March 2013

Pay Policy Statement (2013/14)

5 March 2013

Pay Policy Statement (2012/13)

1 March 2012

Page 4

Page 5

Page 6

Page 7

Page 8

Page 9

Page 10

Page 11

Page 12

Page 13

Page 14

Page 15

Page 16

Page 17

Page 18

Page 19

Page 20

Page 21

Page 22

Page 23

Page 24

Page 25

Page 26

Page 27

Page 28

Page 29

Page 30

Agenda Item 4
WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET
12 MARCH 2015
SUBJECT

REVENUE MONITORING 2014/15
MONTH 10 (JANUARY 2015)
ALL
ACTING SECTION 151 OFFICER
COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES
YES

WARD/S AFFECTED
REPORT OF
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO HOLDER
KEY DECISION

1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

This report sets out the revenue position for 2014/15, which at Month 10
(January 2015) shows a projected General Fund overspend of £0.77 million
(0.3% of the net revenue budget). This is an improvement of £50,000 on the
Month 9 projected overspend (as shown in Graph 1).

1.2

The Adult Social Services projected overspend has decreased in the month
by £30,000 to £2.74 million and management actions required to contain
budget pressures have reduced by £0.7 million. The overspend is due to
slippage or non-delivery of in year savings and continued demand pressures.
The forecast overspend within Children’s Services has remained the same in
Month 10 as in the previous month at £196,000. The overspend largely
relates to the non-achievement of in year transport savings as well as costs of
external placements. The Families and Wellbeing Directorate has
implemented a number of management actions to help compensate and/or
limit any adverse variances.
Graph 1: Wirral Council – 2014/15 General Fund Variance, by month
2014/15 Projected Outturn £m
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

£m

4.00_

2.00_

0.00_
Month

Page 31
1

10

11

12

2

CHANGES TO THE AGREED BUDGET

2.1

The 2014/15 Budget was agreed by Council on 25 February 2014 and is
detailed in Annex 2; any increase in the Budget has to be agreed by full
Council. Any changes to the budget occurring since it was set will be
summarised in the table below.
Table 1: 2014/15 Original & Revised Net Budget by Directorate £000’s
Original
Net
Budget

Approved
Budget
Changes
Prior Mths

Approved
Budget
Changes
Month 10

Revised
Net
Budget

Chief Executive

10,035

-1419

423

9,039

FWB - Adult Social Services

74,667

-337

-

74,330

FWB – Children &
YP,Schools & Safeguarding

82,877

-3102

11

79,786

FWB - Sport & Recreation
Regeneration & Environment

8,502
95,190

-66
2778

5

8,436
97,973

Transformation & Resources

20,199

-221

-439

19,539

Corporate Growth & Savings

-15,813

2,367

-

-13,446

275,657

0

0

275,657

Net Cost of Services

2.2

Budget changes made in Month 10 relate to the re-allocation of capital
financing impairment charges.

3

PROJECTIONS AND KEY ISSUES

3.1

The outturn position projected as at the end of Month 10, key issues emerging
and Directorate updates are detailed below.
Table 2: 2014/15 Projected Budget variations by Directorate £000’s
Directorates

Revisd
Budget

Chief Executive
FWB - Adult Social Services
FWB – Children & YP,Schools &
Safeguarding
FWB - Sport & Recreation
Regeneration & Environment
Transformation & Resources
Corporate Growth & Savings
TOTAL

Forecast
(Under)
RAGBY Change
Outturn Overspend Classific
from
Month 10
ation
prev
9,039
8,845
-194
B
15
74,330
77,075
2,745
R
-24
79,786
79,982
196
A
-1

8,436
97,973
19,539
-13,446
275,657

8,695
96,498
18,780
-13,446
276,429

259
-1,475
-759
772

A
Y
Y
G

The main report only comments on large variations (Red and Yellow items).
The ‘variations’ analysis over 29 budget areas, distinguishes between
overspends and underspends. The ‘risk band’ classification is:



Extreme: Overspends - Red (over +£301k), Underspend Yellow (over £301k).
Acceptable: Amber (+£141k to +£300k), Green (range from +£140k to £140k); Blue (-£141k to -£300k).

Page 32
2

44
-87
-53

3.2

Directorate Updates
Families and Wellbeing: Adults

3.2.1 A potential overspend of £2.74 million is forecast at Month 10. This is made
up of £2.4 million slippage against current year savings and £0.34 million
demand pressures. The level of management actions required to contain
budget issues has reduced significantly from £3.0 million in Month 9 to £2.3
million due to substantial progress made in relation to Health-funded
packages of care. Following implementation of the new care management
system, financial data has been transferred and an in year reconciliation
between old and new systems undertaken which will provide information to
monitor future progress.
3.2.2 Day Services are likely to only achieve in year £370,000 of the £750,000
2014/15 saving, due to part year impact of implementation, with the balance
slipping into 2015/16. The full saving will be made from 1 April 2015 when the
new service commences.
3.2.3 Targeting support through NHS contracts and targeting Council resources are
large 2014/15 savings options. The review of current cases remains
challenging, however revised processes and tightened procedures are now in
place for all new packages and current packages are being picked up through
the review process.
3.2.4 Demand for Adult Social Care continues to increase and the mix of services
provided to individuals continues to vary as a consequence. These changes
together with the outcome of case reviews impact on the forecasted spend
across care areas. At this stage there remains a £400,000 projected
overspend.
3.2.5 The review of Continuing Health Care Appeals has required liaison. Whilst a
number of hurdles have now been cleared the NHS project includes a lengthy
10 stage process. This is taking longer than initially envisaged delaying the
achievement of the £500,000 saving.
3.2.6 A number of the savings are linked to increased income, the main item being
the income from the domiciliary care block contracts. The £250,000 target is
viewed as achievable but the full target is unlikely to be reached until 2015/16.
3.2.7 Management actions include:



The assessment and review of cases is key and a Business Case is
being prepared about the potential recruitment of additional temporary
support in order to progress the reviews.
For the high cost placements an additional review is being undertaken
by the Head of Service and Director.
A Transformation Group supported by colleagues from other
Directorates monitors progress and has given greater focus to ensure

Page 33
3



that scarce resources are targeted towards achieving the savings.
Review of other Directorate budgets to ascertain if any efficiencies can
be identified to mitigate against the projected overspend being
forecast. This includes the use of the monies set-aside as a result of
the early delivery of savings achieved in 2013/14.

Families and Wellbeing: Children’s
3.2.8 There has been a stabilising of the position within this area with the
overspend remaining at the same level as at month 9. Pressures continue
within the areas of Social Care, in particular the costs of agency staff and
within the transport budget all of which are being closely managed.
3.2.9

As previously reported the savings attributed to changes in the Day Nursery
provision have slipped. This will be compensated for from savings within the
service and use of the early learning reserve.

3.2.10 A number of management actions are being taken with regards to controlling
the overspend, these are 





Restructures across the department are being implemented and are
closely managed to minimise the impact on services and staff, whilst
keeping slippage on savings targets as low as possible.
There is a rolling programme of recruitment to Social Work positions.
Agency costs and placements are reviewed on a monthly basis.
Residential Care placements are by a multi-agency panel and no decision
is made below head of service. Progress and packages of care are
closely monitored by the Head of Service in monthly meetings to ensure
that decisions are implemented and overall costs for children entering and
leaving care are clearly understood.
Budget progress is reported and reviewed monthly at DMT with
opportunities to maximise grant and external funding are constantly
reviewed.

3.2.11 Sport & Recreation: An adverse variance of £259,000 is currently forecast
which is attributable to elements of the transformation programme taking
longer to deliver than was originally anticipated.
3.3

Other Directorate Variances

3.3.1 Chief Executive’s: A potential underspend of £194,000 is currently forecast
as a result of staffing vacancies and anticipated non-utilisation of the
improvement fund for 2014/15.
3.3.2 Regeneration and Environment: This area has a forecast underspend of
£1,475,000. This underspend is due to a number of variations with the largest
being:


£500,000 currently set aside for match funding future grant delivery
programmes will not be used in this financial year due to delays in

Page 34
4





finalising future ERDF & ESF grant programmes.
£300,000 of savings made in advance plus efficiencies within the
Supporting People contract area of Housing & Community Safety.
£250,000 underspend on staffing costs in various areas including nonfilling of posts ahead of implementation of new structures.
£100,000 from areas increasing their income generation forecasts
such as Environment Health from export certificates and Community
Safety from community patrol work.

The Floral Pavilion budget position remains challenging (the Budget 2015/16
includes increased investment). The overall Directorate forecast however
remains an underspend position.
3.3.3 Transformation & Resources: An underspend of £759,000 is currently
forecast for the directorate. The main reason being a predicted reduction in
revenue funding costs following the review and re-profiling of the 2014/15
Capital Programme, plus savings on directorate staffing and running costs
within business processes. The increased saving in Month 10 reflects full year
savings arising from the merged Coroner service and further capital
programme financing costs.
3.3.4 For libraries and One Stop Shops a saving of £466,000 was predicated upon
revised opening hours, introducing lone working with support from volunteers
and / or agile workers. These measures have yet to be introduced, but
compensatory savings, primarily from vacant posts have been found in the
year. Cabinet and Council in December agreed further proposals for future
service provision and the undelivered savings will be implemented alongside
these from March 2015.
3.3.5 Corporate Wide Budgets: A number of high value corporate-wide savings
options, because of their size and complexity, are currently classed as red or
amber. These include savings from Corporate Commissioning where
mitigation has been identified. Given their strategic importance these projects
are being very closely monitored and will be further reported upon during the
year.
3.3.6 The Remodelling saving for 2014/15 remains rated as amber. The £9.4 million
savings remodelling target was originally scheduled to deliver over two years £4.9 million in 2014/15 and £4.5 million in 2015/16. As reported in previous
monitors implementation has been re-profiled allowing for consultation
proposals and subsequent feedback to be fully resolved. It is anticipated that
£1.9 million of savings will be delivered in year with any in year shortfall
funded from the Remodelling Reserve. The full year effect of the remodelling
changes will deliver the £9.4 million in 2015/16.

Page 35
5

Table 3: Directorate Business Area Projected Budget variations
Chief
Exec
Red Overspend
Yellow Underspend

FWB
0
0

Rege &
Trans &
Environ
Res
3
0
0
2
3
1

Total
3
6

The full Table is set out at Annex 3
3.4

Directorate budgets are further sub-divided into a number of business areas.
Three business areas are currently flagged as red rated.

3.4.1 Delivery within Families and Wellbeing (Adult Social Services). This relates
mainly to the delivery of some 2014/15 savings for which management
actions are as outlined earlier in the report.
3.4.2 Integrated Transport Unit within Families and Wellbeing (Children’s). Overall
against the £556,000 target for both the Children’s (£306,000) and Adults
(£250.000) provision there is £90,000 shown as being achieved. There is
£104,000 of travel grant monies brought forward that will help to offset the
savings target leaving a potential shortfall of £362,000. The overspend is also
attributable to the Depot savings target of £100,000 which has only been
partially met by the relocation of the Reeds Lane Depot and the lease of the
Salt Barn.
3.4.3 Specialist Services within Families and Wellbeing (Children’s). The main
reasons for the projected overspend remains to be in relation to the cost of
agency staff (currently 39 in Fieldwork) exceeding the established employee
budget however there are contributions from reserves helping to reduce the
impact. The forecast for Residential placements exceeds the available
budget by £0.6 million with 43 in residential and 16 in semi-independent
placements compared to 45 and 34 at the start of the financial year
respectively. Fostering is £0.6 million over budget with 37 in non-local
authority placements compared to 34 at the start of the year.
Six business areas are currently flagged as yellow rated.
3.4.4 Targeted Services within Families and Wellbeing (Children’s). There are
reduced budgetary pressures within Youth & Play and, although New Brighton
Day Nursery has transferred, the remaining 5 nurseries are subject to ongoing
discussions. The additional costs to the end of March have been offset by a
reserve and vacancies.
3.4.5 Universal Services within Families and Wellbeing (Children’s) - Vacant posts
within Admin contribute largely towards the under spend together with a
projected £150,000 under spend against the redundancy/severance budget
relating to teachers.

Page 36
6

3.4.6 Resources within Transformation & Resources. Increased Treasury
Management savings have been generated from the review and re-profiling of
the Capital Programme and from the continuing use of internal resources to
temporarily fund spend. There is a consequential reduction in investment
income but this is outweighed by a greater saving on borrowing costs with the
net saving being approximately £410,000. There are also some underspends
within salary budgets and running costs within business processes.
3.4.7 Housing & Community Safety within Regeneration and Environment. The
proposed 2015/16 budget saving option for Supported Housing is £150,000
which will be generated from efficiency savings in contract negotiations.
These efficiencies have already been negotiated and therefore are reflected in
the 2014/15 forecast. There are also further savings (£150,000) from one off
in-year variations in contract use. Other smaller savings are from the reduced
requirement for repairs & maintenance of alley gates and from vacancies
across the service area.
3.4.8 Environment & Regulation within Regeneration and Environment. There are
currently a number of vacancies in the Parks & Countryside, Traffic and
Transport (school crossing patrols) and Waste & Environment Service Areas.
There are also budget savings on the wheelie bin replacement budget lines
due to the innovative use of the spare parts of discarded bins being used to
limit purchase of replacement bins. These underspends have now been
offset by the Cabinet approval to postpone £85,000 of street lighting budget
savings and the approval for the free after 3pm car parking initiative over the
Christmas period.
3.4.9 Investment Strategy & Business Support within Regeneration and
Environment. Employee costs within the Invest Wirral team are currently
being subsidised by ERDF grants, as part of their delivery of the Council’s
grant funded Business Support programme. This is time limited funding but
does enable this service area to declare an underspend of approximately
£100,000 in 2014/15. There is also £100,000 of savings from employee costs
due to delays in establishing the new Economic Development unit approved
as part of the 2014/15 budget. Budgets of £500,000, currently set aside for
match funding future grant delivery programmes, will not be used in this
financial year due to delays in finalising future ERDF & ESF grant
programmes.
4

IMPLEMENTATION OF SAVINGS

4.1

The delivery of the agreed savings is key to the Council’s financial health and
is tracked at both Council and Directorate level. The assumption is that,
where there is slippage, the Strategic Director will implement replacement
savings.

Page 37
7

Table 4: Budget Implementation Plan 2014/15 whole Council (£000’s)
BRAG

B - delivered
G – on track
A - concerns
R - high risk/

Number Dec Change
Approved
Amount To be
of
2014 from prev Budget
Delivered Delivered
Options
mnth
Reduction at Jan
50
49
1
11,032
11,032
0
24
24
0
5,130
2,265
2,815
21
22
-1
13,008
3,261
9,086
not achieved
9
9
0
7,089
1,318
1,128

P – mitigation achieved
Total at M10 Jan 15
Total at M9 Dec 14

0
104
104

0

0

0
36,259
36,259

5,354
23,230
23,079

0
13,029
13,180

Note: For 2014/15 the red rating definition has been amended from that used
in 2013/14. Red is now classed as high risk or not achieved (in 2013/14 it was
defined as failed)
4.2

A number of savings options are currently red rated. The 2014/15 red rating
definition has been broadened from that used in 2013/14 to now include high
risk rather than only failed options.

4.3

The mitigation achieved (purple) category is used to show mitigating actions
taken against savings that have failed or partially failed within 2014/15. This
reflects adjustments including a review of corporate growth assumptions and
mitigation against the Corporate Commissioning targets.

4.4

The savings tracker contains an assessment of the 2014/15 savings
programme. This shows £7.1 million of savings assessed as red (defined as
high risk or not achieved) with a further £13 million of options rated at amber
(concerns). Please note that a red rating does not mean that savings will not
be delivered, but that there is a risk to full delivery in the year. Savings of
£4.6 million have been delivered so far in year relating to options currently
rated red or amber. In addition mitigation has further reduced the amount
outstanding required to meet the overall £36 million savings target.

4.5

The ratings are a result of robust assessment of progress to date against the
original proposed budget options and identification of in year slippage against
targets. Red rated options include a number relating to Adult Social Services,
transport, Floral Pavilion, the library budget, not yet implemented. The
corporate commissioning and procurement savings are still to be identified.
However mitigation is in place and being developed as set out below.

4.6

A number of identified mitigating actions are in place to assist the Corporate
savings delivery and reduce the risks to the budget. These include
continuation of the spending freeze, vacancy management, the voluntary
redundancy offer, reviewing growth allocations and identification and control
of other underspending directorate budgets.

4.7

The impact of the above measures combined with the projections for the
overall budget position reduces the forecast overspend to £0.77 million.
Projections are updated monthly and further mitigating measures are being

Page 38
8

identified to cover any potential overspend.
5

GROWTH

5.1

An allowance for the impact of demographic changes, inflation and other risks
- that is outcomes that could be worse than assumed - was built into the
budget 2014/15 as detailed at Annex 4. The assumptions which totalled £9.2
million were subject to review resulting in a reduction of £0.9 million as
reported in the Month 2 monitor. Both the Budget (at Month 7) and Annex 4
has been adjusted to reflect this. These reductions have contributed to
mitigating savings held within the Corporate Growth and Savings area.

6

INCOME AND DEBT

6.1

Revenue and Income falls into the four broad areas shown below for reporting
purposes:
Table 5: Amount to be collected in 2014/15
2014-15
Collectable
£000
Council Tax
137,413
Business Rates
71,317
Fees and charges – Adults & Children
39,264
Fees and charges – all other services
34,385
Note: fees and charges income includes receipts for
April 2014

2014-15
Collected
%
£000
125,523 91.4%
63,220 88.7%
30,118 76.7%
36,232 104.1%
invoices raised pre 1

COUNCIL TAX
6.2

The Council Tax collection after ten months of the year is comparable with the
equivalent 2013/14 collection rate. No significant changes to Council Tax
apart from the amendment to the Pensioner Discount scheme were
implemented for 2014/15. This is now the second year of Local Council Tax
Support scheme.

6.3

Recovery from non-Council Tax Support recipient debtors is continuing.
Action taken to recover from those of Working Age that previously received
Council Tax Benefit is on-going. Repayment plans offering weekly/fortnightly
instalments were offered to those contacting the Council. Where possible
attempts to collect by Attachment of Earnings and Benefits will be prioritised
however inevitably in some cases this will not be possible and alternative
methods including Bailiffs will need to be utilised.

6.4

An exercise is currently underway, utilising an external supplier chosen by
tender, to check the Single Person Discounts awarded (25%). In excess of
31,000 out of 55,640 discount awards are being checked. Council Tax
Support recipients are excluded from this exercise. The incumbent firm,
Capacity Grid, estimates that between 4-6% of the discount will be cancelled

Page 39
9

and the full 100% charge re-instated. The 2015/16 Council Tax Base includes
a £300,000 increase in Council Tax receipts to reflect this exercise which
ensures that Wirral Council taxpayers are not subsiding falsely claimed
discounts.
6.5

Capacity Grid has access to records such as credit checks and other financial
details not available to the Council. They have contacted the relevant council
taxpayers on the Council’s behalf whereby discrepancies are apparent and
are amending the records on the basis of supplied information or failure to
reply. 295 accounts have had their discount removed and the full charge reinstated.
BUSINESS RATES

6.6

Following changes introduced by central government, businesses can now
have the option to pay Business Rates over 12 monthly instalments.
Previously payment options had been over 10 instalments. Income collection
to the end of January was 88.7%. This was lower than the 94.2% collected at
the equivalent period in 2013/14 and is in line with reported drop in collection
for similar authorities who are on average 4.5% down on the previous year.
DEBTORS

6.7

On-going work has continued on collection and to resolve outstanding debts
and currently there is a balance outstanding of £22,997,451 compared to last
year which at the end of January 2014 was £22,331,306

6.8

There has been an increase in the level of debt outstanding compared to the
December 2014 figure of £19,336,872. This is a timing issue and follows the
raising of invoices in January relating to Adult Social Services for home
support and residential care. The income is being received during February.

7

RELEVANT RISKS

7.1

The possible failure to deliver the Revenue Budget is being mitigated by:







Tracking system of savings options to ensure delivery.
Budget Tracker Officer Group / CESG review savings progress.
Future Council Project Governance arrangements.
Benefits Realisation Group monitoring the delivery of future savings and
delivery of the key change projects.
Monthly review by Chief Officers and Cabinet, together with an improved
Scrutiny regime and greater transparency.
Individual monthly review by Cabinet Portfolio holder at portfolio meeting.

8

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1

Any option to improve the monitoring and budget accuracy will be considered.

Page 40
10

9

CONSULTATION

9.1

No consultation has been carried out in relation to this report.

10

OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS

10.1

There is an ongoing requirement to identify during the financial year
necessary actions to mitigate any forecast overspend.

11

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

11.1

As yet there are no implications for voluntary, community or faith groups.

12

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL, IT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

12.1

Cabinet 12 February 2014 agreed a 2014/15 General Fund balance risk
calculation of a minimum of £17.3 million. As part of the budget process for
2015/16 the level of risk was reassessed and resulted in a similar figure being
required. The level is kept under review during the year to reflect changing
circumstances and any in year developments.
Table 6: Summary of the projected General Fund balances
Details
Balance 31 March 2015 when setting the Budget 2014/15
Less: Potential overspend, at Month 10
Add: Additional New Homes Bonus
Projected balance 31 March 2015

£m
+17.3
-0.8
+0.2
+16.7

12.2 Earmarked Reserves excluding School balances totalled £66.1 million at 1
April. These include reserves relating to the cost of Council remodelling,
mitigation and specific project support and ongoing financial risks. Earmarked
reserves are reviewed during the year and this review was included within the
Revenue Budget 2015/18 report to Cabinet on 10 February 2015.
13

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

13.1

The entire report concerns the duty of the Council to avoid a budget shortfall.
The Chief Finance Officer has a personal duty under the Local Government
Finance Act 1988 section 114A to make a report to the executive if it appears
to them that the expenditure of the authority incurred (including expenditure it
proposes to incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources
(including sums borrowed) available to it to meet that expenditure.

14

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

14.1

This report is essentially a monitoring report which reports on financial
performance. Any budgetary decisions, of which there are none in this report,
would need to be assessed for any equality implications.

Page 41
11

15

CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

15.1

There are no implications arising directly from this report.

16

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

16.1

There are no implications arising directly from this report.

17

RECOMMENDATIONS

17.1

Cabinet is asked to note that at Month 10 (January 2015), the full year
forecast projects a General Fund overspend of £772,000.

17.2

Cabinet is asked to note the changes in budget allocations relating to the reallocation of the capital financing impairment charges (as outlined in
paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2) which does not impact on the General Fund position.

17.3

Cabinet is asked to note the risks relating to non-delivery of savings as
detailed within the report and the continued requirement for mitigation and
actions to be identified.

18

REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS

18.1

The Council, having set a Budget at the start of the financial year, needs to
ensure that the delivery of this Budget is achieved. This has to be within the
allocated and available resources to ensure the ongoing financial stability of
the Council. Consequently there is a requirement to regularly monitor
progress so that corrective action can be taken when required which is
enhanced with the monthly reporting of the financial position.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Peter Molyneux
Senior Manager
Telephone (0151) 666 3389
Email
petemolyneux@wirral.gov.uk

ANNEXES
Annex 1
Annex 2
Annex 3
Annex 4
Annex 5

Revenue Monitoring and Reporting Timetable 2014/15.
General Fund Revenue Budget for 2014/15 agreed by Council.
Monitoring RAGBY Full Details
Growth and Risk
Income and Debt

SUBJECT HISTORY
Council Meeting
Date
Since September 2012, a monthly Revenue monitoring
report has been submitted to Cabinet.
Budget Council
25 February 2014

Page 42
12

ANNEX 1
REVENUE MONITORING AND REPORTING TIMETABLE 2014/15
Period
Number

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

Month

April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December
January
February
Outturn
(Provisional)

General Ledger
Updated and
Reports
Available To
Be Produced
N/A
Jun 6
July 7
Aug 7
Sep 5
Oct 7
Nov 7
Dec 5
Jan 8
Feb 6
Mar 6
TBC

Reports
Available For
The Executive
Strategy Group

Reports
Available
For Cabinet

Monthly
N/A
Jun 17
Aug 26
Aug 26
Sep 22
Oct 20
Nov 20
Dec 19
Jan 19
Feb 23
TBC
TBC

Monthly
N/A
Jul 7
Sep 11
Sep 11
Oct 9
Nov 6
Dec 9
Jan 15
Feb 10
Mar 12
TBC
TBC

Page
43
13

ANNEX 2
GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2014/15
AGREED BY COUNCIL ON 25 FEBRUARY 2014
Directorate/Service Area

Original
Budget
£000

Expenditure
Chief Executives
Families and Wellbeing
Children and Young People, Schools
and Safeguarding
- Adult Social Services
- Sports and Recreation
Regeneration and Environment
Transformation and Resources
Net Cost of Services
Corporate Growth
Corporate Savings
Budget Requirement
Income
Local Services Support Grant
New Homes Bonus
Revenue Support Grant
Business Rates Baseline
Top Up
Council Tax Requirement
Council Tax Freeze Grant
Contribution from G Fund Balances
Total Income

10,035

Variances

Revised
Budget
£000

£000

82,877

-1,419
-3,102

79,775

74,667
8,502
95,190
20,199
291,470
1,016
-16,829
275,657

-337
-66
2,778
-221
-2,367
-310
2,677
-

74,330
8,436
97,968
19,978
289,103
706
-14,152
275,657

1,768
87,492
32,036
40,513
112,214
1,334
300
275,657

-

1,768
87,492
32,036
40,513
112,214
1,334
300
275,657

Statement of Balances
As at 1 April 2014
Contributions from Balances

17,300
-300

-

17,300
-300

Forecast Balances 31 March 2015

17,000

-

17,000

Note: This table will be updated for agreed variances during the year

Page
14 44

8,616

ANNEX 3
MONITORING FULL DETAILS
RAGBY REPORTING AND OTHER ISSUES
The Red and Yellow RAGBY issues that are the subject of corporate focus are detailed
in the following sections by Business Areas within Directorates.

Department
Chief Executive's
Adult Social Services
Children & Young People, & Schools
Safeguarding
Sports & Rec
Regeneration & Environment
Transformation & Resources
Corporate Growth & Savings
Total

Number of
Budget
Areas
6
2
5
1
1
5
7
2
29

Red
0
1
2
0
0
0
0
0
3

Amber Green
0
5
0
1
0
1
0
1
1
0
1
1
0
6
0
2
2
17

Business Area Reds
Chief
Exec
Red Overspend
Value £000s

People
0

3
4,256

Places

Trans
& Res

0

Total
0

3
4,256

Business Area Yellows
Chief
Exec
Yellow underspend
Value £000s

People
0

2
1,425

Places

Trans
& Res

3
1,655

Page
45
15

1
635

Total
6
3,715

Blue
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1

Yellow
0
0
2
0
0
3
1
0
6

ANNEX 4
GROWTH AND RISK
DIRECTORATE
FAMILIES
Demographic Growth

Other Growth
Inflation

REGENERATION
Demographic Growth
Other Growth

Inflation

2014/15
£000

OPTION TITLE

Childrens - Special Guardianship & Adoption numbers
Adults - Demand (Young Adults with Learning Disabilities)
Adults - Increased demand Older People (Adj)
Adults - Ordinary Residence (Adj)
Assets - Leasowe Millennium Centre (Adj)
Childrens - Youth and Play Services - refocus provision(Adj)
Childrens - Fostering & Adoption Allowances
Childrens - PFI Affordability Gap
Childrens - Teacher Retirement Costs
Childrens - Transport Contracts
Childrens - Energy and CRC Allowances
Adults - Contract inflation (Adj)

4,115
240
926
1,039
300
0
0
200
190
80
80
310
750

Temporary Accommodation Budget
Car Parking Operations Income
Increase to green waste processing gate fee
Economic Strategy Unit (Adj)
New System for administering Resident Parking
Parking Income due to end of income agreement
Biffa Property Uplift
Selective Licensing of Landlords (Adj)
Homelessness Prevention Grant
Highway Services Contract
Contract for Parking Enforcement Services
Urban Traffic Control Systems
Biffa Contract Inflation

1,506
50
350
65
100
40
68
13
178
221
48
10
20
343

TRANSFORMATION
Other Growth
Graduate Trainee Programme (Adj)
Savings Profiling including Business Rates
Council Tax Summonses
Council Tax Support Scheme: Uprating
IT Support
Benefit Advice Services
TOTAL GROWTH

2,685
0
900
1,300
265
120
100
8,306

The table reflects the outcome of the review of growth and assumptions which was
undertaken and which was reported in the Month 2 monitor.

Page
16 46

ANNEX 5
INCOME AND DEBT
The following shows the collection progress for Council Tax, Business Rates, Accounts
Receivable and Benefits
COUNCIL TAX
The following statement compares the amount collected for Council Tax in the
period 1 April 2014 to 31 January 2015 with the amount collected in the same
period in 2013/14:
Actual
2014/15
£000s
137,413
125,523
91.4%

Cash to Collect
Cash Collected
% Collected

Actual
2013/14
£000s
135,524
123,929
91.4%

Council Tax benefits were abolished at the end of 2012/13 and replaced by Council
Tax Support £27.44 million is currently in payment and the numbers and awards as at
31 January 2015 are as follows:
Number of pensioners
Number of vulnerable (working age)
Number of working age
Number of Council Tax Support recipients

15,488
8,614
12,680
36,782

Council Tax Support claimants have dropped from 37,932 to 36,782 (1,150) since the
beginning of the financial year.
Council Tax Discretionary Policy as at 31 January 2015
38 awards granted totalling £6,718
282 refused reason, requesting payment of 22% after maximum Council Tax Support
granted.
9 cases reason, moved to 100% CTS from 78%,
8 cases reason, other/misc.
0 cases outstanding.

Page
47
17

BUSINESS RATES
The following statement compares the amount collected for National Non-Domestic
Rates for the period 1 April 2014 to 31 January 2015 with the amount collected for the
same period in 2013/14:
Actual
Actual
2014/15
2013/14
£000
£000
Cash to Collect
71,317
69,649
Cash Collected
63,220
65,637
% Collected
88.7%
94.2%
* 12 instalments introduced and adopted by at least 25% of accounts
Accounts Receivable
The table below shows the directorates and amount of debt at each recovery stage:
Directorate
Description
Chief Executive
Neighbourhood
Transformation &
Resources
Families &
Wellbeing
Regeneration &
Environment
Policy &
Performance
Totals

Less than 10 days

1st reminder

2nd reminder

3rd reminder

Total at
31.01.15

£58,458

£67,653

£7,993

£695,136

£829,240

£8,025

£1,681

£462

£13,308

£23,476

£2,011,106

£114,035

£173,293

£1,109,375

£3,407,809

£5,069,301

£2,730,635

£186,596

£9,394,434

£17,380,966

£363,337

£87,811

£109,406

£655,256

£1,215,810

£26,111

£95,089

£0

£18,950

£140,150

£7,536,338

£3,096,904

£477,750

£11,886,459

£22,997,451

The above figures are for invoices in respect of the period up to the end of January
2015. Payments as well as amendments such as write-offs and debt cancellations
continue to be made after this date on all these accounts. There is a further
deduction of £394,159 to be made for unallocated payments at month end leaving a
balance of £22,603,292.
There has been an increase in the level of debt outstanding compared to the
December 2014 figure of £19,336,872. This is within Families & Wellbeing which has
risen by £3 million. It is a timing issue and follows the raising of invoices in January
relating to Adult Social Services for home support and residential care. The income is
being received during February.

Page
18 48

BENEFITS
The following statement details the number of claimants in respect of benefit and the
expenditure for Private Tenants and those in receipt of Council Tax Support up to 31
January 2015:
2014/15
2013/14
Number of Private Tenant recipients
Total rent allowance expenditure
Number under the Local Housing Allowance
Scheme (included in the above)
Number of Council Tax Support recipients
Total Council Tax Support expenditure
Total expenditure on benefit to date

31,504
£116,923,549

32,146

11,980
£47,999,806

12,366

36,782
£27,444,847
£144,368,396

38,046

The following statement provides information concerning the breakdown according to
client type as at 31 January 2015 and gives the early year numbers to show the shift in
sector by benefit claimants during the year.

Claimants in the Private Rented Sector
Claimants in the Social Rented Sector
Owner Occupiers
Total claimants by age group
under 25 years old
25 – 60 years old
over 60 years old

31.01.15

30.4.14

14,142
17,331
10,103

14,531
16,906
10,118

2,305
22,179
17,092

2,504
21,730
17,321

There are 41,576 benefit recipients in Wirral as at 31 January 2015.
Under Occupancy regulations
From 1 April 2013 property size criteria was introduced to working age tenants of social
landlords (Registered Providers). Where a claimant is deemed to be occupying
accommodation larger than they reasonably require Housing Benefit is restricted:


By 14% in 2,665 cases
By 25% in 632 cases

The number of claims affected does fluctuate. The numbers above are a snapshot at
31 January 2015

Page
49
19

Housing Benefit Fraud and Enquiries – 1 April 2014 to 31 January 2015
New Cases referred to Fraud team in period
Successful Prosecution/Administration penalty/caution

1027
56

Tenancy Fraud

3

Discretionary Housing Payments
The table below profiles the position of Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP)
administration and associated spend. DHP is not a payment of Housing Benefit and is
funded separately from the main scheme. Since the introduction of Welfare Reform
and associated impacts, additional funding has been made available.
The Government contribution for 2014/15 is £995,795 with an overall limit of
£2,489,487 which the Authority must not exceed. The difference must come from the
Authority’s own Expenditure. The projected spend to year-end is £1.06 million (106% of
the Government Grant which compares to 71% at the end January 2014)
57% of awards made are in respect of social sector tenant/claimants whose housing
benefit has been reduced on the basis of accommodation size. Whilst the variant is
considerable at this point in 2013/14, spend did increase to 95% at year end. To meet
the requirement above the available Government Grant Cabinet on 10 February 2015
agreed to support the scheme with an LA contribution of £70,000 from the Council Tax
Discretionary Hardship Relief fund. .This additional sum allows new/repeat claims to be
considered but only those facing the greatest difficulties and risk of hardship, with no
other means of assistance are in reality likely to secure an award. It is hoped, that on
this basis, the fund will be able support a small number of applicants between now and
year end.
Claims Considered
Month

DHP
Awards in
Payment

Current
Awards

%
spent
(committe
d)of total
fund

Total
consid
ered

Awarded

Refused

April

259

203

56

248

£93,371

10%

May

464

361

103

816

£181,503

35%

June

501

358

143

1370

£307,503

57%

July

401

235

166

1777

£503,465

74%

August

248

124

124

1953

£600,280

81%

September

203

96

107

2073

£689,039

83%

October

255

132

123

2238

£779,946

87%

November

235

145

90

2418

£870,520

92%

December

156

92

64

2557

£948,694

98%

January

154

102

52

2635

£975,168

103%

Totals

2617

1589

1028

Page
20 50

Local Welfare Assistance
The Local Welfare Assistance Support Scheme (LWA), supported by a £1,345,925
Government Grant, gives assistance to those in immediate crisis or need through the
provision of pre-payment cards for food and fuel and direct provision of white goods.
The number of applications continues to rise on a week by week basis. The present
rate of focused spend now does suggest a year end underspend.
LWA details for period from 07 April 2014 to 31 January 2015:
Number of awards granted for food
Number of awards granted for fuel
Number of awards granted for goods

2,267
3,003
5,631

value
value
value

£107,271
£ 48,906
£598,033

Total number of awards made

10,901

value

£754,210

This direct grant will end on 31 March 2015. Cabinet on 10 February 2015
recommended to Council that as the Council has £600,000 held in a Reserve from the
unspent 2013/14 Grant, and the projections for 2014/15 indicate a potential
underspend of £300,000 this be added to the Reserve. This provides a fund of
£900,000 and the existing scheme will continue to July 2015. In the interim a Scrutiny
review Group will recommend how the balance in this fund should be allocated.t

Page
51
21

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET
12 MARCH 2015
SUBJECT

CAPITAL MONITORING 2014/15
MONTH 10 (JANUARY 2015)
ALL
ACTING SECTION 151 OFFICER
COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES
YES

WARD/S AFFECTED
REPORT OF
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO HOLDER
KEY DECISION
1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report sets out the capital position for 2014/15 at Month 10 (January 2015).
2

OVERALL POSITION AT PERIOD 10 (JANUARY 2015)

2.1 The actual spend against the Capital Programme is summarised in Table 1. A
number of variances have been identified which impact upon the forecast outturn
and these are highlighted in Table 2. The report provides information on the
progress in delivering the 2014/15 Capital Programme and the sources of
financing.
Chart 1: Capital Programme spend below line of best fit

£m

Capital Programme 2014/15
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

Revised Programme

P0

P1

P2

P3

P4

P5

P6

P7

P8

P9

Actual spend

P10 P11 P12

Months

3

ORIGINAL AND PROPOSED CAPITAL PROGRAMME FOR 2014/15

3.1 The Programme for 2014/15 is subject to change. Month 10 reflects the Programme
agreed by Cabinet on 12 February 2014 together with subsequent amendments.
Broadly these reflect the re-profiling from 2013/14 as referred to in the Capital
Outturn report, more up to date information regarding external financial support,
primarily latest grant notifications, the outcome of a half year review to update the
forecast spend profile and information subsequently available in January.

Page 53

3.2 To aid the monitoring process, greater use is being made of the Concerto
Performance Management System for each scheme. This shows how schemes in
the Capital Programme are progressing. Annex 1 contains information about which
stage in the gateway process schemes have reached. The 5 gates currently in use
are: Conception, Approval, Start Up, Delivery and Completion.
Table 1: Capital Programme 2014/15 at Period 10 (January) £000’s
Capital
Strategy
Universal & Infrastructure
Families & Wellbeing –
Children
Families & Wellbeing –
Adults
Families & Wellbeing –
Sport & Recreation
Regeneration & Env–
Env & Regulation
Regeneration & Env –
Hsg & Comm Safety
Regeneration & Env –
Regeneration
Public Health
Transformation &
Resources
Total expenditure

Changes
Changes
Revised
Actual
Capital
approved
not yet
Spend
by Cabinet approved/ Programme Jan 2015
noted
5,827
-2,490
-190
3,147
2,727
10,998
-688
-2,150
8,160
6,822
3,611

-38

-950

2,623

1,140

1,000

1,157

0

2,157

833

8,006

2,250

-529

9,727

4,753

5,707

-1,684

34

4,057

2,139

5,744

3,389

-2,000

7,133

4,704

401
4,000

-401
-1,500

0
0

0
2,500

0
2,700

45,294

-5

-5,785

39,504

25,818

Universal and Infrastructure Services
3.3 The roofing scheme at West Kirby Concourse is 100% complete, cost £354,000.
3.4 Electrical infrastructure works are complete and the general refurbishment and
decoration to the final wing of Cheshire Lines is 80% complete. The toilet
refurbishment programme has commenced and will be complete within 12 weeks.
3.5 Works to Birkenhead Town Hall are complete and Acre Lane staff now relocated.
3.6 It is anticipated to have Wallasey Town Hall South Annexe vacated by early May to
allow the asbestos removal scheme to commence late that month (lowest tender
£130,580). Upon completion the main refurbishment will commence.
3.7 Cleveland Street Transport Depot, works are underway refurbishing existing
buildings to allow a phased move from various parks depots that will reduce
revenue implications and/or produce a capital receipt.

Page 54

3.8 Work in respect of a New Salt Barn facility at the Cleveland Street site is complete.
3.9 Construction of the new build for Arrowe Park changing pavilion has been
completed.
3.10 Stanley School demolition has been completed with the final account around
£92,000 (lower than previously reported). Work to the playing field cannot be
completed until April/May 2015.
3.11 Planning permission has been granted for the demolition of Rock Ferry High School
but Secretary of State Approval and the outcome of public consultation is awaited
before proceeding to tender. Approval is also awaited before the demolition of
former Foxfield facility can commence.
3.12 The demolition of Moreton Adult Unit and Fernleigh has been completed.
3.13 The Solar Photovoltaic scheme commenced in January 2015 and will now complete
early in 2015/16.
Children and Young People
3.14 Large school projects (over £500,000) are progressing well. The last phase of the
Somerville Primary School project to remove poor quality mobile accommodation
will be handed over in February with final demolition and ground works scheduled
for Easter. Hoylake Holy Trinity School final phase will be completed in March.
.
3.15 Projects at Elleray Park (£1.2 million) and Woodlsee Primary (£550,000) will start
on site mid-February. Other new start projects anticipated in the next couple of
months are: Fender Primary to create 2 additional classrooms and remodelling
(£600,000), Thingwall Primary remodelling and removal of mobile accommodation
(£300,000), isolation of retained Stanley School staffroom/offices and creation of
sports pitch (£275,000).
3.16 Advanced design work at a number of schools identified in last year’s Capital
programme are reaching their final stages; detailed drawings, costing, delivery
mechanisms and procurement will then follow.
3.17 The new Foxfield Special School built under the Governments Priority School
Building Programme (1) will open to pupils on March 2.
3.18 Regarding the other two schools in the Priority School Building Programme (1) Bedford Drive will commence on site during summer 2015 with completion
anticipated August 2016; Ridgeway High School will commence on site summer
2016 with completion in August 2017. The Council’s recent bid for 3 projects in the
Priority School Building Programme (2) round was unfortunately unsuccessful;
these schemes will be considered for alternative capital funding.

Page 55

3.19 Regarding the Youth Zone, legal documentation has been drafted between OnSide
Youth Zones and Hill Dickenson and competitive tendering undertaken for the
building works. A formal planning application is expected in April. To date 66% of
the overall funding (£6 million) has been secured with OnSide hoping to secure the
rest by July. The facility should be open by early 2017 so the Council’s contribution
is now likely to be phased over 2015/16 and 2016/17.
3.20 Three year Capital allocations for schools have recently been announced to
address school condition requirements and basic need (pupil places). The three
year allocation will improve planning and delivery of schemes over the period. A
Programme will be drawn up for Member approval based upon condition survey
outcomes in schools, pupil place forecasts and suitability needs of schools. The
allocations will be reflected in the 2015/6 and 2016/17 Programme following
Ciouncil
Allocation
Basic Need
School Condition
Maintained
Aided
Devolved Formula Capital
Maintained
Aided

2015/16
£000
1,347

2016/17
£000
1,414

2017/18
£000
831

2,794
1,097

2,794
1,097

2,794
1,097

646
229

Adults
3.21 The Integrated I.T. scheme (Liquidlogic) went live during September 2014.
3.22 Next phase of the Liquidlogic project will see the procurement and implementation
of the additional modules relating to the citizen and provider portals. Implementation
will support the delivery of some Care Act duties from April 2015.
3.23 Transformation of Day Services is ongoing.
Plans for the local authority
implementation have been delayed slightly resulting in some of the capital works
also being delayed until next year.
Sport and Recreation
3.24 All projects are now underway at Guinea Gap with completion now set for 20
February. The first phase of work at West Kirby is complete with the next phase to
be completed by December 2015.
3.25 The work on the 3G football pitches at Guinea Gap commenced on 30 July and was
completed in early January and the pitches are being well used by local groups.

Page 56

Environment and Regulation
3.26 Major highway improvement works to provide improved and safer facilities for
pedestrians and cyclists were completed at the junction of the A41 and Bolton Road
in Port Sunlight. The main site works finished in July 2014, three weeks ahead of
the planned construction programme. The total cost of £590,000 was funded from
active travel, road safety, congestion and maintenance budgets.
3.27 A new mini-roundabout has been completed at the junction of Shrewsbury Road
and Gerald Road in Oxton. The £60,000 scheme is designed to reduce accidents at
a dangerous junction and has been funded from the road safety block.
3.28 A package of schemes totalling some £380,000 is under-way on the A41 in
Bromborough to provide off-road cycle facilities on one of Wirral’s key commuter
routes, funded from the local sustainable transport fund (LSTF) and active travel
budgets. The work is being carried out under the Council’s new Highway Services
contract with BAM Nuttall Ltd, and is scheduled for completion before April 2015.
Housing & Community Safety
3.29 Disabled Facilities Grants continue to be approved and the spend committed but
the incurring of this spend is determined by the grant applicants which means that
there will invariably be works approved that will not be completed during the year.
3.30 For the New House-Building Programme, the Council is using the Homes and
Community Agency new Affordable Homes Programme as the basis for developing
the programme of works. Processes such as defining the criteria, legal obligations
for grant funding, site acquisition and planning approval need to be completed
before scheme commencement.
Regeneration
3.31 The Regional Growth Fund grant supports investment into the offshore renewable
energy sector. Applications have been approved up to the grant allocation but
companies are only paid upon defrayment of supported expenditure. This grant has
to be paid by May 2015 so an element of spend will slip into 2015/16.
3.32 The Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) has secured a total of
£15 million from the Government’s Regional Growth Fund (RGF) for a Business
Growth Grant programme. From this allocation Wirral has to date, secured £3
million with grants payable upon defrayment and having to be paid by May 2015 so
an element of this spend will slip into 2015/16.
3.33 The contract for New Brighton, primarily for infrastructure developments, started in
September and is to be completed by March 2015.

Page 57

Transformation & Resources
3.34 The substantial programme of investment into Information Technology is underway.
This includes investment in both hardware and software with the new equipment
having been piloted and is being ‘rolled-out’ across the Council from September.
Further developments include elements to support the delivery of the Future
Council project and upgrading the ORACLE financial system which is likely to occur
in 2015/16.
Table 2: Variations to the 2014/15 programme £000’s
Amount Explanation
(A) Policy
(B) Items previously deferred
(C) Funding
(D) Re-profiling
(E) Reduced requirement
£000
Universal &
-190 Solar PV scheme commenced January and now
Infrastructure
committed into next year (D)
CYP

-50 Elleray Park - scheme now planned to start in
February (D).
-100 Family Support Scheme - completion of the
second scheme now expected April 2015 (D).
-2,000 Wirral Youth Zone - 66% of the joint funding has
been secured, the balance hoped for by July.
Building work will only commence then (D).

DASS

-450 Citizen and provider portal - implementation now
expected in 2015/16 (D).
-500 Transformation of Day Service - implementation
partly delayed (D).

Environment &
Regulation

-188 Bridges - awaiting response from Network Rail
re bridge strengthening proposal (D).
-100 BAM Nuttall cannot deliver the work on Bidston
Bypass West Bridge until 2015/16 (D).
-67 Vehicle replacement - outstanding purchases to
be completed when beach patrol transfers to
RNLI (D).

Regeneration

-165 Allotments - indicated completion in 2015/16 (D).
-2,000 Regional Growth Fund – grant has to be spent
by May and reliant on companies submitting fully
supported claims (D).

Minor Variations
Total Variation

25
-5,785

Page 58

4

FINANCING OF THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 Table 3 summarises the financing sources for the original and latest programmes.
Table 3: Revised Capital Programme Financing 2014/15 £000’s
Capital Programme Financing
Unsupported Borrowing
Capital Receipts
Revenue and Reserves
Grants
Total Financing

Capital
Strategy
20,717
3,000
290
21,287
45,294

Revised
2014/15
Programme
10,393
6,006
745
22,360
39,504

4.2 The reprofiling of the Capital Programme at Month 6 reduced the borrowing
requirement for 2014/15 by £8.8 million resulting in a one-off financing saving in
2014/15 of £800,000. The changes since then revise this figure to £840,000. The
full budget will be required in 2015/16 when the re-profiled expenditure occurs.
5

PROJECTED LONGER TERM CAPITAL PROGRAMME

5.1 Funding for the forecast 2014/15 to 2016/17 Capital Programme is shown in Table
4 and reflects the 2014/17 Capital Programmes agreed by Budget Council and
subsequent amendments.
Table 4: Capital Programme Financing 2014/15 to 2016/17 £000’s
Capital Programme
Financing
Unsupported Borrowing
Capital Receipts
Reserve Reserves
Grants
Total Financing
6

2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
Total
Revised Revised Original Programme
Estimate Estimate Estimate
10,393
20,992
4,376
35,761
6,006
7,825
0
13,831
745
177
0
922
22,360
13,157
6,644
42,161
39,504
42,151
11,020
92,675

SUPPORTED AND UNSUPPORTED BORROWING AND THE REVENUE
CONSEQUENCES OF UNSUPPORTED BORROWING

6.1 Based on the current cost, £1 million of Prudential Borrowing would result in
additional revenue financing costs of £90,000 per annum in the following year. As
part of the Capital Strategy 2014/15 to 2016/17 the Council has included an
element of prudential borrowing. At Month 10 there is a sum of £35.8 million of new
unsupported borrowing included over the three years, which will result in
approximately £3.2 million of additional revenue costs detailed at Table 5, if there is
no change in Strategy.

Page 59

Table 5: Unsupported Borrowing Forecasts & Revenue Costs £000’s
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
New Unsupported Borrowing
Cumulative
Annual Revenue repayment costs
Cumulative

10,393

20,992
31,385

4,376
35,761

35,761

935

2,825

3,219

The Unsupported Borrowing has to be divided into those schemes for which there
is planned support i.e. spend to save schemes; and truly unsupported schemes.
Table 6: Analysis of Unsupported Borrowing £000s
2014/15

7

2015/16 2016/17

Total

Spend to save

4,002

10,202

750

14,954

Other borrowing

6,391

10,790

3,626

20,807

CAPITAL RECEIPTS POSITION

7.1 As reported to Cabinet on 7 November 2013 the Council could realise £20 million
from asset disposals including Acre Lane, former Rock Ferry High School and
Manor Drive, Upton. The latest projections from Lambert Smith, and Hampton
suggest a figure closer to £22 million; however the market is subject to fluctuations.
It is anticipated that the disposal of Acre Lane will occur early in 2015, Manor Drive
in 2016 and Rock Ferry (presently seeking Secretary of State consent to dispose of
the former school facility) in 2016/17. Table 7 reflects these latest projections.
7.2 The Capital Programme is reliant on the Council generating capital receipts to
finance future schemes. The Capital Receipts Reserve at 1 April 2014 contained
£8.8 million of receipts. The table assumes the proposed spend, set out at Section
4.1 is agreed. At this stage the receipts and funding assumptions are estimates.
7.3 At January 2015 the Council had received receipts of £2.8 million during the current
financial year which has exceeded the target of £2.5 million (Annex 2).
Table 7: Projected Capital Receipts position £000’s

Capital Receipts Reserve
In - Receipts Assumption
Out - Funding assumption
Closing Balance

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

8,800
2,800
-6,006
5,594

5,594
10,000
-7,825
7,769

7,769
14,000
TBA
21,769

Page 60

8

RELEVANT RISKS

8.1 The possible failure to deliver the Capital Programme will be mitigated by the
monthly review by a senior group of officers, charged with improving performance.
8.2 The generation of capital receipts could well be influenced by factors outside the
authority’s control e.g. ecological issues. Lambert, Smith, Hampton are still
providing external support.
8.3 An in year review of the Capital Programme was undertaken by the Capital Working
Group and this was incorporated within the Month 6 Monitoring Report.
9

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

9.1 No other options have been considered.
10

CONSULTATION

10.1 No consultation has been carried out in relation to this report.
11

OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS

11.1 There are no outstanding actions.
12

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

12.1 As yet, there are no implications for voluntary, community or faith groups.
13

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

13.1 The whole report is about significant resource implications.
14

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

14.1 There are no legal implications arising directly from this report.
15

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

15.1 An Equality impact assessment is not attached as there are none.
16

CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

16.1 There is no carbon reduction or environmental implications arising directly from this
monitoring report.
17

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

17.1 There are no planning and community safety implications arising directly from this
monitoring report.

Page 61

18

RECOMMENDATIONS

18.1 That Cabinet is asked to note:
a)

The spend to date at Month 10 of £25.8 million, with 83% of the financial
year having elapsed;

18.2 That Cabinet is asked to agree and refer to Council:

19

a)

The revised Capital Programme of £39.6 million (Table 1);

b)

The re-profiling in respect of the schemes referred to in Table 2 of £5.785
million

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

19.1 Regular monitoring and reporting of the Capital Programme enables decisions to be
taken faster which may produce revenue benefits and will improve financial control
of the Programme.
19.2 Any variations to the Capital Programme are agreed by Cabinet but then referred to
Council to formally approve the changes.
REPORT AUTHOR:

Reg Huyton
Finance Manager
Telephone
0151 666 3415
Email
reghuyton@wirral.gov.uk

SUBJECT HISTORY
Council Meeting
Capital monitoring reports, from September 2012, are
being submitted monthly.
Capital Programme – Council
ANNEXES
Annex 1
Annex 2

Revised Capital Programme and Funding
Capital Receipts

Page 62

Date

25 February 2014

ANNEX 1
Revised Capital Programme and Funding 2014/15 and Programme 2015/16

Page 63

Revised
Programme
£000

Actual
£000

Council
Resources
£000

Universal and Infrastructure Services
Building refurbishment to increase
occupancy

660

995

Wallasey Town Hall
Strategic Asset Review
Fund to assist land assembly and re-sale

68
96
200

Cleveland St Transport Depot
Park depot rationalisation
Energy efficiency Initiatives
Energy Schemes
Structural/Roofing works - West Kirby
Concourse
Arrowe Park Changing pavilion
Demolish Stanley Special & External
Renovation Work
Demolish Bebington Town Hall and Liscard
Municipal
Demolish former Rock Ferry High
Demolish Foxfield

Grants
£000

Revenue/
Reserves
£000

Total
£000

Programme
2015/16

660

660

2,262

60
302
237

68
96
200

68
96
200

736

450
710

321
40

450
710

450
710

3,050
600

310

130

310

310

690

Conception

0

0

0

0

300

Conception

344
144

354
182

344
144

344
144

160

101

160

160

115

Conception/Completion

0
5
0

5

0
5
0

0
5
0

378
395
120

Conception
Conception
Conception

3,147

2,727

3,147

3,147

8,646

0

0

Start Up/Delivery
Completion
Completion
Start-up/Completion
Start Up
Start Up

Completion
Completion

Revised

Page 64

Families and Wellbeing - CYP
Elleray Park Special School redevelopment
School remodelling/additional classrooms
Children's centres
Aiming Higher for Disabled Children
Youth Capital
Birkenhead High Girls Academy
Vehicle Procurement
Condition/Modernisation
Basic Need
Family Support Scheme
Private Finance Iniative
Wirral Youth Zone
Funding for 2 year olds
Foxfield contribution to priority school
Somerville Primary School
Universal Free School Meals

Families and Wellbeing - Sports &
Recreation
West Kirby/Guinea Gap/Europa
Guinea Gap 3G Football pitches
West Kirby Concourse Fitness Suite

Revenue/

Programme

Actual

Resources

Grants

Reserves

Total

Programme

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

2015/16

50
236
106
90
149
472
123
3,590
100
55
0
85
130
1,000
1,350
624

13
185
23
64

50
0

98
392
106
3,211
1

236
106
90
51
403

55
0

57
111
1,072
898
689

85
130
500
750
624

1,388

6,580

129
1,011

1,000

0
750
873

1,140

1,000

1,623

1,800
245
112

687
146

1,800
245
112

2,157

833

2,157

0
750
1,873
0
0
2,623

69
123

3,590
100

500
600

8,160
Families and Wellbeing - DASS
Citizen and Provider Portal for Social and
Health Services
Transformation of Day Service
Integrated IT
Extra Care Housing
LD extra care housing

Council

6,822

0

192

0

0

50
236
106
90
149
472
123
3,590
100
55
0
85
130
1,000
1,350
624

950
1,850
100

8,160

9,767

17
4,500
200
150
2,000

Start Up
Start Up/Delivery
Approval
StartUp/Delivery
Approval
Delivery
Delivery
Delivery/Completion
Conception
Approval
Conception
Approval
Start Up
Completion
Delivery/Completion
Delivery/Completion

0
750
1,873
0
0
2,623

617
500
627
1,500
1,396
4,640

Start Up
Start Up
Start Up/Delivery
Conception
Conception

1,800
245
112

1,200

Delivery
Delivery
Conception

2,157

1,200

Revised

Regeneration and Environment Environment & Regulation
Road Safety
Congestion
Active Travel
Transportation
Local Sustainable Transport Fund
Bridges
Highways Maintenance
Street Lighting
Coast Protection
Asset Management

Council

Revenue/

Programme

Actual

Resources

Grants

Reserves

Total

Programme

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

2015/16

753
358
641
301
499
634
3,347
288
178

404
0
373
167
0
324
2,254
224
50

84

0

33
3
211
71
72
523
88
20

87

84

Page 65

Energy schemes (LED Street Lighting)
Parks Plant and Equipment
Parks vehicles replacement
Landican Cemetery
Birkenhead Park Restoration
Parks Improvement Works
Hoylake Golf Course
Park Outdoor Gyms
Reeds Lane Play Area
Royden Park/Eastham Country Park
Gautby Rd Play Area

300
728
921
71
97
35
30
2
50
14
16

Allotments
Start Active, Play Active, Stay active
Wirral Way - widening and safety
improvements
Cemetery extension/improvement

3
260

2
83

3
230

117

42

117

9,727

4,753

3,518

379
231
50
87
19

720
355
430
230
499
562
2,824
200
71

84
20
952
254
210

Start Up/Delivery
Conception
Start Up/Delivery
Start Up/Delivery
Conception
Conception/Start Up/Delivery
Start Up/Delivery/Completion
Start Up/Delivery
Start Up
Approval

4,000

16

300
728
921
71
97
35
30
2
50
14
16

30

3
260

165
10

Conception
Conception

117

13
150

Start Up

9,727

6,019

35
30
2
50
14

6,041

84

84

300
728
921
71
97

1
35
12
16

753
358
641
301
499
634
3,347
288
178

168

67

10

Approval
Delivery
Delivery
Delivery
Delivery
Delivery
Conception
Completion
Delivery
Delivery
Completion

Revised

Regeneration and Environment Housing & Community Safety
Aids, Adaptations and Disabled Facility
Grants
LIFT Programme
Clearance
Home Improvement
Improvement for sale grants
Empty Property Interventions
New House Building Programme
Housing Renewal

Page 66

Regeneration and Environment –
Regeneration
Business Investment Grants
Regional Growth Fund Schemes
LEP Regional Growth Fund Schemes Targetted Assistance
New Brighton
Marine Business Park
The Priory

Transformation & Resources
I.T Development

Council

Revenue/

Programme

Actual

Resources

Grants

Reserves

Total

Programme

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

2015/16

2,138
347
200
442
200
210
520

1,428
45
163
410

796

93

150
520

4,057

2,139

1,568

0
2,697

1,488

3,000
1,111
50
275
7,133

1,952
1,015
68
181
4,704

2,500
2,500
39,504

102

1,342
347
125
340

75
200
60

2,154

335

0
2,697
3,000

2,138
347
200
442
200
210
520

3,206

4,057

7,571

0
2,697

808
2,000

1,321
912
122
980
1,030

10
1,121

265
5,962

50

3,000
1,111
50
275
7,133

2,700
2,700

2,500
2,500

0

0

2,500
2,500

1,500
1,500

25,818

16,399

22,360

745

39,504

42,151

1,111
50

Start Up/Delivery
Start Up/Delivery
Start Up/Delivery
Start Up/Delivery
Conception
Start Up/Delivery
Start Up

Start Up/Delivery
Start Up/Delivery
Start Up
Completion
Delivery

2,808

Delivery

ANNEX 2
Capital Receipts
Disposals for which cash has been received by 31 January 2015
£000
Former day centre 78 Union Street
Land at St Mary’s Gate
Overchurch Hall
Site of Lingham School
Land at Sandy Lane North
Sylvandale
Land at Hope Street
Land at Abbey Street
Tarran Industrial Estate Units
1, 2, 2A, 2B, 2C, 3, 4 – Freehold reversion)
Former Poulton Primary School
Highfield Luncheon Club
Mollington St (Ground lease)
Arrowe Park HVDC cabling licence
Land at Belmont Avenue

150
15
10
352
15
450
40
117
450
315
34
16
22
30
2,016

Magenta Living – Right to Buy

752

Total Receipts

2,768

Anticipated auction list for February
Cottage Street industrial unit

Page 67

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET
12 MARCH 2015
SUBJECT:

CREATION OF A PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
FRAMEWORK

WARDS AFFECTED:

POTENTIALLY ALL WARDS WILL BE AFFECTED
BY THIS REPORT
STRATEGIC DIRECTOR REGENERATION &
ENVIRONMENT

REPORT OF:
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO
HOLDER:

CLLR PHIL DAVIES

KEY DECISION

YES

INVESTMENT

1.0

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

This report seeks Members approval to create a Property Development Framework
that would support the development of new commercial floor space in Wirral. The
Framework would set out a number of alternative development models that could be
used to address the economic viability of projects where the build costs are greater
than the end value. This proposal would enable commercial projects to be delivered
thereby meeting the objectives of the Council’s Investment Strategy.

2.0

BACKGROUND

2.1

The industrial and office property market in the Liverpool City Region faces challenges
with end values remaining relatively low and grant funding still being required to
enable developments to take place. That is the total cost of constructing speculative
and bespoke accommodation is currently greater than its value on completion. The
issue is further compounded by banks often refusing to lend against any kind of
speculative development and limiting their lending against bespoke schemes, with a
known end user, to a maximum of 60% of the projected end value. One of the other
constraining factors moving forward is the fact that the availability of external grant
funding from organisations including the UK Government and the European Union is
reducing significantly.

2.2

This means that some of Wirral’s indigenous companies who want to expand or grow
are unable to do so due to the lack of suitable accommodation and the lack of new
modern premises is also a limiting factor to the Council’s aspirations of attracting new
inward investment into the Borough.

2.3

In response to these circumstances, the Council has been reviewing the current
models that are available to it in terms of supporting private sector development and
company growth, as well as exploring new ways of supporting such developments.
The motivation for doing this comes from the Council’s ambitious Investment Strategy
which is seeking to grow Wirral’s economy as well as providing sustainable
employment opportunities for all Wirral residents.

Page 69

A REVIEW OF EXISTING DEVELOPMENT MODELS
2.4

The Council has successfully used a number of traditional ways of supporting private
sector development which can still provide some opportunities for future
developments. These are considered below:

2.5

Land Acquisition / Assembly. The Council has used this method in the past to buy
land and property and then sell it on to the private sector. Strategically, this approach
allows the Council to intervene in the marketplace to catalyse or kickstart
development, but also to assemble land in preparation for development. This may, in
certain circumstances, still be an appropriate approach but it does require the Council
to identify significant financial resources to buy the land in the first place and if the
sell-on price, because of land values, is only equal to the purchase price this provides
the Council with little if no return on its investment.

2.6

Gap funding. Gap funding is required where there is a difference between values
and costs with a grant being given to gap fund the difference between the construction
costs and end value. Such an approach is subject to State Aid and therefore only a
percentage of the gap can be funded. This has been further affected by changes to
the State Aid framework in 2014. However, depending on the project the public sector
can still intervene and land remediation is an example of how this can work to support
large companies.

2.7

This approach has proved successful in Wirral and again, in certain circumstances,
may still be the most appropriate response. However, funding is required to provide a
grant and there is no return on this investment. There are external funds which the
Council can utilise, for example through the growth deal secured for the Liverpool City
Region which is yet to be allocated to projects, but resources for this are significantly
reduced when compared to previous years.
NEW DEVELOPMENT MODEL

2.8

Council Head Lease. This approach is based on using the strength of the Council’s
covenant to secure development. An example of how such an approach would work
is that the Council agrees with Developer A to take out a head-lease on a proposed
new building(s) for a period of years. For this period the Council agrees to pay the
rent at an agreed figure including periodic reviews. At the same time, in a back to back
arrangement, the Council agrees to lease the building to a company for the same
period of time for a market rent plus a premium. This premium can be achieved
because of the strength of the Council’s covenant which allows money to be borrowed
at a lower interest rate than would be available to a developer.

2.9

Such an approach should not require any up-front committed funding from the Council
and the premium would result in a nominal revenue income for the Council. However,
this is not without risk and there would be a need to ensure that a contingency fund
was in place to cover any void periods and this is set out in detail in paragraph 8.4
below.

2.10

Table 1 below sets out these three Development Models and the risks associated with
each of them is addressed in Section 3 below.

Page 70

TABLE 1 – Overview of Development Models
OPTION

DESCRIPTION

1. Site/ Acquisition
Land Assembly

To strategically intervene in the
marketplace to address constraints
causing barriers to the private sector.
This may include land assembly to
create developable parcels of land

Lack of available funding to
support this type of option.
Little or no return on the
outlay.

2. GAP Funding

To address viability gaps by bridging
the ‘gap’ between development costs
and end values.

3. Council Head
Lease

Covenant strength allows a developer
to secure higher levels of funding for a
development, strengthening the yield of
a development and addressing viability
in a different way from GAP funding.

Again, the lack of available
funding for this option
presents a problem.
However, the LCR LEP has
been allocated some
resources through the
Growth Deal.
Using the Council’s
covenant strength in this
way brings opportunities
and risks. It exposes the
Council to potential costs if
the sub lease ends and thre
are void periods. However,
mitigating actions can be
put into place and the risk
depends on the
development plus the
potential return for the
Council.

The Council taking the head lease for a
new developing significantly increases
the viability of a development from the
point of view of securing funding

2.11

CONSTRAINTS

It is proposed that a multi-disciplinary team of officers from Finance, Legal, Investment
Strategy, Regeneration and Asset Management would work on the development and
the implementation of the Property Development Framework which would include:

 Outlining in detail each of the delivery models set out in the above Table (Table 1);
 Setting out the criteria against which projects would be initially assessed for inclusion
– namely that they would generate financial returns, floorspace, jobs, business rates
income and/or be a catalyst for future development;
 Identification of potential sources of funding as outlined in 2.12.below.
2.12

Funding to progress projects within the Framework could come from a variety of
sources and could include external funds such as resources identified through the
Liverpool City Region’s Growth Plan, or Government schemes such as Growing
Places funding. The Council’s Capital Programme could also be considered as a
possible source of funding for specific projects. In addition funding generated by the
retention of business rates within the Enterprise Zone could also be considered for reinvestment into further developments (this is set out in more detail in a separate report
on the Enterprise Zone on this agenda).

Page 71

2.13

Projects coming forward through the Property Development Framework would be
considered on a case by case basis in respect of the most appropriate development
model and of the type of funding that could be secured. Each project would then be
brought back to Cabinet with a detailed report for consideration and approval before
being progressed. The report would include an assessment by the internal multidisciplinary team of a comprehensive independent appraisal of the total project costs
and end value of each scheme, a proposal as to the most appropriate delivery model
and a proposal with regards to the funding route. The report would also set out how
the proposal would comply with all financial and legal requirements.

3.0

RELEVANT RISKS

3.1

Site acquisition/assembly and Gap funding. The Council has a strong track record
of delivering these approaches. Wirral International Business Park was created using
both of these options during the 1990’s and early 2000’s. Since 2007, the Council has
successfully worked in partnership on a number of occasions to develop and bring
forward new commercial floor space with the latest one being Tower Wharf, funded
using European Regional Development Fund monies. The key risk to this approach is
the lack of available funding.

3.2

Council Head Lease. This approach has risks, as indeed are experienced by all such
approaches to securing development. The main risk is that the company to whom the
Council lease goes into receivership or liquidation at some point during the lease
period. This would leave the Council in the position of still having to pay the rental
amount for the period remaining on the lease as well as potentially needing to make
good the building and make any alterations that might be required to meet business
demand . This risk is higher in the early years when there are more years remaining
on the lease and the risk will reduce as the lease period progresses. However, risk will
remain until the lease period ends.

3.3

The risks would be mitigated by the following:
a) a thorough independent financial check on the company prior to entering into the
lease;
b) an independent market appraisal of the demand for the type of space which was
provided by the project should it be required to be re-let. Such an appraisal would
be reviewed on an annual basis;
b) an annual check on the company’s performance by the Council;
c) the ability for the Council to re-lease the building should the original leaseholder
go into liquidation or receivership;
d) in such circumstances the Council would be able to sub-divide a large building into
smaller units making re-leasing easier and reducing void periods through the
provisions that would be negotiated with the developer prior to the lease being
entered into by the Council;
e) the Council identifying a financial resource to cover any void periods if the original
leaseholder went into liquidation or receivership and prior to a new lease or leases
being entered into. This financial resource would only be required in these
circumstances;
f) A project group, including the Director of Resources, would monitor the number of
projects undertaken using this approach and report on the Council’s levels of risk
as part of normal reporting procedures;

Page 72

g) Members would approve all projects brought forward through the Property
Development Framework.
3.4

The benefit to the Council of using its covenant strength is that this is a mechanism to
ensure that a development can be implemented thereby providing new business
space and creating employment opportunities. In addition the new floor space will
generate revenue for the Council through the rental premium and through business
rates.

4.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1

Officers will continue to seek to secure external funds wherever possible to address
the constraints to development identified in paragraph 2.1 of this report and to bring
forward investment. Again, where a business case can be put forward and projects
could generate returns, either financially or through floorspace, jobs and business
rates income, then officers will report to Cabinet.

5.0

CONSULTATION

5.1

This report is consistent with the principles of Wirral Council’s Investment Strategy
which provides the framework for securing investment and growth within the Borough.
This has been reviewed after extensive consultation with partners and has also been
informed by consultation which has taken place with a number of private sector
partners and local businesses through Invest Wirral’s Business Forum.

6.0

OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS

6.1

None

7.0

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

7.1

There are no implications for Voluntary, Community and Faith Groups arising directly
from this report.

8.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, FINANCIAL, IT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

8.1

A multi-disciplinary team of officers from Finance, Legal, Investment Strategy,
Regeneration and Asset Management would work on the implementation of the
Property Development Framework.

8.2

Officers will seek and secure best practice advice from other Local Authorities currently
delivering projects using such development models, but it is likely that specialist legal,
finance and commercial property specialists would need to be procured as
appropriate. Officers will seek to recover these costs from the projects where
appropriate.

8.3

As set out in paragraph 3.3 (g) above, any project progressed through the property
development framework will be brought back to Cabinet in a business case form. This
business case would include a proposal for where funds would be sought, for example
whether it is using external resources, for example the Pension Fund, the Council’s
own funds such as the Capital Programme or the potential re-investment of the
business rate uplift from the Enterprise Zone.

Page 73

8.4

In respect of Option 3, the Council Head Lease, if Members agreed to the use of this
approach for a development then a contingency budget would be required to minimise
the risks should there be any void periods where the property was empty ie if the
company leasing the building from the Council defaulted on that lease. The resource
would be needed to (a) pay the rent to the developer for the period that the unit was
vacant (2) to do any works of sub-division prior to re-marketing the building and (3) remarket the building. It is proposed that the sum of £700,000 would be required for this
purpose and this would be made available from reserves from the Working
Neighbourhoods Fund. In addition any surplus made by the Council from the rental
charged through the Head Lease arrangement would be reinvested into the
contingency reserve. This would be reviewed on an annual basis as part of the
annual performance report.

8.5

Resource implications relating to the re-investment of Business Rates from the
Enterprise Zone is addressed in the Enterprise Zone report elsewhere on this agenda.

9.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The creation of a Property Development Framework to support the development of
new commercial floor space in Wirral will (as appropriate) require the Council to rely
on the Council’s ability to:

9.2

9.3

(a)

acquire land by agreement for the benefit, improvement or development of their
area pursuant to section 120 of the Local Government Act 1972;

(b)

dispose of land pursuant to section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972;

(c)

borrow money for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial
affairs pursuant to section 1 of the Local Government Act 2003; and

(d)

invest for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs
pursuant to section 12 of the Local Government Act 2003.

The Council intends to ensure that the operation of the Framework complies with:
(a)

the application of the legal requirements set out in paragraph 9.1 above;

(b)

the application of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015;

(c)

State Aid requirements;

(d)

the Council’s constitution; and

(e)

such other legal requirements relating to the project under consideration.

The report requesting Cabinet approval for each project shall set out how the legal
requirements have been and/or will be satisfied and the operation of the Framework
shall require Cabinet approval for each and every project.

Page 74

10.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and links to the existing
EIA conducted for Wirral’s Investment Strategy.
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversitycohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-2010-0
11.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS
11.1

There are no carbon reduction implications arising directly out of this report.

12.0

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

12.1

Any applications coming forward for consideration within the Property Development
Framework will need to be assessed against the Council’s Unitary Development Plan,
the emerging Core Strategy Local Development Framework and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

13.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

13.1

That Members agree to establish a Property Development Framework based on the
three delivery models set out in Section 2 of this report in order to support the delivery
of the Council’s Investment Strategy.

13.2 That Members authorise officers to identify sources of funding to support the
implementation of the Property Development Framework – both external and internal
resources.
13.3

That Members agree that £700,000 from the Working Neighbourhood’s reserves be
reclassified as Property Development Framework reserve to be used as a contingency
budget for the use of the Head Lease delivery model.

13.4

That Members agree that any surplus made by the Council from the rental charged
through the Head Lease arrangement would be reinvested into the contingency
reserve.

13.5

That each and every project considered under the Property Development Framework
is brought forward to Cabinet for approval and is accompanied by a detailed report
reflecting a full project appraisal and setting out how the specific matter complies with
all financial and legal requirements.

13.6

That an annual report on the performance of the Framework is presented to Members.

14.0

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

14.1

To establish a Property Development Framework for Wirral to deliver the objectives of
the Investment Strategy.

REPORT AUTHOR : Alan Evans
Senior Manager: Business and Investment
0151 691 8426
alanevans@wirral.gov.uk

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET
12 MARCH 2015
SUBJECT:

ENTERPRISE ZONE – RE-INVESTMENT OF
BUSINESS RATE UPLIFT

WARDS AFFECTED:

POTENTIALLY ALL WARDS WILL BE AFFECTED
BY THIS REPORT
STRATEGIC DIRECTOR REGENERATION &
ENVIRONMENT

REPORT OF:
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO
HOLDER:

CLLR PHIL DAVIES

KEY DECISION

YES

INVESTMENT

1.0

EXCUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

This report seeks Members approval to develop a Wirral Waters Enterprise Zone
Investment Plan. The local plan will build on Government Enterprise Zone Policy to
use uplift in business rates within the EZ as a catalyst for the longer-term regeneration
proposals of Wirral Waters and other economic regeneration programmes in Wirral.
The Investment Plan will develop a base financial model for growth, identify and
assess key risks and propose a schedule of projects that need funding which will be
provided through the uplift in business rates generated by the Wirral Waters
Enterprise Zone. The Investment Plan will be brought back to Cabinet for approval
and every subsequent project proposal would be considered on a case by case basis.

2.0

BACKGROUND

2.1

In Budget 2011, Government announced it was to establish 22 new Enterprise Zones
(EZ’s) in Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) areas in England. Mersey Waters was
announced as one of four original EZ’s within the Budget and encompasses both the
Wirral Waters and Liverpool Waters developments, the transformational regeneration
programmes proposed by Peel Holdings.

2.2

The Policy behind EZ’s was to create transformational change by allowing the
following benefits:
o A business rate discount worth up to £275,000 per business over a five year
period
o All business rates growth within the defined retention area of the zone for a
period of at least 25 years will be retained by the local area to support
economic priorities and ensure that EZ growth is re-invested locally ie back into
the zone
o Government help to develop simplified planning approaches for the zone using,
for example, existing Local Development Order powers
o Government support to ensure that superfast broadband is rolled out
throughout the zone

Page 77

2.3

Wirral Waters was further supported in Budget 2013 with a designation for Enhanced
Capital allowances for plant and machinery, one of only five designations in the
Country.

2.4

Local Authorities with an EZ have the ability to provide discounts of potentially up to
100% discounts to business rates to businesses locating to or expanding within the
zone, with the Government reimbursing the Council the cost of the discount. The EZ
governance structure is expected to make decisions on matters such as these.

2.5

However, discounts available to each business are limited by EU state aid law, up to a
de-minimis threshold of €200,000 over a rolling three year period, the equivalent of
approx. £55,000 per year. The collecting authority is required to ensure that
businesses do not receive greater levels of support. Each business will receive
discounts for five years from the start of its occupancy providing that it enters the zone
before 31st March 2017.
LOCAL BUSINESS RATES RETENTION

2.6

Enabling Local Authorities to retain a significant proportion of the business rates
generated in their area is intended to provide a financial incentive for them to promote
local growth and to meet the cost of service provision becoming self sufficient through
Business Rates and Council Tax revenues.

2.7

Enterprise Zones status does provide a number of incentives as outlined in para 2.2 to
enable investment. However, in the case of Wirral Waters and Liverpool Waters,
property values presents a fundamental issue in that end values are far less than the
actual cost of development. A further report on this agenda, the Property Development
Framework, outlines this in more detail.

2.8

The important thing for members to note is that since the creation of the zone in 2012,
the basic incentives have not been enough to encourage new development, and new
interventions are required.

2.9

Government policy and legislation is in place that provides for any uplift in the zone
after 1st April 2012 to be re-invested for a period of up to 25 years (ie up to 1st April
2037). However, no uplift has been generated.

2.10

That said, during the back end of 2015, the zone will see the practical completion of
two new developments in Wirral Waters; Tower Wharf a 50,000 sq ft grade A office
development and a new campus for Wirral Metropolitan College. Officers are currently
in the process a calculating the uplift.

2.11

Given the legislation in place and Government Policy for the use of business rate
uplift, the agreement with the Local Enterprise Partnership is that the collecting
authority in Mersey Waters will be able to re-invest this uplift. Members must note that
the Government Policy is that business rate uplift is controlled by Local Enterprise
Partnerships. In 2012, the LCR LEP agreed that up until 31st March 2015, any uplift
would be split 50/50 between the LEP and the collecting authority. This agreement
has now expired and the collecting authority is now allowed to re-invest the uplift into
the zone and initiatives within its own boundary.

Page 78

ENHANCED CAPITAL ALLOWANCES
2.12

In 2012, Officers, along with Peel submitted a joint bid to Government for Enhanced
Capital Allowance status. Effectively this allows businesses investing into the Zone to
receive benefits related to capital expenditure on plant and machinery. The
designation was for an 11ha site on West Float which was agreed in 2013. However,
now that there is proposed investment into the site at West Float, Wirral Council is
required to sign a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Government to allow
this incentive to be offered. The MoU is attached as Annex A to this report.
ENTEPRISE ZONE GOVERNANCE

2.13

The current Mersey Waters EZ governance model is as follows:



EZ Board
EZ Working Group

2.14

The EZ Working Group meets regularly and in advance of the Board. The group is
chaired by a representative from the Department for Communities and Local
Government and includes Wirral Council, Liverpool Council, representatives from the
LEP, BIS North West, the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) and Peel Holdings.
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment is Wirral’s lead
representative on the Group.

2.15

The Board is chaired by Cllr Phil Davies, Leader of Wirral Council. The group also
includes the Mayor of Liverpool, the Chief Executive Officers of both Councils, Asif
Hamid (Deputy Chair of LCR LEP).

2.16

The Board is the principal governing body of the EZ and reports back as appropriate
to the LCR LEP Board and the Combined Authority. The LEP also employ a project
manager through their own resources but this money is only in place for one year
(2015 Calendar year).

2.17

The Board would need to be involved in investment planning decisions for good
governance in regards to Government policy but ultimately it would be Wirral Council
who would be the accountable body for re-investing the Business Rate uplift.
CREATION OF A BUSINESS RATE UPLIFT INVESTMENT PLAN

2.18
.
2.19

With a number of new developments now underway, including the Tower Wharf Office
Development and the new Wirral Metropolitan College Campus, there is now an
opportunity to use this Government Policy to invest into new developments.
On this basis, the rateable values for the new developments within the EZ would allow
the Council to identify the business rate revenue that is to be generated annually and
to capitalise this. This can be done either by investing the cumulative business rate
uplift or by the Council prudentially borrowing. This would mean the Council
borrowing from either the Public Works Loan Board or other local funds, such as the
Growing Places Fund, with repayment over a period being serviced by the uplift in
business rates.

Page 79

2.20

This could include investment via the existing approaches of land acquisition and land
assembly and GAP funding as well as potentially allowing the Council to also adopt
the head lease model (see Property Development Framework report) by underwriting
any risk to the Council by using the uplift. Currently, Peel have commissioned Amion
consulting to explore in more detail the potential uplift projections and business plan
for Mersey Waters. This work will be used to inform the Councils Investment Plan.

3.

RELEVANT RISKS

3.1

This approach requires careful consideration and the following paragraphs outlines in
detail some of the risks involved.

3.2

The risks to this approach together with mitigating actions are identified below:
a.)

If the Council borrows prudentially, capitalising the annual business rate income
from uplift, then this borrowing would need to be serviced. If the tenants of any
new developments were to go into administration or cease operations, then the
business rate income would reduce. Empty Property Business Rates are
significantly less than business rates generated by rateable value and are a cost
to the EZ or the Council. Therefore, investments should be made on a case by
case basis and the risks associated – ie the strength of the tenancy and
company locating into the zone should be assessed accordingly

b.)

If resources were made available for land remediation, the Council would need to
ensure that any developer would be responsible for servicing the Councils
borrowing if development was not commenced within a prescribed period of time.
In the case of the Enterprise Zone this would be Peel Holdings.

c.)

A full risk assessment for this element of the proposed Property Development
Framework will be put together as part of the Investment Plan that will be
brought back to Cabinet.

3.3

Government do fully expect the business rate uplift to be re-invested back into
Economic Development and into EZs as per the policy that they have introduced.
Officers are currently awaiting the outcome of a business case submitted to
Government for an extension to the Business Rate Retention Boundary. The risk of
not adopting this approach is that Wirral Waters would not attract the resources
needed to catalyse the long term regeneration and job creation potential of Wirral
Waters.

4.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1

Officers will continue to seek to secure external funds wherever possible to address
the constraints to development identified in paragraph 2.1 of this report and to bring
forward investment. Again, where a business case can be put forward and projects
could generate returns, either financially or through floorspace, jobs and business
rates income, Officers will report to Cabinet.

5.0

CONSULTATION

5.1

This report is consistent with the principles of Wirral Council’s Investment Strategy
which provides the framework for securing investment and growth within the Borough.

Page 80

This has been reviewed after extensive consultation with partners and has also been
informed by consultation which has taken place with a number of private sector
partners and local businesses through Invest Wirral’s Business Forum.
6.0

OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS

6.1

None

7.0

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

7.1

There are no implications for Voluntary, Community and Faith Groups arising directly
from this report.

8.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, FINANCIAL, IT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

8.1

A multi-disciplinary team of officers from Finance, Legal, Investment Strategy,
Regeneration and Asset Management would work on the development of the
Investment Plan, in partnership externally with the Local Enterprise Partnership and
Peel as appropriate. As the Accountable Body for the business rate uplift, it is the
intention that Wirral Council would undertake prudential borrowing that would fund
projects that met the criteria agreed through the Investment Plan. The borrowing
would be supported by the revenue resources provided by the uplift in business rates
within the EZ. The first consideration would be to ensure that the revenue resources
were in place to service any borrowing undertaken by the Council and the Investment
Plan will set out clearly current income and projected income within the Zone.

8.2

The are financial risks associated with the Accountable Body role, the main one being
the failure of the EZ to deliver sufficient business rate uplift to support the level of
borrowing undertaken by the Council. The first principal of the Investment Plan is to
ensure that this wouldn’t happen and actual income is used for any borrowing.
However, the risks will also be managed by detailed and expert financial modelling
undertaken by the Council in partnership with key EZ organisations including Peel
Holdings. The Council will also ensure that it has in place relevant contractual
developer obligations. Officers will also work with the Director of Finance to ensure
that any investment plan has a sound set of financial principles which limit the extent
of borrowing and manage the risks accordingly to ensure that the EZ does not
adversely impact on the Councils overall financial position.

8.3

However, the very nature of such a leading edge fund to support development will
require specialist support. Officers will seek and secure best practice advice from
other Local Authorities currently delivering such schemes, but it is likely that specialist
legal, finance and commercial property specialists would need to be procured as
appropriate. It is intended that any uplift generated would provide an income to the
Council to manage, service and recover the costs of implementing the approach
proposed in this report.

8.4

Any revenue generated by the uplift will be placed in a reserve until any borrowing is
required.

Page 81

9.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The creation of an Investment Plan to reinvest the business rate uplift generated
specifically by the Wirral Waters Enterprise Zone to catalyse and generate new
investment opportunities, Wirral will (as appropriate) require the Council to rely on the
Council’s ability to:

9.2

10.0

(a)

acquire land by agreement for the benefit, improvement or development of their
area pursuant to section 120 of the Local Government Act 1972;

(b)

borrow money for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial
affairs pursuant to section 1 of the Local Government Act 2003; and

(c)

invest for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs
pursuant to section 12 of the Local Government Act 2003.

The Council intends to ensure that the operation of the Investment Plan complies with:
(a)

the application of the legal requirements set out in paragraph 9.1 above;

(b)

the application of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015;

(c)

State Aid requirements;

(d)

the Council’s constitution; and

(e)

such other legal requirements relating to the project under consideration.

9.3

The report requesting Cabinet approval for each project shall set out how the
legal requirements have been and/or will be satisfied and the operation of the
Framework shall require Cabinet approval for each and every project.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and links to the existing
EIA conducted for Wirral’s Investment Strategy.
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversitycohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-2010-0
11.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS
11.1

There are no carbon reduction implications arising directly out of this report.

12.0

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

12.1

Any projects funded from the property development fund would require all statutory
permissions to be in place prior to being approved by the Council.

13.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

13.1

That Members agree to the development of an investment framework for the reinvestment of business rate uplift within the Wirral Waters Enterprise Zone in order to

Page 82

support the delivery of the Councils Investment Strategy and long -term vision of
Wirral Waters. Cabinet will receive the copy of the investment framework and will also
receive project business plans on a case by case basis.
13.2

That formal sign off is given to the Enhanced Capital Allowances area of the
Enterprise Zone.

13.3

That an annual report on the performance of the scheme is presented to Cabinet.

14.0

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

14.1

To establish a sustainable investment framework for the reinvestment of Enterprise
Zone business rate uplift in Wirral to deliver the objectives of the Investment Strategy.

REPORT AUTHOR: Alan Evans
Senior Manager: Business and Investment
0151 691 8426
alanevans@wirral.gov.uk
ANNEX A
Enhanced Capital Allowances - Memorandum of Understanding
SUBJECT HISTORY
Cabinet – Enterprise Zone: Business Rates Discounts

Page 83

2 February 2012

ANNEX A

Date ______________________

(1) The Lords Commissioners of Her Majesty’s Treasury
-and-

(2) [name] Council

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
relating to the availability of first-year allowances pursuant to section 39 and sections
45K to 45N of the Capital Allowances Act 2001 (expenditure on plant and machinery
for use in designated assisted areas).

Page 84

THIS MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING is entered into on……………………
BETWEEN:
(1) The Lords Commissioners of Her Majesty’s Treasury ("HM Treasury"); and

(2) [name] Council, being a responsible authority, as defined by section 45K(14) CAA

2001, for the Relevant Designated Assisted Area (the "Authority")
each a “Party” and together the “Parties”.
RECITALS
Whereas:

(1) On 23 March 2011 the Government announced its intention to establish
Enterprise Zones in order to promote economic growth.
(2) To help promote economic growth, it was proposed that a range of incentives
would be made available for businesses locating within the Enterprise Zones. Full
details of the incentives available are published by HM Treasury on its website.
(3) One such proposed incentive was to make available a new type of first-year
allowance under section 39 CAA 2001 for companies locating in specific areas
within certain Enterprise Zones. It was envisaged that the proposed areas would be
ones where a small number of large capital intensive companies would be able to
make a significant, new capital investment in the Enterprise Zone.
(4) On 26 August 2011 HM Treasury invited Local Enterprise Partnerships to apply
for land within their relevant Enterprise Zone to be considered for designation by
HM Treasury as an area which would benefit from first-year allowances. The criteria
on which HM Treasury has decided such designation is set out in this Memorandum
of Understanding.
(5) Section 44 of and Schedule 11 to the Finance Act 2012 introduced section 45K to
45N and section 212U CAA 2001, under which first-year allowances are available
for expenditure on plant and machinery for use primarily in an area which at the
time the expenditure is incurred is a designated assisted area.

Page 85

(6) Section 45K(2) states that a designated assisted area means an area which (a) is
designated by an order made by HM Treasury and (b) falls wholly within an assisted
area.
(7) Section 45K(3) states that an area may be designated by an order under section
45K(2)(a) only if, at the time the order is made, (a) the area falls wholly within an
Enterprise Zone and (b) a memorandum of understanding, in respect of the area,
relating to the availability of first-year allowances available under section 45K, has
been entered into by HM Treasury and the responsible authority for the area.
(8) Section 45K(14) defines a “responsible authority” for an area as (a) if the area is
in England, a local authority for all or part of the area or two or more such local
authorities; (b) if the area is in Scotland, the Scottish Ministers; (c) if the area is in
Wales, the Welsh Ministers; and (d) if the area is in Northern Ireland, the Department
of Enterprise, Trade and Investment in Northern Ireland.
(9) Accordingly, this Memorandum of Understanding, between HM Treasury and the
Authority, being the responsible authority for the Relevant Designated Assisted
Area, is a memorandum of understanding for the purposes of section 45K(3) CAA
2001.
IT IS AGREED as follows:
1 STATUS, DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
1.1 This is a Memorandum of Understanding for the purposes of section 45K(3) CAA
2001.
1.2 This Memorandum of Understanding sets out the understanding between the
Parties in relation the Relevant Designated Assisted Area.
1.3 In this Memorandum of Understanding:
“CAA 2001” means the Capital Allowances Act 2001.
“designated assisted area” means an area designated by an order made by HM
Treasury under section 45K(2)(a) of the CAA 2001.

Page 86

“Enterprise Zone” means an area recognised by HM Treasury as an area in
respect of which there is a special focus on economic development and
identified on a map published by HM Treasury on its website.
“first-year allowances” means new first-year allowances under section 39 and
sections 45K to 45N of CAA 2001 for expenditure on plant or machinery for
use in designated assisted areas.
“Local Development Order” means an order made by a local planning authority
under section 61A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
“Local Enterprise Partnership” means an organisation involving local
authorities and businesses which works towards the economic growth of a
particular local area and which is known as a “local enterprise partnership” as
described in more detail on the website of the Department for Communities
and Local Government:
http://www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/local/localenterprisepartne
rships/.
“non-domestic rates discounts” means a discount, under the Non-Domestic
Rating (Contributions) (England)

Regulations 1992, on non-domestic

rates of up to 100 per cent over a five year period (up to State aid de minimis
levels) for businesses that move into an Enterprise Zone before April 2015.
“Relevant Non-Domestic Rates Discount Area” means the area of the Relevant
Enterprise Zone which benefits from non-domestic rates discounts;
“Relevant Designated Assisted Area” means the area delineated in Red in the
map contained in the Schedule to this Memorandum of Understanding;

“Relevant Enterprise Zone” means the Mersey Waters Enterprise Zone as shown
on the map published on HM Treasury’s website.

“Relevant Local Enterprise Partnership” means the Liverpool Local Enterprise
Partnership responsible for applying to HM Treasury for the Relevant

Designated Assisted Area to be designated a designated assisted area.
1.4 References to an Act of Parliament, statutory provision or statutory instrument
include a reference to that Act of Parliament, statutory provision or statutory

Page 87

instrument as amended, extended or re-enacted from time to time and to any
regulations made under it.
2. CRITERIA TO DESIGNATE A DESIGNATED ASSISTED AREA
The Relevant Local Enterprise Partnership applied to HM Treasury for the Relevant
Designated Assisted Area to be designated as a designated assisted area on the
basis of various criteria previously set out by HM Treasury, including the following:
(a)

The Relevant Designated Assisted Area must be in an assisted area, being an
area granted assisted area status by virtue of Article 107(3) of the Treaty on
the Functioning of the European Union.

(b)

The Relevant Designated Assisted Area must be in an Enterprise Zone.

(c)

The Relevant Enterprise Zone must have a clear aim of attracting a small
number of large, capital intensive companies.

(d)

The ability to demonstrate why first-year allowances will be of greater benefit
to the companies locating within the Relevant Enterprise Zone than nondomestic rates discounts.

(e)

The Relevant Non-Domestic Rates Discount Area will be significantly smaller
in the Relevant Enterprise Zone than it would otherwise have been but for the
proposed designated assisted area.

(f)

There is an economic link between the Relevant Designated Assisted Area and
the Relevant Non-Domestic Rates Discount Area. For example, the Relevant
Non-Domestic Rates Discount Area may be the location for businesses which
form the supply chain for businesses in the Relevant Designated Assisted
Areas.

(g)

There is reasonable level of detail provided to explain the expected levels of
investment in the Relevant Designated Assisted Area.

(h)

There has been previous interest by the Relevant Local Enterprise Partnership
in first-year capital allowances and an explanation of the importance of them
for the success of the Relevant Enterprise Zone.

Page 88

3.

THE RELEVANT DESIGNATED ASSISTED AREA

3.1 Having considered the Relevant Local Enterprise Partnership’s application, and
bearing in mind the purpose of Enterprise Zones and the incentives proposed to be
made available for businesses locating in Enterprise Zones, HM Treasury has
concluded that offering first-year capital allowances in the Relevant Designated
Assisted Area would be material to the success of the Relevant Enterprise Zone and
will be of greater benefit to the businesses locating within it than non-domestic
rates discounts.
3.2 Accordingly, HM Treasury intend to designate that the Relevant Designated
Assisted Area is a designated assisted area.
3.3 The Authority will endeavour to ensure that the Relevant Designated Assisted
Area is developed in a way which is consistent with the application made by the
Relevant Local Enterprise Partnership and the criteria outlined in paragraph 2 of this
Memorandum of Understanding, in particular with regard to the nature of
development and levels of expected investment, including by the Authority using
planning simplification measures such as Local Development Orders.
3.4 In fulfilling the endeavour described in paragraph 3.3 above, HM Treasury
expects the Authority to place particular importance on the following:
(a)

the targeting of large capital intensive companies which anticipate making a
significant investment of qualifying expenditure during the period of five
years, starting in April 2012, such that first-year allowances will be of greater
benefit to the companies locating within the Relevant Enterprise Zone than
non-domestic rates discounts; and

(b)

the targeting of new businesses involving new primary production (rather than
those servicing existing activities) including manufacturing, as these may be
considered more likely to stimulate regional economic growth. Where existing
businesses are expanding but are eligible for first-year allowances the
Authority will ensure that expansion will lead to additional growth and job
creation.

Page 89

IN WITNESS of which this Memorandum of Understanding has been duly entered into
by the Parties.
SIGNED for and on behalf of HM Treasury
Signature.............................................
Signature................................................
Name ...........................

Name...................................................

Position .....................

Position.............................................

SIGNED for and on behalf of [name] Council
Signature.............................................
Signature................................................
Name ...........................

Name...................................................

Position .....................

Position.............................................

Page 90

SCHEDULE

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET
12 MARCH 2015
SUBJECT:

RESIDENTIAL / NURSING FEE SETTING PROPOSAL

WARD/S AFFECTED:

ALL

REPORT OF:

GRAHAM

HODKINSON,

DIRECTOR

OF

ADULT

SOCIAL SERVICES
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO

COUNCILLOR CHRISTINE JONES

HOLDER:
KEY DECISION?

YES

1.0

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

To report the outcome of consultation with care home providers with regard to
2015-16 residential and nursing home fees.

1.2

To recommend the fees for 2015-16.

2.0

BACKGROUND

2.1

Wirral care homes are a mix of purpose built homes and adapted large private
houses. The Council’s strategy remains as having to focus on setting fees that
maintain capacity and ensure that a range of provision is available, including
suitable provision for people with dementia. The Council is not seeking to
encourage growth in general residential provision as there is currently overcapacity
in the residential market. The Council has invested in the development of viable
alternatives such as extra care housing and community services, such as
Intermediate care to delay the need for long term care. Care home fees are set
with due regard to providers’ actual costs, the Council’s duty to achieve best value
and reflect a fair cost of care in addition toother local factors.

2.2

The proposal is calculated using the Efficient Wirral Care Home model, as used in
the last two years and further refined based on provider feedback. The model aims
to make due allowance for actual costs and market returns. It is intended to
calculate a fair and reasonable weekly rate for the four different categories of care
home placement.

2.3

The consultation process used to arrive at the proposal has built upon the
comprehensive work of recent years rather than seeking a new approach. The
model agreed in 2014 has been revisited taking account of new factors.
Engagement with providers has taken place as follows:



21st January 2015: Initial meeting with Wirral Care Homes Association
(WCA) to discuss process, time frames and approach.
30th January 2015: Provider Forum at Hulme Hall, Port Sunlight, to outline
the proposed fee rates and time frame for consultation.

Page 93

1





2.4

30th January 2015: Circulation of proposed fee rate to all providers.
30th January 2015 – 20th February 2015: Consultation period for providers to
comment on model.
4th March 2015: Proposed fees and considerations of comments shared
back with providers.

The rates offered in the proposal are summarised in the table below. It should be
noted the 2015-16 proposals are based on forecasts of future costs. Wherever
possible authoritative and independent sources have been relied on including HM
Treasury, Office of National Statistics (ONS), and the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors (RICS).
Summary of 2015-16 Care
Home Fee Proposal
2013-14
2014-15
2015 -16 Proposed
Change 2014-15 v 2013-14

Residential Residential
EMI
£397.00
£430.00
£402.00
£444.00
£412.00
£449.00
+£10.00
+£5.00

Nursing*
£433.00
£436.00
£453.00
+£17.00

Nursing
EMI*
£451.00
£456.00
£469.00
+£13.00

2.5

The rates offered in the proposal are rates for older people’s provision. Mental
Health and Learning Disabilities residential fees are dealt with separately. An
additional £3 per resident week has been added to the Residential EMI rate, in
order to incentivise growth in this area.

2.6

Appendix 2 shows how rates paid to care homes by Wirral in 2014-15 compare to
other North West social services authorities. Comparisons are not available for
2015-16 because other authorities have not yet set rates.

2.7
3.0

RELEVANT RISKS

3.1

The Council has shared the fee model and actual cost comparisons with providers.
It has responded to the issues raised during the consultation period reflecting on the
proposed changes and stating the reasons for its decisions. Accordingly the final
proposal is reasonable and well considered.

3.2

The Council has maintained a considered balance between fair cost of care and
local factors, quality and meeting need. It seeks to ensure quality standards are
maintained whilst at the same time working to achieve best value.

4.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1

Not applicable.

5.0

CONSULTATION

5.1

Of the 78 homes consulted with, feedback was received from 13 homes.
sources of comments were:

Page 94

The
2

Comment
The difficulty and cost of recruiting
registered general nurses (RGN’s)
is a major concern for providers,
who feel they are not being
adequately compensated for this.

The allowance for training costs is
insufficient.

Repairs/maintenance/materials
costs have all increased in the last
12 months.

There is a greater use of agency
staff than is allowed for in the
model.
Providers have expressed concern
that the model fails to adequately
cover their potential future costs,
post-October 2015, when the new
National Minimum Wage becomes
effective.
Care hours per client have
increased, due to health & cognitive
degeneration.
Only increasing Domestics’ Salaries
& Wages in line with the NWM fails
to account for the requirement to
maintain a differential between
domestics’ pay and the pay of other
staff.

No. of
Response
responses
Providers’ concerns have been noted
and raised with colleagues in Wirral
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG);
3/13
notification of the new (2015/16)
Funded Nursing Care (FNC) rates will
be released shortly, by the Department
of Health.
Inflation has been applied to the
training allowance in the model. The
Council believes that the allowance of
£188 per candidate per year is
1/13
appropriate. Adults Social Care and
the CCG also fund and support
training events in statutory areas such
as safeguarding and Deprivation of
Liberty (DoLS).
The council has used the latest Build
Cost Information Service (BCIS)
lifecycle costs (2014/15 Q3) to inform
its
setting
of
the
3/13
fabric/services/decoration elements of
the fee, and therefore believes that the
amount provided for in the model is
appropriate.
The Council’s model currently provides
for an agency usage allowance of
2.0% of care assistant shifts and an
1/13
agency premium of 100% on the
hourly rate, to cover the costs of
agency.
The model currently allows for a 1%
increase on all salaries and wages, in
line with inflation, effective from 1st
7/13
April. The Council will consider any
potential detrimental impact on homes,
when final confirmation of National
Minimum Wage is received.
Care hours per client have been kept
the same as in the 2014/15 model, as
no evidence has been received to
4/13
suggest that this is unrepresentative of
the levels of support being provided in
the market.

3/13

Page 95

1% has been added to all salaries and
wages, in line with inflation.

3

Why does the Council use
Consumer Price Index (Y) (CPIY),
rather than Consumer Price Index
(CPI), as the indicator of inflationary
price increases?

2/13

The 1% allowance for insurance
costs in the model is insufficient, as
insurance costs have risen sharply
(over 40%) in the last 12 months, as
a result of increased CQC scrutiny.

10/13

Registered General Nursing rates
have increased from ~£12/hr to
~£14/hr.

5/13

Stationery and office supplies have
increased in cost.

3/13

The average rate paid by councils
for residential care is £512 per
resident.

1/13

The LaingBuisson model indicates a
floor rate of £554/wk and £591/wk
for Resi and Resi EMI respectively.

1/13

Care Quality Commission (CQC)
Registration fees are between
£1,300 and £1,900 per year.

4/13

Page 96

CPIY uses the same basis as CPI, but
strips away the distorting effect of
indirect taxes, such as VAT. As there
has been no change to the VAT rate
over the last 12 months, CPI and CPIY
increases over the last year have both
been the same (1%).
The Council’s proposed model, based
on a typical 37 bed care home
operating at 95% occupancy, provides
for a reduced figure of £6.5k per year
for insurance costs, which the Council
consider to be adequate compensation
for any increase in a home’s insurance
premiums.
Providers’ concerns have been noted
and raised with colleagues in Wirral
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG);
notification of the new (2015/16)
Funded Nursing Care (FNC) rates will
be released shortly, by the Department
of Health.
The Council has applied an inflationary
uplift of 1% to all other non-staff
expenditure, which is consistent with
the increase in CPIY from Nov ’13 to
Nov ’14.
£512 rate has been taken from a
national statistics report for all
England, and is not representative of
the regional market. Wirral Council
has also made investment in Extra
Care Housing as an alternative to
residential care provision.
The LaingBuisson Model, on which the
‘floor’ rates are based, is based on a
‘Fair Fee’ model, rather than the
‘Actual Cost of Care’, which is what
the Council is required to reimburse.
The LaingBuisson model is based on
increasing capacity in the market and
creating new builds by corporate
providers. This is not the intention of
the Council.
The Council’s model provides over
£6.5k per year to a typical-sized care
home, to cover registration costs and
the cost of Disclosure & Barring
Service (formerly Criminal Records
Bureau) checks.
The Council
therefore believes that care homes are
appropriately compensated in this
4

Providers have requested that the
Council assess the financial viability
of paying staff at the Living Wage,
rather than the lower rate currently
in the model.

1/13

Waste disposal costs are £4.07 per
resident week.

1/13

Food prices have risen by 17%
since 2008

3/13

Numerous claims that the Council is
“obliged to cover all our costs if you
wish us to provide our beds to you.”

3/13

Claims that “…fees have not been
increased by Wirral… for many
years now.”
Claims that fees “…have remained
the same since 97/98.”
Various requests for a specific
increase in rate in the range of £50£70, per week.
The Council didn’t increase its fees
in 2014/15 to cover the points from
Alison
Castrey’s
letter
from
February 2014.

1/13
2/13
6/13

6/13

It is wrong of the Council to remove
the £7.09/wk incentive from EMI
providers.

1/13

There is no differential between
non-staff general expenditure on
general care and EMI provision.

1/13

Page 97

area.
Working towards the Living Wage
remains an aspiration of the Council.
Increasing the fee to accommodate
the Living Wage in 2015/16 would
increase expenditure by £3m.
The Council’s model currently provides
for waste disposal at £3.45 per
resident week. Although this is lower
than example provided by the
responder, there is no indication of
whether these costs are reflective of
the market costs in general, or an
isolated outlier.
The Council’s proposed model allows
£26.34/resident week for food. This is
considered to be an appropriate
allowance.
The Council is obliged to cover care
homes’ costs of care; depending on
how each particular home operates,
this may be different to a care home’s
total costs.
The Council has increased its fees
each year, to reflect the increasing
cost of care to providers. The Council
has a duty to consider Actual Cost of
Care, local factors and Value for
Money when setting its fee rates.
The Council has already responded to
the points made in Alison Castrey’s
letter, explaining how we differ from
her opinion on the fee rate.
The Council did not incentivise its EMI
providers, as claimed, therefore the
responder is misguided to think that
such an incentive has been removed
in the proposed model. The general
residential model was decreased by
£7.09 in 2014/15, but this has been
reinstated in 2015/16 proposed model,
which is why general residential
receives a greater increase in this
year’s model than residential EMI.
The Council has followed the
approach taken by LaingBuisson in
their Fair Price for Care Model (6th
Edition), which also draws no such
differentiation between general care
and EMI care.
5

The percentage
figure is too low.

pension

costs

2/13

3% increase to Return on Business
Activity for nursing care does not
cover the cost of the renovations
required to meet new CQC
requirements.

1/13

Utility
costs
have
significantly since 2008.

5/13

increased

Handymen aren’t paid at the
National Minimum Wage; they cost
at least £10/hr.

1/13

The 1% figure in the model for pension
costs
represents
the
minimum
employer’s contribution to comply with
their statutory requirement to offer a
workplace pension scheme. This will
rise to 3% by 2018, therefore this
figure may, potentially, increase in
future years.
The Return on Business Activity is
£109k for residential care and £144k
for nursing care, which the Council
believes is sufficient to cover any
additional renovations required to
properties.
These calculations are
based on figures provided by the
Office of National Statistics (ONS)’s
Annual Business Survey.
CQC
requirements haven’t changed in the
last 12 months.
Fees are reviewed on an annual basis.
The allowances for utilities in the
proposed model are based on the
latest available Build Cost Information
Service (BCIS) figures (2014 Q3).
Handymen are covered within the
‘Weekly gardening cost’ allowance in
the model , which allocates 10 hours
of service per week, at £15.45/hr.

6.0

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

6.1

There are no direct implications for voluntary, community and faith organisations.

7.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS

7.1

The cost of additional provider payments in implementing the proposal is £0.7m in
2015-16. This can be contained within the inflation growth allocated to Adults for
2015-16 in the proposed 2015-16 budget

7.2

The fees paid by Adults are used to determine client financial contributions in
accordance with CRAG (Charging for Residential Accommodation Guide) issued by
the Department of Health and local CRAG discretions as approved by the Cabinet.
It will be necessary to revise the financial assessments of all clients in care home
placements. Some clients’ financial assessments will not increase in line with the
fee increase. It is not expected there will be any significant variation in assessed
client contributions.

Page 98

6

8.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1

There have been a number of high profile judicial review cases where it has been
held that local authorities have made unlawful decisions on care home fees e.g.
because they have failed to conduct appropriate consultation, or have set arbitrary
costs or costs to meet budget targets.

8.2

Under section 21 of the National Assistance Act 1948 (“the Act”) and the Directions
made under it and LAC 93 (10), the Council has a duty to arrange accommodation
for adults who by reason of age, illness or disability or any other circumstance are in
need of care and attention. The Care Act 2014 creates a free standing duty to
promote wellbeing when the Council is carrying out care and support functions.
The council has had regard to the wellbeing principle during the formulation of the
residential nursing fee proposal.

8.3

The National Assistance Act (Choice of Accommodation) Directions 1992 allows the
Council to fix a maximum amount or “usual cost” that it is prepared to pay for
particular types of residential care. Paragraph 3(b) states that the individual should
be accommodated at a place of their choice (known as preferred accommodation)
provided making arrangements at the individual’s preferred accommodation would
not require the Council to pay more than they would expect to pay having regard to
the individual’s assessed needs.

8.4

Statutory guidance given by the Department of Health in Circular LAC (2004) 20
provides that ‘in setting and reviewing their usual costs, councils should have due
regard to the actual costs of providing care and other local factors. Councils should
also have due regard to Best Value requirements under the Local Government Act
1999. Such requirements include the discharge of the Council’s functions having
regard to efficiency and economy. The Care Act 2014 places a duty on the Council
to promote effective care home provision and in accordance with that duty the
Council has had regard to the actual cost of good quality care.

8.5

The Council is required to pay the amount it costs to meet the individual’s objectives
set out in the needs assessment and care/support plan [less any means tested
contribution]. The Council is not required to pay more than it would expect to pay,
having due regard to assessed needs. More than one cost should be set where the
cost of meeting specific needs is different. In accordance with the Care Act 2014
the Council has had regard to the actual cost of good quality care and has ensured
that particular types of accommodation reflect a fair cost of care.

8.6

In setting its fees the Council must comply with its duty under Section 149 of the
Equality Act 2010 to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, and
advance equality of opportunity amongst elderly and disabled persons. The
Council’s Equality Impact Assessment should therefore focus on the likely impact of
its proposed fees on the quality of care for the elderly and disabled differentiating
where appropriate between different groups and defining any steps that mitigate
any possible adverse consequences e.g. closures of homes.

9.0

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

Page 99

7

9.1

The potential implication of the proposal has been reviewed with regard to equality
and the Equality Impact Assessments are included.

10.0

CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

10.1

None.

11.0

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

11.1

There are no planning implications arising directly from this report.

12.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

12.1

It is recommended that cabinet support the new fee rates as set out in this paper in
section 2.5.

13.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

13.1

Annual fee setting for the residential sector is critical to ensuring appropriate levels
of provision are available at an acceptable standard for the people of Wirral.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Jacqui Evans
Head of Transformation
Telephone: (0151) 666 3938
email: jacquievans@wirral.gov.uk

A1 – Fee Comparisons
Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment
REFERENCE MATERIAL
.
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

Cabinet - Fees for Residential and Nursing Home Care

March 2014

Cabinet - Fees for Residential and Nursing Home Care

November 2013

Cabinet - Fees for Residential and Nursing Home Care

20 December 2012

Cabinet - Fees for Residential and Nursing Home Care

18 October 2012

Cabinet - Fees for Residential and Nursing Home Care

2 February 2012

Cabinet - Fees for Residential and Nursing Home Care

11 March 2011

Page 100

8

General Residential (£/wk)
500.00

Residential EMI (£/wk)

General Nursing (£/wk)

Nursing EMI (£/wk)

600.00

600.00

600.00

500.00

500.00

500.00

400.00

400.00

400.00

300.00

300.00

300.00

200.00

200.00

200.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

450.00

400.00

350.00

300.00

250.00

200.00

Page 101

150.00

100.00

General Residential
Council
Rate (£)
Barnsley
369.39
Sefton
393.00
Bolton*
397.27
Oldham
399.50
Wirral
402.00
Doncaster
414.71
Sunderland
430.00
North Tyneside 433.21
Tameside
459.00

Residential EMI
Council
Rate (£)
Barnsley
399.86
Doncaster
431.48
Bolton*
440.85
Oldham
441.50
Wirral
444.00
Sefton
445.00
North Tyneside 448.93
Tameside
462.50
Sunderland
550.00

General Nursing
Council
Rate (£)
Barnsley
369.39
Bolton*
397.27
Oldham
399.50
Sefton
405.11
North Tyneside 433.21
Doncaster
434.67
Wirral
436.00
Tameside
490.21
Sunderland
550.00

le
y
Bo
lt o
n*
O
ld
ha
m
Se
N
or
f
to
th
Ty n
ne
s id
e
W
i rr
a
D
l
on
ca
st
e
r
Ta
m
es
id
Su
nd e
er
l an
d

Ba
rn
s

le
y
Bo
lt o
n*
O
ld
ha
m
Se
N
or
f
t
o
th
Ty n
ne
s id
e
D
on
ca
st
er
W
i rr
al
Ta
m
es
id
Su
nd e
er
l an
d

Ba
rn
s

W
i rr
Do a l
nc
as
te
Su
r
nd
N
e
r
or
la
nd
th
Ty
ne
s id
e
Ta
m
es
id
e

B
ar
ns

le
y
Se
ft o
n
Bo
lt o
n*
O
ld
ha
m

0.00

Ba
rn
sl
Do ey
nc
as
te
r
Bo
lt o
n*
Ol
dh
am
W
i rr
al
Se
N
or
f
t
o
th
Ty n
ne
s id
e
Ta
m
es
id
Su
e
nd
er
la
nd

50.00

Nursing EMI
Council
Rate (£)
Barnsley
369.39
Bolton*
440.85
Oldham
441.50
Sefton
447.11
North Tyneside 448.93
Wirral
456.00
Doncaster
486.41
Tameside
512.71
Sunderland
550.00

Comparison with CIPFA Benchmarking Club
Res/Nurs Fee Rates 2014/15
General Residential
Council
Rate (£)
Barnsley
369.39
Sefton
393.00
Bolton*
397.27
Oldham
399.50
Wirral
402.00
Doncaster
414.71
Sunderland
430.00
North Tyneside 433.21
Tameside
459.00

Residential EMI
Council
Rate (£)
Barnsley
399.86
Doncaster
431.48
Bolton*
440.85
Oldham
441.50
Wirral
444.00
Sefton
445.00
North Tyneside 448.93
Tameside
462.50
Sunderland
550.00

General Nursing
Council
Rate (£)
Barnsley
369.39
Bolton*
397.27
Oldham
399.50
Sefton
405.11
North Tyneside 433.21
Doncaster
434.67
Wirral
436.00
Tameside
490.21
Sunderland
550.00

Nursing EMI
Council
Rate (£)
Barnsley
369.39
Bolton*
440.85
Oldham
441.50
Sefton
447.11
North Tyneside 448.93
Wirral
456.00
Doncaster
486.41
Tameside
512.71
Sunderland
550.00

*Bolton Council's fees are set for a two-year period; the figures
in this table were effective from Apr-13 and have recently been
replaced with a new fee rate, covering Apr-15 to Mar-17.

Page 102

Page 103

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET
13 MARCH 2014
SUBJECT:

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE
INTEGRATION.
ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE
COMMISSIONING AND DELIVERY OF
SOCIAL CARE

WARD/S AFFECTED:

‘ALL’

REPORT OF:

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR FAMILIES AND
WELLBEING

RESPONSIBLE

PORTFOLIO

CLLR CHRISTINE JONES

HOLDER:
KEY DECISION?

YES

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 Closer integration of health and social care has been a central driver within National
policy. It is underpinned by the Better Care Fund and remains a key theme in the
‘Five Year Forward View’, which states that the NHS will need to “take decisive steps
to break down the barriers of how care is provided”. Locally, the Vision 2018
programme has been established to provide a health and social care sector response
to the significant system wide pressures in Wirral and the £150m reduction in
collective resources by 2018. It is clear that a greater sense of collaboration between
commissioners is vital in responding to these challenges and creating a cohesive
whole system of care.
1.2 Work on the BCF business case, and agreements in relation to key commissioning
priorities have shown the value of very close collaboration. The level of collaboration
and joint strategic decision making can be further improved by integrating the
commissioning response working effectively across the health and social care
economy. To this end colleagues from Wirral CCG and Adult Social Care have been
working closely together to explore how the above organisations can work together in
greater alignment, moving towards full integration over time, specifically in the areas of
joint commissioning, quality assurance and commissioning support arrangements.
1.3 In addition to the drive to integrate commissioning arrangements, a key workstream
under Vision 2018 has focussed on creating a model for the full integration of
community Health and Social care teams based within the constituency model. The
Integrated Co-ordinated Care Teams will fulfil the delivery functions carried out by
social workers and nurses to offer a fully integrated response to meeting people’s
needs more effectively providing a range of flexible responses closer to home and with
a focus on avoiding unnecessary hospital admissions.

Page 105

1.4 The purpose of this report is to outline progress that is being made towards greater
integration of both leadership and management arrangements across health and adult
social care, specifically focusing on commissioning and quality assurance, and the
operational delivery of social work and support planning. The changes are being
made in the interests of providing a single cohesive approach across health and social
care services to benefit the people of Wirral and to use resources more effectively.
2.0

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1 Commissioning Integration
The ambition of the two organisations is to move towards full integration, building on
the positive work to date to proactively collaborate, share and align resources where it
makes sense to do so. It is recognised that a pragmatic approach is necessary as an
interim step. To this end, a number of areas of work have been identified where this
collaborative approach can be tested in practice. These are:











Build upon the collaboration reflected in the Better Care Fund plan by
commissioning a range of community services focussed on supporting people
effectively in their local communities avoiding unnecessary Hospital admissions and
facilitating rapid return home.
Develop an integrated urgent care strategy
Develop an integrated joint commissioning strategy for older people
Agree a cohesive approach to commissioning residential and nursing care.
Develop and implement a joint commissioning strategy for those with complex needs
including learning disabilities
Develop and implement a joint commissioning strategy for mental health.
Develop a strategy for people with Autistic spectrum disorders
Further develop and implement the existing carer support strategy
Ensure that service specifications for integrated operational delivery services reflect
the requirements of the population and key priorities of the Council and the CCG

2.2 Commissioning managers from both organisations are currently working on very
similar projects. By aligning commissioning teams in these areas, there is an
opportunity to develop a single vision and work programme, thereby eliminating
duplication where it exists. This will require an assessment of skill sets to ensure
talent and experience is maximised. Staff from both organisations will require the
flexibility to operate with authority on behalf of both organisations having a clear remit
that they are working on behalf of and to the benefit of both organisations, not just
their primary employer.
2.3 In Governance terms the Joint Strategic Commissioning Group (its membership
already consisting of senior managers and leaders from both organisations) will
oversee this work and act as the body that monitors progress and outcomes. This
Group can also ensure that there is a shared vision across organisations and that
outcomes are fully aligned to Health and Wellbeing Board priorities. Formal reports on
policy changes will come to both the Council and CCG as appropriate.

Page 106

2.4 By adopting this approach, expected outcomes would be:












2.5

Clarity of vision, developed through public engagement undertaken jointly, and the
ability to jointly articulate this vision to Wirral residents
A single, joint commissioning strategy for areas such as older people, mental health
and advocacy for people with complex needs, and for carers
A single provider framework and commissioning gateway, to ensure clarity for
providers and a single cohesive approach that offers assurance on value for money
Developing and shaping the care market through a single market management
strategy, with commissioners working together to shape the market, thereby
reducing the likelihood of placement breakdown, or people being placed
inappropriately out of area.
Enhanced capacity to provide Quality Assurance across the care sector and to
measure and report on outcomes to support the review of commissioned services
Reduced risk that things will be done twice by different members of staff
Greater clarity for patients
A move towards pooled budgets where this will deliver significant gains.
Operational integration of community learning disability teams
Operational integration of social workers into mental health teams
Moving towards the formal stages of commissioned Integrated Community Care
Teams
The development of Integrated Community Care Teams
The key changes set out in relation to commissioning, will enable Adult Social
Services to further separate commissioning and delivery functions. This opens the
door towards greater integration of operational delivery of social care and nursing
services alongside social work services.
In relation to the integration of community teams, a specification is in development
this sets out how services can be delivered much more effectively to the people of
Wirral by bringing nursing services and social care services together based on the
Constituency footprint. This fits very closely to the broader vision for Wirral as set
out in Vision 2018, and is built around compliance with the new requirements of the
Care Act 2014.
The specification includes;





A focus on admission prevention and early discharge through flexible and
responsive community services.
The establishment of four co-located health and social care teams working within
the constituency, working alongside integrated discharge arrangements at the
Hospital.
A coordinated urgent community response within 4 hours.
A coordinated timely response for routine need within 48 hours.

Taken together, these outcomes will bring both organisations closer to truly
integrated services; offer a more effective customer journey, based on people only
needing to tell their story once in order to get a timely and effective response.

Page 107

2.6

Next Steps.
If the above proposals are acceptable, then staff alignment can begin immediately.
It is proposed that the Director of Adult Social Services assumes the
management/leadership of staff in the aligned functions when working in these
defined areas. This would include the Head of Partnerships (CCG) the Head of
Urgent Care (CCG) and Head of Transformation (WBC).
Should it be agreed by cabinet that the proposal can be progressed further to a more
formalised agreement, clearly defined governance arrangements and a
management agreement will be put in place as agreed by both organisations. This
will be required to reflect joint accountability across both organisations for the
statutory duties related to the role of the Director of Adult Social Services who will
assume a leadership role across both organisations.
In relation to the developing ICCT’s the service specification is being developed
across three key organisations. The Wirral University Hospital Trust, the Wirral NHS
Community Trust, and Adult Social Care. It is envisaged that this will form the basis
of a formal alliance contract for 2016. It is important to state that alternative delivery
models will be explored with the relevant organisations during the financial year
2015 to 2016 taking into account the key messages contained within the 5 year
forward view document. Staff Consultation will form a core part of any consideration
reading future delivery models.
Future considerations
If this proposal is acceptable, this will provide the foundation for further alignment
and integration. In particular:







The development of pooled budgets
Further alignment of commissioning teams
Joint appointments
Co-location
Sharing of support functions such as Business Intelligence and Finance
Consideration of alternative service delivery models

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS
3.1 Performance across the health and social care system is closely linked to demand.
This is particularly the case in relation to acute care. Key changes set out in this
document relate to plans to use community resources more effectively across the
whole system to reduce demand on the acute sector. It is possible however that
demand continues to increase.
4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
4.1 No change would be an option, but it would not deliver the opportunities identified in
relation to using resources effectively across organisations and ensuring that NHS
resources assist the Council to fulfil statutory responsibilities in relation to care
provision

Page 108

5.0 CONSULTATION
5.1 The 2013 “What Really Matters Consultation included the key proposal to integrate
health and social care by 2016.
During 2014 a number of Vision 2018 public events were held in Wirral. Proposals for
ICCT’s formed a core part of proposals presented to the public; the emerging
specification includes key priorities as reflected in this consultation
During January to March 2015 Adult Social Services are consulting on an Asset
Based Assessment approach focussing on Care Act changes to assessment and
emphasising people’s independent living skills and abilities.
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
6.1 No specific impact, although commissioning decisions will be made across health and
social care rather than separately with pooled budget arrangements to follow.
7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS
7.1 None specific at this time outside of the formal agreement relating to the better Care
Fund. Outcomes for the pooled fund and specific schemes have been agreed through
both cabinet and the Health and Wellbeing Board these will be reflected through the
Section 151 Health Act Flexibility Agreement referred to below.
8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
8.1 The former Section 256 used to transfer funds to the Local Authority is a formal legal
agreement. A similar model will be required to set out formal agreements for pooled
fund within a Section 151 Health Act Flexibility agreement setting out specific risk
share agreements.
9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
9.1 None specified overview report only. Consideration of EIA will be given to specific
service proposals. The new assessment framework has been subject to an Equality
Impact Assessment.
10.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
10.1 Cabinet is asked to note the direction of travel towards greater integration in relation
to; the commissioning and quality assurance of health and social care, and the direct
delivery of social work support planning and community nursing services
Specifically it is recommended that Cabinet support the formation of a formal
Management Agreement between the CCG and the Council setting out how in
practical terms the Director of Adult Social Care will fulfil statutory duties through
working across both organisations to drive more effective commissioning outcomes in
the areas set out in this report. This will be subject to further discussions with Legal
and HR Services.

Page 109

It is recommended that Cabinet support the next steps as set out in section 2 including
the further development of the specification for the operating model for the integrated
teams, including the aims and objectives for integrated community services.

11.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
11.1 The proposal is in line with national policy. It supports the aims of closer integration
across health and social care in terms of both commissioning and service delivery. It
will contribute to delivering greater value across health and social care as a whole
system.
REPORT AUTHOR:

Clare Fish
Strategic Director Families & Wellbeing
Telephone: (0151 691 8234)
Email: Clarefish@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Page 110

Agenda Item 10
WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET
12th MARCH 2015
SUBJECT:

REPORT ON OUTCOME OF
CONSULTATION ON PROPOSAL TO
AMALGAMATE PENSBY HIGH SCHOOL
FOR BOYS AND PENSBY HIGH SCHOOL
FOR GIRLS

WARD/S AFFECTED:

All

REPORT OF:

Director of Childrens Services

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO
HOLDER:

Councillor Tony Smith

KEY DECISION?

Yes

1.0

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

This report advises the Cabinet of the outcomes of the consultation process which
has taken place in regard to the amalgamation of Pensby High School for Boys and
Pensby High School for Girls, as agreed at Cabinet on 6th November 2014. This
report describes the responses, and makes recommendations with regard to
statutory proposals in this area.

2.0

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1

In May 2010, the two Pensby secondary schools entered into a hard Federation,
enabling the two schools to work together more closely under a single governing
body led by a single headteacher, building on the existing joint sixth form
arrangements, helping to safeguard viable secondary education for both girls and
boys in Pensby as rolls fall in forthcoming years.

2.2

In Autumn 2014, the governing body of the Pensby High Schools federation
approached the Council to begin a formal consultation on the amalgamation of the
two schools to form a single establishment.

2.3

On 6th November 2014, Cabinet approved a six week public consultation be held on
the proposed amalgamation of Pensby High School for Boys and Pensby High
School for Girls, through closure of Pensby High School for Boys, and changing the
gender intake of Pensby High School for Girls to form a mixed sex secondary
school in Pensby. This report gives the outcome of the consultation and makes a
recommendation for the next stage of the statutory process.

3.0

The Consultation

3.1

In order for all stakeholders to have access to relevant background information and
have the opportunity to comment and respond, the following methods of
consultation have been employed :

Page 111

a)

A range of documentation has been produced and distributed (See Appendix
1) This comprised:
(i) The consultation leaflet was sent to parents of pupils at Pensby High
School for Boys and Pensby High School for Girls; to staff and governors
at both schools; to the Central libraries, local libraries, and relevant
community centres, one stop shops and children’s centres.
(ii) Local primary schools from which children would be likely to attend either
school were provided with consultation leaflets and a poster, and asked
to advertise the consultation in their internal newsletters.
(iii) all other statutory consultees, including the Diocesan bodies, trade union
representatives, and neighbouring authorities, were notified by e-mail

b)

The consultation was advertised on the Council’s consultation website, and
via in an advert in the Wirral Globe. The website provided access to all the
information produced in paper form and allowed e-mail responses to a
dedicated e-mail address.

c)

A meeting was arranged for all interested stakeholders, which was hosted at
Pensby High School for Girls on 21st January 2015. The meeting began with
a short presentation on the overall position and the reasons for the
consultation, followed by around ninety minutes of time for audience
comments, feedback and questions. The meetings were attended by
parents, carers, staff and governors. The meeting was chaired by the
Director of Children’s Services. The date for the meeting was in the parents’
leaflets and on the specific web-site, in the posters provided to other schools
and community centres etc., and in the general notice which was published
in the local press.

d)

Opportunities have been provided for other means of response.
Submissions have been received in paper and e-mail formats – all of which
will be made available before and at the Cabinet meeting, in addition to the
summaries contained in this report.

3.2

The consultation process and the presentation of Council and school data to this
wider audience does appear to have persuaded most people of the need to reduce
the number of school places in Pensby, although understandably some
respondents have expressed concerns about the impact of the change to a mixed
sex school.

3.3

In addition to the detail set out below, a summary of views put forward during the
consultation period are attached as Appendix 2, bringing the responses from the
meeting together with any points raised in written or e-mail submissions to the
Council.

4.0

Outcome of the Consultation

4.1

There were several key themes in the combined responses from consultees:


Falling rolls



Educational standards and quality of provision



Concern for the building and site



Disruption to education



Financial

Page 112

4.2



Choice of single sex education



The consultation

Responses to the consultation
The next section of the report contains a summary of comments on the proposal in
relation to each school. Numbers on roll are from the January 2015 School Census
unless specified otherwise.
47 written responses to the consultation were received. The consultation meeting
was attended by 26 people (23 parents, 3 others), 7 of whom also responded in
writing to the consultation.
Responses
Pensby Boys
Pensby Girls
Both schools
Other

Total
17
13
12
5

Parent
15
13
4
1

Staff

Governor

Others

6
0

2
0

0
4

40 of the 47 respondents were in favour of the amalgamation, although some minor
concerns were expressed (see below). The seven respondents who were against
the amalgamation identified themselves as parents of children attending the current
Girls school, comprising 54% of the respondents with a sole connection to this
school.
Respondents with a direct connection either to Pensby High School for Boys, or to
both schools, were universally in favour of the amalgamation, albeit with some
minor concerns in some cases.
Generally, respondents indicated that they understood the falling rolls situation, and
articulated their respect for school staff in their skills and relationships with pupils
and parents.
Respondents supporting the amalgamation expressed views in relation to improving
and enhancing existing good practice and quality of provision, sharing excellence
with all pupils across both schools, broadening the curriculum and providing choice
for pupils, a greater degree of academic challenge and also work appropriate to
pupils needs available within a larger year group, as well as highlighting the
importance of maintaining a secondary school in the Pensby area.
4.1

Commentary on these responses

4.2

Falling rolls
At the recent peak in 1999, there were 836 boys and 844 girls attending, 1680 in
total (including sixth form). In January 2015, following a long term falling roll, there
are now 380 boys and 510 girls, totalling 890 pupils. The combined capacity of the
two schools is 1,750 places. The school is currently 51% occupied.
Over the same time period, the number of pupils attending Hilbre High School and
Woodchurch High School (mixed sex schools) in West Wirral has increased, going
against the Wirral-wide trend for falling secondary pupil numbers. Projections
indicate that the total roll at Pensby should rise from 2016 onwards, in line with an
increasing number of pupils moving through from primary schools, to approximately
923 total pupils in 8 years time, however this is still far below the capacity of the two
schools in the current state.

Page 113

Some respondents asked if the rising roll moving through from primary schools had
been considered. The Wirral roll will not rise to the extent projected in some other
parts of the country.
2005

2015

2023
(projected)

Total
(boys
girls

pupils 1610
and

890

923

Total places

1750

1750

1750

% occupancy

92%

51%

53%

Table shows number of boys and girls at the Pensby secondary schools ten years ago, now and in 8
years time. Total places includes Sixth Form (250 places). Projections to 2019 are based on current
pupils moving through the school, the staying on rate for Sixth Form, and a three year average of
parental preference for Year 7, adjusted for the rising roll.

One respondent asked if the Council could reduce the number of places offered at
grammar schools so that more pupils would go to non-selective schools. The
admission number of a secondary school is set according to the Net Capacity of the
building, within a band with a minimum and maximum range. All grammar schools
on Wirral are now Academy schools, and whilst the governing body may choose to
set their admission number at a lower or higher point within the Net Capacity band,
it is not within the remit Council to do so. There is a presumption that popular and
successful schools can expand, and it is unlikely that reducing the admission
number (except for accommodation related reasons) would be supported by the
Schools Adjudicator.
The impact of parental choice for Neston High School in Cheshire was also raised
as a reason why the roll may have fallen. The impact of non-Wirral schools such as
Neston High School, is a factor in parental choice, mainly in the Heswall area,
however this remains relatively constant from year to year.
No pupils should be displaced by the proposal, although a small number of parents
may wish to consider places at other schools should the proposal be approved.
4.3

Educational standards and quality of provision
Respondents from both schools valued and praised the excellent work carried out
by staff. The following paragraphs set out the position at the two schools.

4.3.1 Ofsted
Ofsted last inspected Pensby High School for Girls in October 2013, where it was
found to be a good school overall, with various areas identified for improvement,
including the sixth form provision and certain elements of lesson planning.
Ofsted last inspected Pensby High School for Boys in October 2014, where it was found to
require improvement. The Ofsted report also recognised that the school was improving in
terms of its vision for standards and attendance.
The Ofsted inspection reports for both schools and the most recent monitoring letter
for the Boys school is available online at reports.ofsted.gov.uk
4.3.2 The future and continuity of school staff was raised. The Federation governing body
is already planning to reduce staffing across the two schools in line with the budget,
for example by allowing fixed term contracts to lapse, and this will take place
whether or not the amalgamation is approved.

Page 114

4.3.3 There is a presumption in the decision maker’s guidance that proposals involving
the closure of schools causing concern should be approved, provided there are
suitable accessible places for the displaced children. There is also a presumption
that proposals which expand provision in popular and successful schools should be
approved.
4.3.4 The intention of the amalgamation is to take the best practice from the two
predecessor schools and to build on it to improve standards and raise ambition and
aspiration. This is supported by the views of the majority of respondents to the
consultation. The amalgamation of the two schools also provides that both boys and
girls living in the local area will have a local school for the future.
4.3.5 Some parents were concerned that about the impact of larger classes following the
amalgamation.
The average size of a class in both the Boys and Girls schools (excluding sixth form
pupils) in 2013, without any merging of boys and girls within classes, was 22 pupils.
However, some classes now have as few as 12 pupils.
In order to be viable, classes generally require 25 to 30 pupils. The school has
continued with the existing single sex classes in Key Stage 3 to date, but it is not
sustainable in the long term. Improved task planning for more able students was
identified by Ofsted in their reports on both Pensby High School for Girls and
Pensby High School for Boys as an area for improvement. As a combined school,
although class sizes in some subjects are likely to increase, there is also greater
scope for differentiating by ability in core subjects such as English and Maths, which
is not currently possible in the existing small single sex classes, where pupils of all
abilities must, by necessity, be educated in the same class.
The Principal indicates that classes that are currently around 12 pupils might
increase to 18 pupils, whilst those of around 22 pupils might increase to 28 or 30
pupils.
4.4

Concern for the building and site
The governing body indicate that they intend to relocate all classes currently
situated in the Boys building, into the Girls building, from September 2015, with the
exception of the music and drama facilities which will remain in the Boys building.
The school will also retain the joint Sports Hall and the entire playing field. There
are no plans to release any part of the site.
One respondent was concerned that the mixed school would lose specialist Sports
College status, however the additional funding attached to the Specialist Schools
programme came to an end in 2010. Another was concerned that the science
laboratories in the Girls building were smaller than in the Boys school and this
would impact on learning. The average size of the laboratories in the Girls building
is 83m2, slightly above the average size of Boys laboratories at 80m2, which is
unlikely to make a significant educational difference.

4.5

Disruption to education
Some parents were concerned about the impact of mixed sex teaching on children
and young people, in particular for those who would be entering Y11 in September
2015.
The school has already merged most curriculum option groups in Years 10 and 11.
In those subjects that are not already merged, amalgamation will allow more
differentiation (setting or streaming) by ability, and will allow the school to offer a
wider range of curriculum options.

Page 115

The move to mixed sex teaching for Y11 would be managed by careful transition
planning, for example pupils could begin the new timetable for the last few weeks of
Y10, with team building exercises and keeping friendship groups together so that
pupils are already familiar with each other at the start of Y11.
A few parents were concerned that teaching boys and girls together would be
disruptive, specifically to girls education, due to concerns about poor behaviour by
boys. All schools have a behaviour policy setting out the principles of expected pupil
behaviour, inside and out the classroom. The majority of pupils in Wirral attend a
mixed sex school, and Wirral teaching staff are used to managing pupil behaviour,
including encouraging positive behaviour and dealing with incidents in an
appropriate manner.
4.6

Financial
Some respondents requested clarification on the financial position of the schools,
and asked why this had become an issue. It was asked if the amalgamation would
save money for the Council.
The principle way in which schools are funded is on the number of pupils on roll.
Salaries and associated staff costs make up the largest proportion of the overall
budget of any school. As the number of pupils on roll falls, the budget falls
accordingly and the governing body of the schools need to make difficult decisions
in order to balance the budget and it becomes increasingly difficult to provide a
broad and balanced curriculum with appropriate staffing. The Federation was
established in 2010 in order to assist with the financial issue by allowing staff to be
employed across the two federated schools under a single structure, and Pensby
High Schools Federation has set a balanced budget for 2014/15, however this has
only been possible by the use of reserves totalling £350,000.
By the end of 2016-2017 there may be a deficit in excess of £1.5 million in total.
This is the result of a number of factors – falling rolls, a small sixth form with
reduced funding levels from previous years, flat budgets with no inflationary
increases, and high staff costs.
The proposed amalgamation would not by itself directly resolve the Federation’s
financial issues, however as a single school with a single budget, there is far more
opportunity for the governing body to reduce duplication and create efficiencies in
many areas, and to put into place the appropriate number of staff to operate the
new merged teaching timetable.
The school also intends to occupy the Girls building and a small part only of the
Boys building, which will reduce the overall costs to the school budget for cleaning,
caretaking, heating and lighting etc.
Closing or amalgamating schools does not result in any saving to the Council (see
10.5 below).
Cost of uniforms
Some parents were concerned that with a new name, the mixed sex school would
require new uniforms to be purchased.
The governing body indicate that they would expect the Student Council to be
involved in choosing the new uniform, which will be kept as simple as possible. In
the short term following amalgamation, it may be possible for the school to provide
all parents with a new badge to apply to existing uniform garments.

4.7

Choice of single sex education

Page 116

Some parent responders had specifically chosen single sex education, whilst others
had chosen the Pensby schools because they were local to home, or for various
other personal reasons.
It should be borne in mind that if there were sufficient local parents requesting
single sex education, the two schools would be viable. Some respondents thought
the school should advertise to recruit more pupils. The Principal’s view is that the
expense of advertising reduces funding to spend directly on pupil’s education.
One respondent said that children achieve better in single sex schools, however
there is little evidence that single-sex education is a significant advantage to either
girls’ or boys’ academic achievement compared with co-educational schools. Other
factors, including quality of teaching and learning, prior attainment, student
engagement, social background and family support, are probably more important in
how young people achieve at secondary school.
Should the proposal be approved, whilst there would no longer be a single sex nonselective school in the West Wirral area, there remain single sex non-selective
schools in the Wallasey (boys and girls) and Birkenhead (girls only) areas which
parents may wish to consider.
4.8

The Consultation
Some respondents thought that the consultation could have been more widely
advertised, and that the decision had already been made.
The Council’s consultation process meets the requirements set out by guidance and
is given in more detail in section 3. The statutory process requires that if the
decision is to proceed to the next stage, there is then a further four week
representation period for further comments to be made on the proposals (see 7.1
below)

4.9

Other factors to be considered by decision makers
The Department for Education provides guidance for decision makers on changes
to school organisation. Guidance points not already covered elsewhere in this
report include:


Admission arrangements

The admission policy of the mixed sex school will follow the Wirral policy for
community secondary schools, and will comply with the Admissions Code, the
Wirral Co-ordinated Scheme and all associated guidance. The admission
number of the school would be reduced from 300 (both schools together), to 150
initially.


National Curriculum

As a community school, the mixed sex school will follow the National Curriculum


Equal opportunity

Amalgamating the two schools provides equal opportunity of access for boys in
the local area to a local school, which would not be the case if the Boys school
were to close without an associated change of intake for the Girls school, or vice
versa.


Community cohesion and services

All community use, for example of the sports facilities, will be maintained in the
amalgamated school. The school will also investigate whether enhanced

Page 117

community access can be offered to the portion of the Boys building that is no
longer in use by the school.


Travel and accessibility

All pupils currently on roll at both schools will transfer automatically to the mixed
school as at 1st September. Whilst some parents may wish to transfer to an
alternative school, the impact on home to school travel is expected to be
minimal.


Capital – see 10.0 below.



Rural schools – The Pensby schools are not defined as rural schools. This
guidance point does not apply.



Early Years and Nursery schools – There is no Early Years provision that
would be affected. These guidance points do not apply.



Balance of denominational provision – The mixed school will remain a
community school if the proposal is approved.

5.0

RELEVANT RISKS

5.1

Should the two schools remain separate within the Federation, both will be subject
to a budget in line with the number of pupils on roll, which is significantly below the
budget for previous years. This is likely to have an impact on teaching and
standards, and may result in the closure of one or both schools.

6.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

6.1

None.

7.0

CONSULTATION

7.1

Consultation has taken place in accordance with statutory guidance (see section
3.1).

7.2

If the decision is to proceed to the next stage where statutory notices are published,
the statutory notice would be followed by a four week representation period in which
there is a further opportunity for consultees to respond prior to any final decision
being made. The outcome of the representation period would be reported to
Cabinet, who are the decision maker.

8.0

OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS

8.1

None.

9.0

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

9.1

None.

10.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS

10.1

The Council’s bid to the Education Funding Agency for capital funding to refurbish
the Pensby High School site was recently rejected. If this proposal is approved
following the statutory processes, there is likely to be a requirement for the
allocation of local capital in order to facilitate the transition to a single school,

Page 118

including renewed signage and other small capital projects. However, the proposal
to amalgamate the two schools does not rely on the availability of capital in order to
proceed.
10.2

The redistribution of funding released by school reorganisation goes towards raising
aspirations and narrowing the attainment gap for vulnerable groups.

10.3

Any capital works will be subject to the appropriate relevant national and local
planning legislation.

10.4

An amalgamated school is likely to require a new staffing structure for the existing
staff. There is therefore potential for future school redundancy costs.

10.5

There are no savings for the Council from the change proposed for consultation.
Amalgamation would eventually return the closed school Lump Sum of £100,000
into the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for re-distribution to all schools through the
budget formula (2014-2015 figures). Under the new School Funding Guidance for
2015-16, an amalgamating school is entitled to receive 85% of the two Lump Sums
in the first year (£170,000 total lump sum). The document now makes provision for
this to be extended to 2 years if the LA applies for this exceptional factor.

11.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

11.1

The consultation complies with all statutory guidance.

12.0

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

12.1

Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?
(a)

Yes and impact review can be found via the following link:

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversitycohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-april-2014/eias-families-wellbeing
13.0

CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

13.1

None.

14.0

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

14.1

None.

15.0

RECOMMENDATION/S

15.1

That statutory proposals be published in respect of the following linked proposals:
1)

The closure of Pensby High School for Boys from 31st August 2015

2)

A prescribed alteration to the gender intake of Pensby High School for Girls
from 1st September 2015.

3)

That the Director of Children’s Services be authorised to take all necessary
steps to publish these proposals and ensure the prescribed procedures are
followed in furtherance of the proposals.

Page 119

16.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

16.1

No one closes schools lightly. Officers are required to offer clear advice as to
appropriate action in order to spend public money wisely and ensure all Wirral’s
children benefit equitably from the funding available. The recommendations will
ensure best value for the future generations of children in this area of Wirral, and
more equitable spending for the benefit of all Wirral’s pupils, from the savings
made.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Sally Gibbs
Principal Officer Admissions and School Place Planning
telephone
(0151) 666 4487
email
sallygibbs@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Consultation leaflet
Appendix 2 – Summary of responses to consultation
BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
School Organisation – Maintained Schools – Guidance for Decision Makers
Ofsted inspection reports on Pensby High School for Boys and Pensby High School for
Girls
BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY
Briefing Note

Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

Cabinet

6th November 2014

Page 120

Page 121

Consultation on the amalgamation of
Pensby High School for Boys and
Pensby High School for Girls
January - February 2015

INTRODUCTION
Consultation on the amalgamation of Pensby High
School for Boys and Pensby High School for Girls

Page 122

In May 2010, the two Pensby secondary schools entered into a hard Federation,
“The Pensby High Schools Federation”. This enabled the two schools to work
together more closely under a single governing body led by a single headteacher,
building on the existing joint sixth form arrangements, helping to safeguard viable
secondary education for both girls and boys in Pensby when rolls were falling.
In September 2014, the Governing body of the Pensby High Schools Federation
approached the Council to ask to begin a formal consultation on the amalgamation
of the two schools to form a single mixed sex school in Pensby.
The reasons given by the Governing body were:
• The impact the decrease in pupil numbers in each school is having on providing
the broadest curriculum offer, the best teaching and learning and therefore
outcomes for students;
• Numbers across both schools have fallen and will not increase to the pupil
admission number of 150 for each school in the foreseeable future if at all;
• The current numbers in each school mean the schools on their present separate
but adjacent sites are ﬁnancially unsustainable.
A six week public consultation is therefore being held on the proposed
amalgamation of Pensby High School for Boys and Pensby High School for Girls.
This document sets out the reasons why we have considered such a possibility
and asks for your views.
Council’s Cabinet will review the responses from parents, staff, the Local Authority,
Unions, local residents and local schools in a report later this year. At that point
Council’s Cabinet will decide whether to continue to the next stage, which is for
statutory notices to be published, or to take no further action.
This consultation document is divided into a number of sections:
1. The Introduction, which explains more about the two schools, what a
Federation is and why we are proposing it
2. The Proposal
3. The Consultation - timeline and date of meeting
4. Some questions answered
5. Having your say - How to respond

About the two schools
Pensby High School for Boys is a
single sex, non-selective community
secondary school with places for 867
boys aged 11 to 18. In Autumn 2014
there were 420 pupils on roll.
Pensby High School for Girls is a
single sex, non-selective community
secondary school with places for 883
girls aged 11 to 18. In Autumn 2014
there were 566 pupils on roll.
The two schools are located side by
side on Irby Road, Heswall, Wirral. The
admission number of each separate
school is a maximum of 150 in Year 7.
In May 2010, the two Pensby
secondary schools entered into a hard
Federation: “The Pensby High Schools
Federation”, enabling the two schools to
work together more closely under a
single governing body led by a single
headteacher, building on the existing
joint sixth form arrangements. This was
intended to help to safeguard viable
secondary education for both girls and
boys in Pensby as rolls continued to fall
in the forthcoming years.

Why are we considering
amalgamation? What are the
benefits?
The number of pupils in Wirral
secondary schools is falling and will
continue to do so for a number of
years. Not all areas of Wirral are being
affected in the same way, but there are
signiﬁcantly fewer children in the
Pensby school community. Both
schools are already experiencing
falling rolls and with this, decreasing
budgets. If this is left unresolved it will
result in a narrowing curriculum
entitlement and reduced opportunities
for pupils.
The number on roll at each school
has reduced signiﬁcantly and the
reduction is expected to continue for
the foreseeable future. By 2019, over
half the places in the two schools are
expected to be empty.
2004

2014

2019*

Total pupils
(boys and
girls)

1619

987

808

Total places

1750

1750

1750

% occupancy

93%

56%

46%
* projected

Table shows number of boys and girls at the
Pensby secondary schools ten years ago, now
and in 5 years time. Total places includes
Sixth Form (250 places). Projections to 2019
are based on current pupils moving through
the school, the staying on rate for Sixth Form,
and a three year average of parental
preference for Year 7.

THE PROPOSAL

Page 123

This matters because the main way in
which schools are funded is on the
number of pupils on roll. The current
numbers in each school mean the
schools as separate establishments are
ﬁnancially unsustainable.
Amalgamation will enable the mixed sex
school to make best use of resources,
thereby gaining economies and
efﬁciencies of operation and further
driving up educational standards.
As already happens at Key Stage 4
and in the sixth form, courses that
would not be viable in one school alone
can be run for students in both schools,
thus providing greater choice and
improving curriculum opportunities.
As a single, larger school, the
Governing body believe that there are

The simplest route to amalgamation is
to propose to close one of the two
schools, combined with a linked
proposal to change the gender intake of
the remaining school from single sex to
mixed sex. All pupils currently on roll at
the closed school would transfer
automatically to the roll of the remaining

more opportunities to provide a broader
curriculum, the best teaching and
learning and therefore outcomes for
students.

school, if that is what they wish. The
Governing Body can then agree a
suitable new name for the mixed sex
school.
a) It is proposed to close Pensby High
School for Boys as a separate
establishment from 31st August
2015.
b) The gender intake of Pensby High
School for Girls would change from
girls only, to co-educational (mixed
sex), with effect from 1st
September 2015.
c) The Governing body would agree
a suitable new name for the
co-educational school.
d) The admission number for the new
school would be 150.

THE CONSULTATION TIMELINE AND MEETING DATES
Start of Consultation

Wednesday, 7th January 2015

Consultation meeting at
Pensby High School for Girls

Wednesday, 21st January 2015

End of Consultation

Friday, 20th February 2015

Cabinet Report

Expected March 2015

Publication of notices
(if decision is to proceed)

Expected May 2015

Cabinet

Expected June/July 2015

The consultation meeting begins at 7pm, and is expected to last approximately
two hours.

SOME QUESTIONS ANSWERED

Page 124

Q. What will this mean for
admissions?
A. All pupils who are on roll at the Boys
and Girls schools on 1st September
2015 would automatically transfer to
the register of the co-educational
school. Any requests for transfers to
alternative secondary schools would be
processed according to the usual
admission arrangements and the
availability of places.
The admission of pupils to 11 to 16
at the co-educational school will be
made through the Council as the
admission authority, just as now.
Admission to the sixth form will
not alter.
Q. What will this mean for lessons
and classes?
A. Sixth form lessons and many Key
Stage 4 classes are already taught in
mixed classes.
In the co-educational school, boys and
girls in all year groups would be taught
together in all classes and subjects,
except Physical Education (PE) and
some PHSE classes.

The Joint Sixth Form provision and
existing collaboration between the
Pensby Sixth Form and other local
schools and colleges will continue.
Q. How will staff be affected?
A. All existing staff are employed by the
Pensby High Schools Federation and
can work or be instructed to work
in either the Boys or Girls school. If
the proposal was approved, their
employment would be transferred to the
governing body of the co-educational
school.
Q. Why is Pensby High School for
Boys being closed and not the Girls
school?
A. The Pensby High School Federation
governing body have indicated that
their preferred route would be that
the Boys school is proposed for
closure, combined with a change in
gender intake (and name) for the Girls
school. This is a technicality as the
amalgamation could be carried out the
other way round.

Q. Is this about saving money?
A. Within the Federation, the schools
have separate budgets which does not
support the sharing of resources across
the two schools as effectively as
would be the case with a single budget
and also requires separate ﬁnancial
management and accounting processes
to be carried out.
Part of each school’s budget is a
ﬁxed Lump Sum. Amalgamation would
eventually return the closed school’s
Lump Sum back into the Dedicated
Schools Grant (DSG) for re-distribution
to all schools through the budget
formula. An amalgamating school is
however entitled to receive 85% of the
two Lump Sums in the ﬁrst year after
amalgamation. This could be extended
to 2 years if the Council applies for this
exceptional factor.

An amalgamated school is likely
to require a new stafﬁng structure for
the existing staff. There is therefore
potential for future school redundancy
costs.
There are no savings for the Council
from the proposed amalgamation.
Q. Aren’t single sex schools better?
A. There is little evidence that single-sex
education is a signiﬁcant advantage
to either girls’ or boys’ academic
achievement compared with coeducational schools.
Other factors, including quality
of teaching and learning, prior
attainment, student engagement, social
background and family support, are
probably more important in how young
people achieve at secondary school.

HAVING YOUR SAY -

Pensby High School Amalgamation
Consultation Feedback Form

HOW TO RESPOND
All written representations should be
marked “Pensby High School
Consultation” and sent to:
The Director of Children’s Services,
Children & Young People’s Department,
Hamilton Building
Conway Street
Birkenhead
CH41 4FD

What do you think?
You can write on your own, or you can
join together with other people to write
a joint letter. Your comments can be
sent by post, through the school, or by
email. If you ﬁnd it helpful, you can
complete and return the feedback form
provided.

We look forward to seeing you at the
meeting and reading your responses.

Please let us know the main relationships you have with the school(s) by putting
a tick in the appropriate box or boxes. You might be a parent and a member of
staff, for example.
School

Parent

Member
of staff

Governor

Other
Person

Pensby High School for Boys
Pensby High School for Girls

Or emailed to:
secondaryplaces@wirral.gov.uk
by FRIDAY 20th FEBRUARY 2015

Other (please say which one)

Do you agree with the proposal to amalgamate Pensby High School for
Boys and Pensby High School for Girls? Tick one box only.
Yes

The Governing bodies of Pensby High
School for Girls and Pensby High
School for Boys would really like to hear
your views. We look forward to seeing
you at the meetings and reading your
responses.

No

Comments: Please use this space for your comments. You can write more on
another sheet if you need to.

Please note: In order to ensure that this process is fully open and transparent, other people
will be able to read all the responses to this consultation.
Continued overleaf...

#

Page 125

We aspire to be World Class schools
providing
World
Class
learning
opportunities for every young person.
The Council and the Governing body
of the Pensby High Schools Federation
believe that amalgamation will build
on the opportunities realised from
the Federation
including: sharing
best practice, improving curriculum
opportunities and sharing resources, all
of which will have a positive impact in
supporting learning to further raise
achievement and standards.

...Continued

Please tell us your name and address, postcode and email address if you
have one. We will not use your personal information for anything other than
this consultation.
Name:
Address:
Postcode:
Telephone:

Email:

All written representations should be sent to:

Page 126

The Director of Children’s Services
Children and Young People’s Department
Hamilton Building
Conway Street
Birkenhead
CH41 4FD
Marked ‘Pensby High School Consultation’
OR by email to secondaryplaces@wirral.gov.uk

The closing date for all comments is:
FRIDAY 20th FEBRUARY 2015

#

Page 127
683Dec14JH

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 2
Summary of responses by school
Falling rolls


Understand rolls are falling and surplus places are high



Standards cannot be sustained when rolls are falling



Understand the demographic issues and reasons why change is
necessary



We lose a lot of children to Neston High School because it is a mixed
school



The birth rate will rise again



If you focussed on single sex more pupils would come here



Could you advertise to get more pupils here



Council has not supported the Federation



Council should reduce the admission number at the grammar schools



Neston High School is making Wirral primary schools a feeder school

Educational standards and quality of provision


Standards are improving year on year at both schools



Concerns about loss of Sports specialism



Concerns about the impact of amalgamation on GCSE results



Grammar schools cream off the best pupils



Pupils who struggle at grammar school should come here instead



Will staff be lost?



Can’t see how the merger would cause standards to drop



The proposal will strengthen teaching and learning



Boys school is excellent in some areas



Best practice will be able to be shared across all pupils



Staff and expertise can be shared across the two schools



Better choice of subjects with larger school



Boys and girls will be able to compete with each other



No difference in standards between single and mixed sex schools



Concerns that class sizes would rise

Building and site


Sports fields should not be sold for housing



Surplus space in the Boys building could be used for community
purposes



Science labs are smaller in the girls building

Page 129

Disruption to education


Concerns about disruption to education in Key Stage 4



Change should not be at the expense of children’s education



Could you start merging with Year 7 and leave other year groups as
they are?



Children are very worried about the amalgamation



Girls are now worrying about make-up and boys which will distract
them from their studies



They will not be able to keep the same form tutor through to Y11



Boys are badly behaved and will disrupt girls

Financial


This is all about selling the land to make money



Will pupils have to have a new uniform?



How much is the budget shortfall?

Choice of single sex education


Failure to act puts both schools at risk



You have known about this for years, why is it only happening now



Proposal is a lifeline to Pensby Boys at the expense of Pensby Girls



Taking away parental choice for single sex education in this area



Both schools should stay open as small schools



I am hoping the school will be merged by September because I want a
mixed school



Only practical solution



Need a school in the local area we can walk to



Children will adapt



Rather have a mixed school than go to any other school



We should have known about this when we were choosing secondary
school options

The Consultation


No point opposing the proposals because the decision has already
been made



Consultation should have been better and wider



Disappointed by low turn out at meeting, reminders should have been
sent out



How do we capture the views of the majority who will be in favour of
the merger?

Page 130

Agenda Item 11
WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET
12th MARCH 2015
SUBJECT:

Admission arrangements for community and
voluntary controlled Primary and secondary
schools and coordinated scheme for 20162017

WARD/S AFFECTED:

All

REPORT OF:

Director of Childrens Services

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO
HOLDER:

Councillor Tony Smith

KEY DECISION?

Yes

1.0

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

This report invites the Cabinet to determine the Authority’s admission arrangements
for community and voluntary controlled primary and secondary schools and the
coordinated schemes for 2016-2017. This is a statutory requirement.

2.0

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1

The Authority is required to determine admission arrangements for community and
voluntary controlled primary and secondary schools. The New School Admissions
(England) Regulations (2003) also require the Authority to have in place a
coordinated scheme for admissions to all primary and secondary schools including
Academy schools, in 2016-17. The proposed schemes are attached along with
proposed admission numbers for community and controlled schools (Appendices 1
and 2).

2.2

No responses to the consultation were received.

2.3

Subsequent to the commencement of the Wirral consultation on 26th November
2014, on 19th December 2014 the Department for Education issued a new version
of the statutory guidance on school admissions, replacing the previous version
dated 2012. Relevant sections of the Wirral co-ordinated schemes have therefore
been updated accordingly in line with the new Code. For example, all paragraphs
which previously referred to Statements of Special Educational Needs now also
include reference to the new Education Health and Care Plans.

3.0

RELEVANT RISKS

3.1

It should be noted that the relevant co-ordinated schemes and the Fair Access
Protocol apply to all Wirral primary and secondary schools, including Academy
schools. A Voluntary Aided primary school and a Community primary school have
already made the conversion to Academy status. This additional emphasis on the
importance of school governing bodies to understand and apply the Admissions

Page 131

Code, Wirral co-ordinated scheme and FAP correctly and fairly, otherwise schools
will be open to challenge both at parental appeal and by the School’s Adjudicator
and/or Secretary of State.
3.2

Failure to determine the admission arrangements by 15th April of the preceding year
would contravene the 2014 Admissions Code and associated guidance.

4.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1

None.

5.0

CONSULTATION

5.1 Consultation on the co-ordinated scheme has taken place with all Wirral schools,
other relevant admission authorities and all statutory consultees.
5.2 For information, in relation to future years, the new School Admissions Code 2014
has amended the consultation timetable for all admission authorities to bring forward
key dates within the year. Under the 2012 Code which applies to the current
consultation, the consultation on changes to admission arrangements took place for 8
weeks between 1st November and 1st March of the year before the arrangements
applied. From 2015 onwards, the consultation period is reduced to 6 weeks, between
1st October and 31st January.
The date by which the arrangements must be determined has been amended from
15th April to 28th February. These admission arrangements must then be published on
the Council’s website by 15th March, formerly 1st May. Consequently, the deadline for
objections against the admission arrangements to the Schools Adjudicator has also
been brought forward from 30th June to 15th May.
6.0

OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS

6.1

None.

7.0

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

7.1

None.

8.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS

8.1

The Fair Access Protocol requires a Local Authority Clerk to organise Fair Access
Panels, prepare paperwork and disseminate Panel decisions to parents and
schools. The cost of this is met from the Admissions budget which is part of the
overall Schools budget.

9.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The arrangements comply with all statutory guidance.

10.0

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

10.1

Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?

Page 132

(a)

Yes and impact review can be found via the following link:

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversitycohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-april-2014/eias-families-wellbeing
11.0

CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

11.1

None.

12.0

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

12.1

None.

13.0

RECOMMENDATION/S

13.1 That Cabinet agree the proposed admission arrangements for community and
voluntary controlled schools and the Wirral co-ordinated schemes for 2016-2017.
14.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

14.1

There is a statutory requirement to determine admission arrangements.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Sally Gibbs
Principal Officer Admissions and School Place Planning
telephone
(0151) 666 4487
email
sallygibbs@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Scheme for the coordination of admission arrangements for primary schools
2016-2017
Appendix 2 – Scheme for the coordination of admission arrangements for secondary
schools 2016-2017
BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
School Admissions Code 2014
School Admissions Appeals Code 2012
BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY
Briefing Note

Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

Delegated Authority

6th November 2014

Cabinet

13th March 2014

Page 133

Delegated Authority

7th November 2013

Cabinet

14th March 2013

Delegated Authority

7th November 2012

Page 134

Children and Young People’s Department

SCHEME FOR THE CO-ORDINATION OF ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS
FOR MAINTAINED PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN THE WIRRAL AREA
FOR THE ACADEMIC YEAR 2016-2017
This scheme fulfils the requirements for a scheme for co-ordinating admission arrangements
under the School Admission (Co-ordination of Admissions Arrangements) (England)
Regulations 2008, made under the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, for the area
of Wirral Council. It builds on the well established co-ordination of primary school admissions
that have been a longstanding feature of local practice.
The scheme applies to arrangements whereby children are to be admitted to primary schools
in the academic year 2016/17 and for subsequent years, subject to any review.
The co-ordinated scheme applies to all schools, excluding special schools, maintained by
Wirral Council (“the Council”) and to preferences expressed by Wirral resident parents and
carers for schools maintained by other English local authorities (LA), academies and free
schools. Admissions to other schools with independent status are not be covered by this
scheme.

1.0

Applications for school places for admission into Foundation 2 –
the normal admission round

1.1

Wirral Council will act as the co-ordinating authority for all applications. Offers will be
made by the Council, in its role as the home authority, on behalf of the admissions
authority for the school allocated as follows:
Admissions Authority

Category of School

Wirral Council

All

Wirral

community

and

voluntary

controlled schools
Governing body of school

All Voluntary Aided, Foundation, Trust and
Academy schools

Maintaining Local Authority

Non-Wirral

community

and

voluntary

controlled schools
1.2

The admission arrangements for schools maintained by Wirral Council are published
on the Council’s website and in its information booklets, in line with the requirements

Page 135
1

set out in the School Admissions Code (2014). The Council’s information booklets will
be available electronically on the Council’s website from 1 September. Hard copies
will be obtainable by request from the Council from the start of the autumn term.
Admissions arrangements are also available from each school on request.
1.3

All parents who live in the area administered by Wirral Council must apply for places
in maintained and Academy primary schools either in Wirral or in the area of another
Local Authority by completing a Wirral Parental Preference application. On-line
applications are recommended and are made through the Council’s website:
www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions. Parents who are unable to access the online
admission system can request a paper application form from Wirral Council from the
start of the autumn term.
The application (online or paper) provides an opportunity for the parent to:

1.4



apply for up to 3 schools



rank the schools applied for in order of preference

Applications for all schools, including Foundation, Trust, Academy and Voluntary
Aided schools must be included on the application.

1.5

Applications for places sent direct by parents and carers to individual schools cannot
be accepted and must be sent to the Council for inclusion within these arrangements.

1.6

Parents must return online and paper applications to Wirral Council by 15th January
to ensure the allocation of a school place on 16th April or next working day (the
National Offer date). Applications received after the published deadline of 15th
January will be dealt with once the offer of places has been sent to parents on 16th
April or next working day.

1.7

Parents can apply for school places only from the 1st September preceding
admission to Foundation 2, that is, at the beginning of the academic year in which
their child’s 4th birthday falls. Children are normally admitted to school at the
beginning of the academic year in which their 5th birthday falls.

1.8

Deferred entry and part-time places. Parents can request deferred entry or parttime attendance up until their child reaches compulsory school age (the term
following their 5th birthday). The request must be made in writing to the Local
Authority.

Page 136
2

Child’s age 5 birthdate between

First term of compulsory education

1st January and 31st March

Summer term (April)

1st April and 31st August

Autumn term (September)

1st September and 31st December

Spring term (January)

Parents should note that if a summer born child delays entry to the September after
their fifth birthday, the child will ordinarily be expected to enter Year 1, not
Foundation 2.
Parents of children born between 1st April and 31st August who wish to delay their
child’s entry to September, but are intending to request their child enters Foundation
2 rather than Year 1 are advised to apply as usual and to contact Wirral Council prior
to 15th January to discuss options. These requests will be considered on the
circumstances of each individual case and will require agreement from the allocated
school.
1.9

Applications from separated parents. Only one application can be processed for
each child; therefore it is important that both parties in shared custody arrangements
are in agreement over the preferred school(s) named. Where a child spends equal
time with both parents, the child’s main residence should be submitted as their home
address. If agreement cannot be reached, or if neither parent has been granted a
Specific Issues Order in this respect, then the Council will accept the application from
the parent with whom the child is “ordinarily resident”.

1.10

Changes of address. Parents and carers must inform the Council immediately of a
change of address, even if details of a future change of residency were included on
the application form. The Council will require supporting evidence to show that the
place of residency has changed; e.g. a letter from the solicitor confirming the
completion date; a signed rental agreement showing the start of the tenancy and its
duration. In addition further information may be requested – for example, copies of
council tax and utility bills or any other information considered relevant to the
application, including evidence of disposal of previous property. Information and
supporting evidence must be received by 28th February. Proof of residency received
after 28th February will not be used to assign a higher criterion for admission, but will
be used to send the decision letter on the published offer date.

Page 137
3

1.11

Home address. This must be the child’s permanent home address where he/she
lives with a person of parental responsibility as the main carer as defined by the
Children Act 1989. Applicants must not give the address of a business, relative,
childminder, friend, a temporary address or an address to which they hope to move.
The home address must not be where parents have taken out a short term let on a
property solely to use it’s address on the application form without any intention of
taking up permanent residence there. The Council will require proof of residence
which may include proof of sale of a previous property. Wirral Council regularly check
addresses and any deliberate misrepresentation will result in a place being
withdrawn. The Council acts on behalf of all Wirral admission authorities and
reserves the right to request independent confirmation of the child’s place of
residence, as felt appropriate. The Mainstream Admissions team may have to share
the information provided with other departments of the Council in order to verify the
authenticity of pupil’s addresses.

1.12

Withdrawal of places. The Council has the right to withdraw any place offered on
the basis of a fraudulent or intentionally misleading application.

2.0

Dealing with Applications

2.1

The Council’s admissions criteria will be applied to rank the order of priority of each
application for community schools and voluntary controlled schools.

2.2

The Council will provide Academy and Voluntary Aided Schools with details of those
preference forms which include an application for their school by 16th February.

2.3

Preference ranking will not be shared with school admission authorities in
accordance with paragraph 1.9 of the School Admissions Code 2014 as this cannot
lawfully be used when applying oversubscription criteria.

2.4

The Governing Bodies of Academy and Voluntary Aided schools will rank each
application by applying the school’s admission criteria and notify the Mainstream
Admissions team of their ranking by 28th February.

2.5

Where a pupil is eligible to receive an offer of two or more school places then the
Council will allocate the highest priority preference.

Page 138
4

2.6

The Mainstream Admissions team will notify the Governing Bodies of Academy and
Voluntary Aided primary schools of those pupils who will be allocated places at their
school by 9th April.

2.7

In March the Council will inform other Local Authorities of any pupils who are not
resident in Wirral and to whom the Council can offer places at Wirral schools.

3.0

Determination of applications for Community and Voluntary
Controlled schools

3.1

Allocation of places. Applications for all Community schools and also for Bidston
Village Church of England (CE) Primary School, Holy Trinity CE Primary School
(Hoylake), Millfields CE Primary School and St Bridget’s CE Primary School (West
Kirby) will be determined on the following basis:

3.1.1

All children who have applied before 15th January will be eligible for a place so long
as there is space within the school’s admission number. If there are more
applications than there are places available, then eligibility will be determined in
accordance with the following scheme of priorities:


Children in care, and children who were in care but have been adopted or are
subject to a residency order or special guardianship order (“previously in care”)



Then children who live in the school’s catchment zone in the following priority
order:


Children who already have older brothers or sisters (including half or step
siblings living in the same household) at the school when they are due to start
school. If there are more children with older brothers or sisters at the school
than there are places available, we will give priority to children with the
youngest brothers or sisters at the school. We will also treat a brother or sister
at a corresponding junior school as a sibling. Where there is more than one
applicant with a sibling in the same year group, priority will be given to those
children who live nearest to the school. We measure distances from home to
the school gate nearest to the child’s home using the shortest road route,
unless it is possible to use a footpath which we consider to be a safe walking
route, using the Council’s computerised Ordnance Survey Address Point
based routing system.

Page 139
5



Children who have recently experienced a traumatic family or domestic event
or for whom there are clear medical grounds to support placement in a
particular school. A letter in support from a health care professional will be
required as evidence.



Children who live nearest to the school. We measure distances from home to
the school gate nearest to the child’s home using the shortest road route,
unless it is possible to use a footpath which we consider to be a safe walking
route, using the Council’s computerised Ordnance Survey Address Point
based routing system.

3.1.2

If places remain available, eligibility for children who do not live in the school’s
catchment area will be determined in accordance with the following scheme of
priorities.


Children who already have older brothers or sisters (including half or stepbrothers and sisters living in the same household) at the school when they are
due to start school. If there are more children with older brothers or sisters at
the school than there are places available, we will give priority to children with
the youngest brothers or sisters at the school. We will also treat a brother or
sister at a corresponding junior school as a sibling. Where there is more than
one applicant with a sibling in the same year group, priority will be given to
those children who live nearest to the school. We measure distances from
home to the school gate nearest to the child’s home using the shortest road
route, unless it is possible to use a footpath which we consider to be a safe
walking route, using the Council’s computerised Ordnance Survey Address
Point based routing system.



Children who have recently experienced a traumatic family or domestic event
or for whom there are clear medical grounds to support placement in a
particular school. A letter in support from a health care professional will be
required as evidence.



Pupils who live nearest to the school. We measure distances from home to the
school gate nearest to the child’s home using the shortest road route, unless it
is possible to use a footpath which we consider to be a safe walking route,
using the Council’s computerised Ordnance Survey Address Point based
routing system.

Page 140
6

3.1.3

If places remain available at the school after all “on time” applicants have been
allocated, places will then be allocated to late applications received after 15th January
in date order of receipt up to the school’s admission number. See paragraph 5.0
below.

3.2

Christ Church CE Primary School in Birkenhead shares part of its catchment zone
with two other schools - Woodchurch Road Primary School and Woodlands Primary
School. Priority is given as detailed above in 3.1.1- 3.1.3.

3.3

Aided schools and Academies. Applications for Academy schools and the Catholic
and Church of England voluntary aided schools will be determined by the governing
bodies of these schools in accordance with their published admission criteria.

3.4

Mandatory Allocation. Where it is not possible to allocate a place at any of the
schools applied for, children resident in Wirral will be allocated a place at the nearest
appropriate Wirral school where there are places available. “Appropriate “ means
community school if the parents’ preferences indicate preferences for nondenominational education; or a Catholic school or Church of England school if the
parents indicated a preference for education in a school of that denomination. The
nearest school will be measured on shortest walking distance using the Council’s
computerised Ordnance Survey Address Point based routing system.

3.5

Special Needs. All schools will be required to admit a pupil with a Statement of
Special Educational Needs or Education Health and Care Plan naming the school.

4.0

Offer of Places

4.1

Parents and carers resident in Wirral who have made an online application will be
informed by the Director of Children’s Services of the school allocated by e-mail on
16th April or next working day, if a valid e-mail address has been provided. The e-mail
will also inform the parent of their legal right to appeal to an independent panel and
who to contact to make an appeal.

4.2

Parents and carers resident in Wirral who have submitted a paper application will be
informed by the Director of Children’s Services of the school allocated in writing.
Letters will be despatched on 16th April or next working day, and will be sent by
second class post. The letter will also inform the parent of their legal right to appeal to
an independent panel and who to contact to make an appeal.

Page 141
7

4.3

If places become available before the start of the autumn term, the Council will
allocate them to children whose parents have either lodged an appeal but not been
successful or who have expressed a continuing interest in a place at the school
concerned. Parents can do this by e-mail or by returning the reply slip attached to the
allocation letter. If there are more children interested in a particular school than
places available, the Council will use the same criteria to determine priorities as is
used for the initial allocation.

4.4

All offers of places for schools covered by the Wirral scheme will be issued by the
Council.

5.0

Late applications

5.1

Applications received after the published deadline of 15th January will be dealt with
after the offer of places have been sent to parents on 16th April or next working day.
Wirral Council will send details of late applications for Academy and Voluntary Aided
schools to the governors of the schools concerned by 23rd April or, for applications
received after that date, within five days of receipt.

5.2

Preferences for community and voluntary controlled schools will be dealt with in the
date order they are received by the Council. The Council will allocate places up to the
school’s admission number. If several applications are received on the same day for
the same school, the scheme of priorities given in 3.1.1 and 3.1.2 above will be used.

5.3

Parents will be notified in writing by Wirral Council. The letter will also inform the
parent of their legal right to appeal for any Wirral school and who to contact to make
an appeal. Parents should, where possible, lodge an appeal within 20 working days
of receipt of notification of the outcome of their application.

5.4

Applications for Catholic or Church of England Aided Primary Schools and the
Academy received after the published deadline of 15th January will be determined by
reference to the schools’ published admission arrangements and the governors will
inform Wirral Council of the outcome of the applications. Parents will be notified in
writing by Wirral Council. The letter will also inform the parent of their legal right to
appeal and who to contact to make an appeal. Parents should, where possible, lodge
an appeal within 20 working days of receipt of notification of the outcome of their
application.

5.5

Parents and carers must accept or decline the offer of a late place within 10 working
days of the offer date.

Page 142
8

6.0

Waiting Lists

6.1

If at the end of the Summer Term a school is believed to be full, the Council will close
the procedures and make no more reallocations. However, it may be that places will
become available at the beginning of or during the Autumn Term. The Council will
keep a list of children whose parents have expressed an interest in obtaining a place
at the school if a place becomes available. In August, the Council will write to the
parents of those children included in paragraph 4.3 who have expressed a continuing
interest. This list will be held open during the Autumn Term. Priority on the list for
community and controlled schools will be given to children in accordance with the
criteria given in paragraphs 3.1.1 and 3.1.2. Each added child requires the list to be
ranked again in line with the published admission criteria.

6.2

The Council will contact parents directly if a vacancy does occur. Schools must not
notify parents that a place has become available but must inform the Council in order
that an offer can be made by the home Local Authority. The Council will cease to
hold the Foundation 2 waiting list at the end of the Autumn Term.

7.0

In Year applications outside the normal round of admissions

7.1

‘In year’ applications are those made during the school year into any year group,
other than at the normal point of entry (i.e. the normal admission round). This will
include applications from parents and carers of children moving into Wirral from
another Local Authority area, moving within Wirral, or seeking to transfer to an
alternative school for other reasons.

7.2

Applications for all schools including Academy and Voluntary Aided schools must be
made on a common Primary School Transfer Form. Parents/carers seeking places ‘in
year’ will be advised to complete their ‘home’ Local Authority’s common application
form stating up to three school preferences ranked in priority order.

7.3

Schools should not deal with transfer application forms. Any forms received by
schools should be forwarded to the Mainstream Admissions team in the Children and
Young People’s Department.

7.4

Upon receipt of a transfer request Mainstream Admissions staff will establish whether
or not the parent has discussed the request with the headteacher of the pupil’s
current school. If this is not the case, parents will be advised to contact the
headteacher to discuss their request.

Page 143
9

7.5

If the parents have discussed the request with the headteacher, the transfer request
form will be acknowledged and parents informed that the Mainstream Admissions
team will forward the documentation to their current and preferred school(s).
Requests for transfer in Y6 other than moves from outside Wirral will be discouraged
on educational grounds, but parents have the ultimate right to proceed with the
request.

7.6

The Council will arrange for children in Years 1 and 2 to start at a community or
voluntary controlled primary school in a similar way as Foundation 2 (Reception) age
children. The appropriate year group is determined by the chronological age of the
child.
Key Stage 1 – The Council will offer children places at their catchment school as
long as this will not bring the class size to more than 30, and if the Council cannot
offer an alternative school place within two miles of the parents home address.
The Council will agree a place in an out-of-zone school as long as:
i)

there is room within the admission number; and

ii)

there are not already 30 children in the class.

Where a school, which is below its admission number, has organised its Key Stage 1
into classes of 30 and the only way to admit another child would require the
admission authority to take Qualifying Measures (that is, it would require the school
to provide additional resources in terms of staff and accommodation), these are
grounds on which the Council or other admission authority may refuse an application.
Key Stage 2 – Children are automatically entitled to a place at their catchment
school even though the school may be on or above its admission number.
The Council will agree a place in an out-of-zone school as long as there is room
within the admission number.
7.7

Infant Class Size limit exceptions
There are a limited number of exceptions to the Infant Class Size limit of 30. These
children remain an excepted pupil for the time they are in an infant class, or until the
class numbers fall back to the infant class size limit. They are:


Children with statements of special educational need (SEN) or EHCP admitted
outside the normal admission round

Page 144
10



Looked after children and previously looked after children



Children admitted because of a procedural error made by any admission
authority in the original application process



Children admitted following an appeal upheld by an independent appeals
panel



Children who move into a catchment area outside the normal admission round
for whom there is no other school place within a shortest walking distance of 2
miles



Children of UK service personnel admitted outside the normal admission
round who move into a catchment area



Twins and children from multiple births when one of the siblings is the 30th
child admitted



Children with SEN who are normally taught in an SEN unit attached to the
school or who are registered with a special school, but attend some infant
classes within a mainstream school

7.7

Children of UK service personnel. Places for these children will be allocated in
advance if accompanied by an official letter with a relocation date and Unit postal
address or quartering area address.

7.8

Overseas applications. Parents who have already moved to the UK from overseas
who are British or European Economic Area nationals, or who have an endorsed
passport showing right of abode, can apply for places for their child at any school
covered by this scheme. The Council may ask to see passports for verification.
Parents or children in these categories who do not yet live in the UK can apply before
the date they move to the UK. However, the address to be used in the allocation will
be the address that the child is living at on the closing date, unless a subsequent
house move has been accepted up to the last date for changes in the coordinated
scheme. A UK address will only be used once the child is residing at that address,
and evidence will be required of this, as in paragraph 1.10 of this document.

7.9

Waiting Lists. The Council will not keep waiting lists for places in Year 1 and above.
Parents may wish to contact schools directly to establish whether there is space in
their child’s year group prior to completing an inyear transfer request form. The

Page 145
11

Council will confirm the availability of a place with the school before issuing a formal
offer of a place. Schools must not offer places to parents.
7.10

The Council will provide Voluntary Aided Schools and the Academy with relevant online and paper form preference information for those applications which include a
preference for their school.

7.11

The Governing Bodies of Voluntary Aided schools and the Academy will consider
each application by applying the school’s admission criteria and notify the Council of
their decision within 5 days of receipt of the application.

7.12

Where a pupil is eligible to receive an offer of two or more school places then the
parent’s highest priority eligible preference will take precedence.

7.13

All parents will be informed by the Council of the school place allocated by letter. The
letter will also inform the parent of their legal right to appeal and who to contact to
make an appeal. Parents should, wherever possible, make an appeal within 20
working days of receipt of the letter notifying them of the outcome of their application.

7.14

If the relevant body is refusing admission the Council will write to the parent advising
them that the application has been refused and informing the parent of the legal right
to appeal against the decision. Where a house move from outside the area or within
Wirral is the reason for requesting an in year transfer and none of the preferred
schools are able to offer a place, the Council will, where possible, indicate on the
refusal letter the nearest appropriate school with vacancies at the time of application,
where “nearest” uses the shortest walking distance from the Council’s computerised
Ordnance Survey Address Point based routing system. The letter will also inform the
parent of their legal right to appeal and who to contact to make an appeal. Parents
should, wherever possible, make an appeal within 20 working days of receipt of the
letter notifying them of the outcome of their application.

8.0

Pupils transferring from Infant to Junior Schools

8.1

All children who are on roll at one of the Infant Schools listed below at the time of
transfer from Year 2 to Year 3 are eligible to transfer to the linked junior even if they
do not live in the school’s catchment area. Children who live in the catchment area of
the Junior School are also eligible.
Black Horse Hill Infant School to Black Horse Hill Junior School
Brackenwood Infant School to Brackenwood Junior School

Page 146
12

Greasby Infant School to Greasby Junior School
Overchurch Infant School to Overchurch Junior School
Town Lane Infant School to Higher Bebington Junior school
8.2

Admissions to St John’s Junior School are detailed by the governing body in
accordance with the school’s admission arrangements.

9.0

The Fair Access Protocol

9.1

All requests for in-year places will be considered with reference to the Council’s
current admission arrangements and procedures for in year placements.

9.2

All schools will take part in the Fair Access Protocol, which is published separately.
Schools must respond immediately to requests for admission to school according to
the timescales above so that admission of the pupil is not unduly delayed.

9.3

Children who are looked after and previously looked after, and children with a
Statement of Special Educational Needs or Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP)
naming the school are NOT included in the Fair Access protocol. These children
MUST be placed in the school of their carer’s preference irrespective of the
availability of places in the year group.

9.4

Permanent Exclusions. For pupils who are at risk of permanent exclusion and on
the roll of a Wirral school it is open to the headteacher to refer the child to Gilbrook
Outreach Service or to consider a Managed Move. All such placements will be
initially on a trial basis for a minimum of six weeks. Confirmation of placement or the
school roll will be subject to a satisfactory report.

9.5

Pupils who have been permanently excluded will normally be placed on the roll of
Gilbrook School or WASP (Wirral Alternative School Provision). Schools should
contact the Exclusions Officer as soon as the exclusion has taken place. The
Exclusions Officer will consider whether the pupil can be transferred immediately to
an alternative primary school. Such transfers will be agreed with the parent and
relevant headteacher. All primary schools will take a minimum number of 1, or the
number of permanent exclusions in the previous academic year, as the agreed quota
of permanently excluded pupils for placement.

9.6

The transfer to a school will be monitored at the Wirral Excluded Pupils Monitoring
Panel (WEMP) or equivalent group.

Page 147
13

9.7

Negotiated transfers. For children who are not at risk of permanent exclusion, but
where there are concerns about behaviour or attendance, it is open to schools to
consider a negotiated transfer. This is covered within the Fair Access protocol. All
such placements will initially be on a trial basis for a minimum of six weeks.
Confirmation of placement on the school roll will be subject to a satisfactory report.

9.8

Parents retain their legal right to an appeal for a place at any school of their
preference. This right is not affected by the decision of the Fair Access Panel.

Page 148
14

Admissions Authorities in Wirral
Wirral Council
Community Primary Schools (58)
Voluntary Controlled Primary Schools (4)

The Governing Bodies of:
Academy Schools
Birkenhead High School Academy for Girls (Junior)
Our Lady of Pity Catholic Primary School
Townfield Primary School
Church of England Aided Primary Schools
Christ Church (Birkenhead) CE Primary School
Christ Church (Moreton) CE Primary School
Dawpool CE Primary School
St Andrew’s CE Primary School
St Peter’s CE Primary School
St Saviour’s CE Primary School
The Priory CE Primary School
Woodchurch CE Primary School
Catholic Aided Primary Schools
Christ The King Catholic Primary School
Holy Cross Catholic Primary School
Ladymount Catholic Primary School
Our Lady and St Edwards Catholic Primary School
Sacred Heart Catholic Primary School

Page 149
15

St Alban’s Catholic Primary School
St Anne’s Catholic Primary School
St John’s Catholic Infant School
St John’s Catholic Junior School
St Joseph’s (Birkenhead) Catholic Primary School
St Joseph’s (Upton) Catholic Primary School
St Joseph’s (Wallasey) Catholic Primary School
St Michael and All Angels Catholic Primary School
St Paul’s Catholic Primary School
St Peter & St Paul Catholic Primary School
St Peter’s Catholic Primary School
St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary School
Joint Denominational Aided Primary Schools
Holy Spirit Catholic and CE Primary School
A full list and map is provided in the Council’s information booklets for parents,
available on-line at www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions.
* Status subject to confirmation at time of publication.

Page 150
16

Children and Young Peoples Department

PROPOSED ADMISSION NUMBERS FOR 2016-17
WIRRAL COMMUNITY AND VOLUNTARY CONTROLLED
PRIMARY SCHOOLS

SCHOOL

ADMISSION NUMBER
2016 – 2017

Barnston Primary

45

Bedford Drive Primary

60

Bidston Avenue Primary

60

Black Horse Hill Infant

60

Black Horse Hill Junior

60

Bidston Village CE Primary School

50

Brackenwood Infant

60

Brackenwood Junior

60

Brookdale Primary

30

Brookhurst Primary

30

Castleway Primary

30

Cathcart Street Primary

30

Christchurch CE Primary (B)*

34

Church Drive Primary

44

Devonshire Park Primary

60

Eastway Primary

30

Egremont Primary

60

Fender Primary

37

Gayton Primary

30

Page 151
17

SCHOOL

ADMISSION NUMBER
2016 – 2017

Greasby Infant

60

Greasby Junior

60

Great Meols Primary

60

Greenleas Primary

45

Grove Street Primary

60

Heswall Primary

30

Heygarth Primary

45

Higher Bebington Junior

85

Hillside Primary

30

Hoylake Holy Trinity CE Primary

37

Irby Primary

30

Kingsway Primary

25

Leasowe Primary

30

Lingham Primary

54

Liscard Primary

90

Manor Primary

30

Mendell Primary

30

Mersey Park Primary

60

Millfields CE Primary

30

Mount Primary

48

New Brighton Primary

90

Overchurch Infant

90

Overchurch Junior

94

Page 152
18

SCHOOL

ADMISSION NUMBER
2016 – 2017

Park Primary School

60

Pensby Primary

30

Portland Primary

30

Poulton Lancelyn Primary

60

Prenton Primary

60

Raeburn Primary

60

Riverside Primary

43

Rock Ferry Primary

45

Sandbrook Primary

30

Somerville Primary

75

St. Bridget’s CE Primary

60

St. George’s Primary

110

Stanton Road Primary

45

Thingwall Primary

30

Thornton Hough Primary

25

Town Lane Infant

74

Townfield Primary*

60

Well Lane Primary

30

West Kirby Primary

40

Woodchurch Road Primary

71

Woodlands Primary

44

Woodslee Primary

46

*Note that the status of these (and potentially other) primary schools is subject to change at
time of determination. These tables will be updated accordingly should this occur.

Page 153
19

This page is intentionally left blank

Children and Young People’s Department

SCHEME FOR THE CO-ORDINATION OF ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS
FOR MAINTAINED SECONDARY SCHOOLS IN THE WIRRAL AREA
FOR THE ACADEMIC YEAR 2016-2017
This scheme fulfils the requirements for a scheme for co-ordinating admission arrangements
under the School Admission (Co-ordination of Admissions Arrangements) (England)
Regulations 2008, made under the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, for the area
of Wirral Council. It builds on the well-established coordination of secondary school
admissions that have been a longstanding feature of local practice.
The scheme applied for admissions to secondary schools in the academic year 2016/17 and
for subsequent years, subject to any review.
The co-ordinated scheme applies to all schools, excluding special schools, maintained by
Wirral Council (“the Council”)and to preferences expressed by Wirral resident parents and
carers for schools maintained by other English local authorities, academies and free schools.
Admissions to other schools with independent status are not be covered by this scheme.

1.0

Applications for school places for admission into Year 7 - the
normal admission round

1.1

Wirral Council will act as the co-ordinating authority for all applications. Offers will be
made by the Council, in its role as the home authority, on behalf of the admissions
authority for the school allocated as follows:
Admissions Authority

Category of School

Wirral Council

All Wirral community and voluntary
controlled schools

Governing body of school

All Voluntary Aided, Foundation, Trust
and Academy schools

Maintaining Local Authority

Non-Wirral community and voluntary
controlled schools

1.2

The admission arrangements for schools maintained by Wirral Council are published
on the Council’s website and in its information booklets, in line with the requirements
set out in the School Admissions Code (2014). The Council’s information booklets will

Page 155

be available electronically on the Council’s website from 1 September. Hard copies
are obtainable by request from the Council at the start of the autumn term.
Admissions arrangements are also available from each school on request.
1.3

All parents who live in the area administered by Wirral Council must apply for places
in maintained secondary schools either in Wirral or in the area of another Local
Authority by completing the Wirral Parental Preference application. On-line
applications are recommended and are made through the Council’s website:
www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions. Parents of Year 6 pupils who are unable to
access the online admission system can request a paper application form from Wirral
Council from the start of the autumn term.
The form (online or paper) provides an opportunity for the parent to:

1.4



apply for up to 3 schools



rank the schools applied for in order of preference

Applications for places sent direct by parents and carers to individual schools cannot
be accepted and must be sent to the Council for inclusion within these arrangements.

1.5

Preference forms should be returned to Wirral Council by 31st October to ensure the
allocation of a school place on 1st March or next working day (the National Offer
date). Applications received after the published deadline of 31st October will be dealt
with once the offer of places has been sent to parents on 1st March or next working
day.

1.6

Applications from separated parents. Only one application can be processed for
each child; therefore it is important that both parties in shared custody arrangements
are in agreement over the preferred school(s) named. Where a child spends equal
time with both parents, the child’s main residence should be submitted as their home
address. If agreement cannot be reached, or if neither parent has been granted a
Specific Issues Order in this respect, then the Council will accept the application from
the parent with whom the child is “ordinarily resident”.

1.7.

Changes of address. Parents and carers must inform the Council immediately of a
change of address, even if details of a future change of residency were included on
the application form. The Council will require supporting evidence to show that the
place of residency has changed; e.g. a letter from the solicitor confirming the
completion date; a signed rental agreement showing the start of the tenancy and its
duration. In addition further information may be requested – for example, copies of
council tax and utility bills or any other information considered relevant to the
application, including evidence of disposal of previous property. Information and

Page 156

supporting evidence must be received by 1st January. Proof of residency received
after 1st January will not be used to assign a higher criterion for admission, but will be
used to send the decision letter on the published offer date.
1.8

Home address. This must be the child’s permanent home address where he/she
lives with a person of parental responsibility as the main carer as defined by the
Children Act 1989. Applicants must not give the address of a business, relative,
childminder, friend, a temporary address or an address to which they hope to move.
The home address must not be where parents have taken out a short term let on a
property solely to use it’s address on the application form without any intention of
taking up permanent residence there. Wirral Council will require proof of residence
which may include proof of sale of a previous property. Wirral Council regularly check
addresses and any deliberate misrepresentation will result in a place being
withdrawn. The Council acts on behalf of all Wirral admission authorities and
reserves the right to request independent confirmation of the child’s place of
residence, as felt appropriate. The Mainstream Admissions team may have to share
the information provided with other departments of the Council in order to verify the
authenticity of pupil’s addresses.

1.9

Withdrawal of places. The Authority has the right to withdraw any place offered on
the basis of a fraudulent or intentionally misleading application.

2.0

Dealing with Applications

2.1

The Council’s admissions criteria will be applied to rank the order of priority of each
application for community schools.

2.2

The Council will provide Academy, Foundation, Trust and Voluntary Aided Schools
with details of applicants for their school by 15th January. Details of preferences for a
school place in the area of another Local Authority will be sent to that Authority along
with any details and supporting evidence provided by the parent by 1st January.

2.3

Preference ranking will not be shared with school admission authorities in
accordance with paragraph 1.9 of the School Admissions Code 2014 as this cannot
lawfully be used when applying oversubscription criteria.

2.4

The Governing Bodies of Academy, Foundation, Trust and Voluntary Aided schools
will rank each application by applying the school’s admission criteria and are required
to notify the Mainstream Admissions team of their ranking by 30th January.

2.5

Where a pupil is eligible to receive an offer of two or more school places then the
Council will allocate the highest priority preference.

Page 157

2.6

The Mainstream Admissions team will notify the Governing Bodies of Wirral
Academy, Foundation, Trust and Voluntary Aided schools of those pupils who will
provisionally be allocated places at their school by 13th February.

2.7

When the Council receives from other Local Authorities details of their provisional
allocation for Wirral children seeking places in schools maintained by them, the
Council will then offer the highest preference if they are eligible for more than one
school.

2.8

On 23rd February Wirral Council will inform schools and neighbouring Authorities of
the final allocations. On-line applicants will receive an e-mail notification on 1st March
(or next working day). Paper form applicants will receive a letter posted by second
class post on 1st March (or next working day).

3.0

Determination of applications for Community schools

3.1

Each secondary school has a published admission number. Places will be allocated
up to but not beyond this number.

3.2

All children who have applied before 31st October will be eligible for a place so long
as there is space within the school’s admission number. If there are more
applications than there are places available, then eligibility for community schools will
be determined in accordance with the following scheme of priorities:


Children in care, and children who were in care but have been adopted or are
subject to a residency order or special guardianship order (“previously in
care”)



Pupils who have a medical reason for attending a particular school. A letter in
support from a health care professional will be required as evidence.



Pupils who have a brother or sister of statutory school age (including half or
step-brothers and sisters living in the same household) at the school when the
pupil starts school. If there are more children with older brothers or sisters at
the school than there are places available, we will give priority to children with
the youngest brothers or sisters at the school.



Pupils who live nearest to the school. We measure distances from home to the
school gate nearest to the child’s home using the shortest road route, unless it
is possible to use a footpath which we consider to be a safe walking route,
using the Council’s computerised Ordnance Survey Address Point based
routing system.

Page 158

3.3

If places remain available at the school after all “on time” applicants have been
allocated, places will then be allocated to late applications received after 31st
October according to the admissions criteria, up to the school’s admission number.

3.4

Multiple births. For community schools, where the final place in a year group is
offered to one of twins (or triplets etc.) it will be our policy to admit the other twin
even if that means going above the admission number.

3.5

Applications for Academy, Foundation, Trust and Aided schools will be determined
by the governing bodies of these schools in accordance with their published
admission criteria.

3.6

Mandatory Allocation. Where it is not possible to allocate a place at any of the
schools applied for, children resident in Wirral will be allocated a place at the
nearest appropriate Wirral school where there are places available. “Appropriate “
means community school if the parents’ preferences indicate preferences for nondenominational education; or a Catholic school if the parents indicated a preference
for education in a school of that denomination. The nearest school will be measured
on shortest walking distance using the Council’s computerised Ordnance Survey
Address Point based routing system.

3.7

Special Needs. All schools will be required to admit a pupil with a Statement of
Special Educational Needs or Education Health and Care Plan naming the school.

4.0

Admission to Grammar Schools

4.1

Admissions authorities for the grammar schools in Wirral will allocate places only to
children who have achieved the required standard. If they are over subscribed with
children who have achieved the standard, they will not be able to offer places to all;
they will use other non-academic criteria to decide which children should be offered
places.

4.2

Request for Assessment. Parents who wish their child to be assessed for nonCatholic grammar school education should inform Wirral Council by 31st May in
Year 5 using the Request for Assessment form.

4.4

The Council administers the assessment arrangements for Calday Grange
Grammar School, West Kirby Grammar School, Wirral Grammar School for Boys
and Wirral Grammar School for Girls. The grammar schools have criteria to
determine which children will be given places if more children achieve the standard
than there are places available.

4.5

Parents who wish their children to be assessed for a place at Upton Hall School
FCJ or St. Anselm’s College must follow the procedures for requesting an

Page 159

assessment set out by those schools; those children will be assessed by the
schools themselves.
4.6

The selection tests. The assessment is based on the results of two verbal
reasoning tests that pupils take in September of Year 6. The test does not take into
account what pupils have learnt at primary school. They have been designed to
predict a pupil’s potential performance at secondary school and so preparation for
the verbal reasoning tests is not necessary. However, we will provide familiarisation
materials containing sample questions by 30th June to help children prepare for the
tests. Two practice tests will also take place in September of Year 6 prior to the real
tests.
To ensure that children are not disadvantaged because of their date of birth, in
each case the score is changed by using conversion tables to take account of each
child’s exact age in years and months. The two test scores are then added
together. Children who reach the required score will be deemed to have reached
the grammar school standard.

4.7

Referral to Independent Assessment Board (IAB). In October the Mainstream
Admissions team will inform primary school head teachers of their pupils scores
and the required score for the grammar school standard. The Council will invite
head teachers to make referrals to the IAB on behalf of any children whose test
results do not, in their view, reflect the children’s potential. Since there is a strong
relationship between verbal reasoning scores and potential, these cases will be
quite rare.
In some cases parents may feel that certain factors may have affected the child’s
academic performance (for example, if his or her education has been severely
disrupted because of ill health, change of schools, or any other reason). If this does
apply, it is important that parents should inform their child’s headteacher, in writing,
no later than the Tuesday following the last real test (two working days). If the
child’s case is referred to the IAB, the IAB will consider the written information. The
Council will also refer to the Board the cases of any pupils who have been given
extra time in the tests because of a disability.

4.8

The Board will meet in October before results are sent out to parents, and is made
up of four headteachers (two from primary schools, two from grammar schools) and
is administered by an officer from the Children and Young People’s Department.
None of the Board will have any personal interest in any of the pupils they are
asked to assess.

Page 160

4.9

For each child whose case is referred, the Board will see:


the child’s verbal reasoning test scores and papers;



the representations made by the primary school head teacher with supporting
evidence if necessary;



confidential information from parents and reports from other professional
agencies such as educational psychologists, social workers. doctors and so on.

The Board then uses its professional judgement to decide whether the evidence
clearly shows that the results of the verbal reasoning tests did not truly reflect the
child’s ability. The Board will decide in each case whether or not the child has
reached the grammar school standard.
4.10

At the end of the process, the Council will have a list of the children who have
reached the grammar school standard. This does not necessarily mean that they
will go to a grammar school; that will depend on the number of preferences that we
have for the grammar schools. If a grammar school is oversubscribed, the
governors use other criteria to decide who should be given places.

4.11

The Council will send the outcome of the assessment tests and the IAB (where
applicable) by e-mail to parents who have provided a valid e-mail address on their
request for assessment form by 21st October. Postal notification will be despatched
to all other parents on the same date as e-mails are sent out, by first class post.

5.0 Determination of applications for Foundation, Trust, Academy and
Aided schools
5.1 The governing bodies of Foundation, Trust, Academy and Aided schools publish their
own admission arrangements which include the criteria which they will use to
determine priorities if their school is oversubscribed.
5.2 Special Educational Needs. All schools will be required to admit a pupil with a
Statement of special educational needs naming the school.

6.0 Offer of Places
6.1 Where online applications have been received from parents resident in Wirral, the
parent or carer making the online application will receive their offer by e-mail on 1st
March (or next working day). Parents applying on a paper form will be informed in
writing by second class post by the Director of Children’s Services posted on 1st
March (or next working day) of the school allocated to their child.
6.3 This will include the allocation of a place in a school of another Local Authority if the
parent’s application for a place there has been successful. The letter or e-mail will

Page 161

also inform parents of their legal right to appeal to an independent panel and who to
contact to make an appeal. Parents should, wherever possible, make an appeal
within 20 working days of receipt of the letter or e-mail notifying them of the outcome
of their application.

7.0 Late Applications
7.1 Preferences which are received on or after 1st November will be dealt with after
places have been allocated on 1st March (or next working day). At that point some
schools may be full and no more places will be allocated at those schools. In the
case of schools which have places available, places will be allocated up to the
school’s admission number in accordance with the arrangements described in
paragraphs 3 and 5.
7.2 Late applications for grammar schools will require separate arrangements for testing.
7.3 Parents will be notified in writing by Wirral Council. The letter will also inform the
parent of their legal right to appeal and who to contact to make an appeal. Parents
should, wherever possible, make an appeal within 20 working days of receipt of the
letter notifying them of the outcome of their application. Parents and carers must
accept or decline the offer of a late place within 10 working days of the offer date.
7.4 If places become available before the start of the autumn term, the Council will reallocate them up to the school’s admission number. If there are more children
interested in a particular school than places available, in the case of Community
schools the Council will use the same criteria to determine priorities as is used for the
initial allocation. In most cases the re-allocation will be made depending on where the
children live. If this is the case, the Council will keep a list in order of those who will
have priority because they live nearer the school in question.
7.5 If at the end of the Summer Term a school is believed to be full, the Council will close
the procedures and make no more reallocations. However, it may be that places will
become available at the beginning of or during the Autumn Term. The Council will
keep a waiting list of children whose parents are interested in obtaining a place at the
school if a place becomes available, following the same criteria as when places were
first offered. The waiting list will be kept open until the last day of the autumn term.
8.0 In Year applications outside the normal round of admissions
8.1 ‘In year’ applications are those made during the school year into any year group,
other than at the normal point of entry (i.e. the normal admission round). This will
include applications from parents and carers of children moving into Wirral from

Page 162

another Local Authority area, moving within Wirral, or seeking to transfer to an
alternative school for other reasons.
8.2 Applications for all schools including Academy, Foundation, Trust and Voluntary
Aided schools must be made on a common Secondary School Transfer Form.
Parents/carers seeking places ‘in year’ will be advised to complete their ‘home’ Local
Authority’s common application form stating up to three school preferences ranked in
priority order.
8.3 Schools should not deal with transfer application forms. Any forms received by
schools should be forwarded to the Mainstream Admissions team of Wirral Council.
The Council coordinates all parental requests for in-year transfers and placements.
8.4 Upon receipt of a transfer request Mainstream Admissions staff will establish whether
or not the parent has discussed the request with the headteacher of the pupil’s
current school. If this is not the case, parents will be advised to contact the
headteacher to discuss their request.
8.5 If the parents have discussed the request with the headteacher the transfer request
form will be acknowledged and parents informed that the Mainstream Admissions
Team will request completion of appropriate documentation from their current school
to forward to their preferred school. Requests for transfer in Y10 and Y11 will be
discouraged on educational grounds, but parents have the ultimate right to proceed
with the request. Requests for transfer in these year groups due to relocation to
Wirral from another area or country will be processed automatically.
8.6 For transfers between Wirral schools, the Council will request from the Headteacher
of the child’s current or previous school, information relating to the child’s curriculum
record, attendance and behaviour. The headteacher of the school must sign the form
and return it to Mainstream Admissions within 5 school days. Where a child has
relocated to Wirral from another area or country, this information will not be
requested by the Council.
8.7 A copy of the parent’s preference form, along with the background information and
any relevant documentation from other agencies such as the Education Social
Welfare Service, social worker, educational psychologists and so on (where
provided), will then be forwarded to the Headteacher of the requested school(s).
8.8 The governing body of the requested school should reply to the Council within 10
school days of receipt of the application notifying the decision whether a place will be
offered.

Page 163

8.9 If the school believes that the child should be considered under the Fair Access
Protocol or would be suitable for a Managed Move/Negotiated Transfer, this must be
notified to the Mainstream Admissions team within 5 school days of receipt of the
application. Where it would be helpful, the Exclusions Officer, Managed Move Officer
or Negotiated Transfer officer may facilitate meetings between the parents and the
schools involved in order to resolve any difficulties.
8.10 For Community Schools the Council will consider all available information and decide
whether to agree or refuse the request within 10 school days of receipt of the
application.
8.11 If a parent expresses a preference for one or more of the grammar schools, then their
child will be assessed by the school or schools concerned and a decision made by
the governing body as to whether to offer a place. The governing body will then
inform the Council of the outcome of the application.
8.12 Where a pupil is eligible to receive an offer of two or more school places then the
parent’s highest eligible preference will take precedence. Headteachers will be
informed of the decision.
8.13 All parents will be informed by the Council of the school place allocated by letter and
advised to contact the headteacher of the school to arrange admission. The letter will
also inform the parent of their legal right to appeal and who to contact to make an
appeal. Parents should, wherever possible, make an appeal within 20 working days
of receipt of the letter notifying them of the outcome of their application.
8.14 In accordance with the School Admissions Code 2012 admission authorities must not
refuse to admit a child solely because:

8.16

(a)

they have applied later than other applicants;

(b)

they are not of the faith of the school in the case of a faith school;

(c)

they have followed a different curriculum at their previous school;

(d)

information has not been received from their previous school;

(e)

they have missed entrance tests for selective places.

Parental preference must be met unless the school believes that do so would
“prejudice the efficient education or the efficient use of resources”, under Section 86
of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. In effect, schools are expected
to offer a place if there are places available in the year group. Parents who are
refused a place have a right to an appeal to an independent appeal panel. Schools
considering refusing to offer a place when places are available in the year group
should consider whether they believe their decision to refuse was one that a

Page 164

reasonable admission authority would have made in the circumstances of the case,
as the onus will be on the school to prove prejudice.
8.17

Challenging behaviour: The Admissions Code 2012 says that if a governing body
does not want to admit a child with challenging behaviour as an in-year transfer,
even though places are available, it must refer the case to the local authority under
the Fair Access Protocol. The definition of “challenging behaviour” is set out in the
Fair Access Protocol. Any such cases must be raised with the local authority within
5 working days of receiving the transfer paperwork. Children not meeting the Fair
Access definition of “challenging behaviour” must be considered as in year
transfers. Fair Access does not apply to a looked after child, previously looked after
child or a child with a statement of special educational needs naming the school as
these children MUST be admitted.

8.17

If the request is refused, headteachers are informed of the decision and parents are
informed in writing and given details of their legal right to appeal. Parents should,
wherever possible, make an appeal within 20 working days of receipt of the letter
notifying them of the outcome of their application. If a parent lodges an appeal,
copies of the relevant documentation will be sent to the preferred school.

8.18

The time taken for a transfer request to be processed should be as short as
possible. The Council expects that parents will be informed of the outcome of their
request within 16 school days.

8.19 Children of UK service personnel. Places for these children will be allocated in
advance if accompanied by an official letter with a relocation date and Unit postal
address or quartering area address.
8.20 Overseas applications. Parents who have already moved to the UK from overseas
who are British or European Economic Area nationals, or who have an endorsed
passport showing right of abode, can apply for places for their child at any school
covered by this scheme. The Council may ask to see passports for verification.
Parents or children in these categories who do not yet live in the UK can apply before
the date they move to the UK. However, the address to be used in the allocation of a
place will be the address that the child is living at on the closing date, unless a
subsequent house move has been accepted up to the last date for changes in the
coordinated scheme. A UK address will only be used once the child is residing at that
address, and evidence will be required of this, as in paragraph 1.7 of this document.

9.0 The In Year Fair Access Protocol

Page 165

9.1

All requests for in-year places will be considered with reference to the Council’s
current admission arrangements and procedures for in year placements. The
majority of requests will be agreed or refused by admission authorities with reference
to two important factors: parental preference, and the availability of places within the
relevant year group.

9.2

All Wirral schools will take part in the Fair Access Protocol, which is published
separately. Schools must respond immediately to requests for admission to school
according to the timescales above so that admission of the pupil is not unduly
delayed.

9.3

Children who are looked after and previously looked after, and children with a
Statement of Special Educational Needs or Education Health and Care Plan naming
the school are NOT included in the Fair Access protocol. These children MUST be
placed in the school of their carer’s preference irrespective of the availability of
places in the year group.

9.4 Managed Moves – at risk of permanent exclusion. For pupils who are at risk of
permanent exclusion and on the roll of a Wirral school it is open to the headteacher
to refer the case to Exclusions Officer to consider the possibility of a Managed Move.
The Managed Move protocol is covered by a separate document, available on
request. All such placements will be initially on a trial basis for a minimum of six
weeks. Confirmation of placement on the school roll will be subject to a satisfactory
report.
9.5 Pupils who have been permanently excluded will normally be placed on the roll of
WASP (Wirral Alternative School Provision). In a minority of cases where the
exclusion was as the result of a ‘one off incident’ such pupils will be transferred
immediately to an alternative school. Such transfers will be agreed with the parent
and relevant headteacher. All secondary schools will take a minimum number of 1, or
the number of permanent exclusions in the previous academic year, as the agreed
quota of permanently excluded pupils for placement.
9.6 The majority of such pupils will have spent some time in the relevant alternative base
or Pupil Referral Unit. The transfer to a school will be monitored at the Wirral
Excluded Pupils Monitoring Panel (WEMP) or equivalent group.
9.7 Negotiated transfers. For children who are not at risk of permanent exclusion, but
where there are concerns about behaviour or attendance, it is open to schools to
consider a negotiated transfer. This is covered within the Fair Access Protocol,
published separately. All such placements will initially be on a trial basis for a

Page 166

minimum of six weeks. Confirmation of placement on the school roll will be subject to
a satisfactory report.
9.8 Parents retain their legal right to an appeal for a place at any school of their
preference. This right is not affected by the decision of the Fair Access Panel.

Page 167

Admission Authorities in Wirral
Wirral Council
Community Secondary Schools (4)
Mosslands School
Pensby High School for Boys*
Pensby High School for Girls*

The Governing Bodies of:
Academy Schools
Birkenhead High School Academy for Girls (Senior)
Calday Grange Grammar School for Boys
Hilbre High School
Oldershaw School
Prenton High School for Girls
St Anselm’s College
St John Plessington Catholic College
The Kingsway Academy*
University Academy of Birkenhead
Upton Hall School FCJ
Weatherhead High School for Girls
West Kirby Grammar School for Girls
Wirral Grammar School for Boys
Wirral Grammar School for Girls
Woodchurch High School
Catholic Aided Schools
St Mary’s Catholic College
Foundation Schools
Ridgeway High School
South Wirral High School
Trust Schools
Bebington High School Sports College
* Status subject to confirmation.
A full list of schools and a map showing locations is provided in the Council’s
information booklets for parents, available on-line at
www.wirral.gov.uk/schooladmissions
The scheme will be amended if there are further changes to the status of schools.
PROPOSED ADMISSION NUMBERS FOR WIRRAL COMMUNITY SECONDARY
SCHOOLS
ADMISSION NUMBER
2016 – 2017

SCHOOL
Mosslands School
Pensby High School for Boys
Pensby High School for Girls

Page 168

258
150
150

Agenda Item 12
WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET:
SUBJECT:
WARD/S AFFECTED:

BIRKENHEAD TOWN CENTRE – MASTERPLAN
KEY PRINCIPLES
BIRKENHEAD AND TRANMERE WARD

REPORT OF:

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR REGENERATION &
ENVIRONMENT

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO
HOLDER:
KEY DECISION

COUNCILLOR PAT HACKETT
YES

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report seeks Members approval of the key principles of the masterplan for
Birkenhead Town Centre (Appendix 1 of this report) which has been prepared by
Neptune Developments Limited which is a requirement of the lock-out agreement that
Neptune have with the Council until 31 March 2015.
1.2 If these principles are supported which is the next key stage in the process, they will
form the basis for:
a) the undertaking of a test of lawfulness in relation to the masterplan principles
b) consultation with the public concerning the proposals
c) consultation with staff and Trade Unions about the potential relocation of Europa
Pools.
1.3 At this stage the Council is seeking to consult and test Neptune Development’s
proposals and will bring back a report to Cabinet, for decision, once the outcome of the
lawfulness test and consultations are known.
2.0 BACKGROUND
2.1 The 2010 Integrated Regeneration Strategy for Birkenhead and Wirral Waters stated
that the retail offer of the town centre needs to be strengthened to provide a sustainable
blend of multiples and independent retailing, including an improved market and retail
anchor, either through improving the existing floor space or through redevelopment
activity. The Council’s Corporate Plan 2013/16 includes a commitment to develop a
masterplan for Birkenhead Town Centre and seek its implementation with the private
sector.
2.2 To help achieve this objective the Council entered into a Stage 1 Lock-Out Agreement
with Neptune Developments Limited on 10 October 2013 for an initial period of twelve
months to allow them the time frame to work up a masterplan for the Town Centre and
this was extended until March 2015 to allow further time for the masterplan to be
developed.

Page 169

3.0 MASTERPLAN PROPOSAL BY NEPTUNE DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED
3.1 Neptune Developments has been working with WMBC to develop proposals for the
regeneration of Birkenhead Town Centre through a lock-out agreement.
3.2 The subject area of this work has included areas of the Town’s central retail core,
together with vacant sites on Europa Boulevard and the site of the existing Europa
Pool.
3.3 Neptune has identified that there is an opportunity to develop both the central and retail
core and the leisure and retail offer in Birkenhead Town Centre to increase the use of
Birkenhead by all Wirral residents and in doing so significantly improve the prospects of
the Town for future investment across a range of uses.
3.4 Birkenhead Town Centre was historically a busy retail and leisure destination but in
recent years has seen significant competition from other adjacent retail and leisure
centres which has had a significant impact on its trading performance.
3.5 Developments such as Liverpool One, the Bromborough Retail Park and Cheshire
Oaks have all provided higher quality alternatives to the use of the traditional Town
Centre retail and leisure offer and the Wirral’s excellent transport links with these
locations has diverted much of the retail spend away from Birkenhead’s central core.
3.6 Other factors such as the quality of the environment and car parking, together with
perceptions of safety and security have also had a negative impact.
3.7 Whilst these factors present a significant challenge to the Town the latent demand from
the relatively large catchment of the Town Centre does provide an opportunity to
represent Birkenhead as a viable destination and recapture lost retail and leisure
spend.
3.8 The existing shopping centres of the Grange and the Pyramids have strong footfall but
it is understood from retail assessments that a high percentage of Wirral’s population
do not shop in Birkenhead.
3.9 All Town Centres have faced challenges in recent years due to the recession and the
impact that this has had on both shoppers and retailers. Many Town Centres suffer
similar challenges to that of Birkenhead and few have been totally successful in
achieving a comprehensive regeneration due generally to an oversupply of retail space
and a lack of scope to undertake significant regeneration and environmental
improvement works.
3.10 A feature of those areas that have been most successful has been the provision of a
strong leisure offer combined with retail which significantly improves the overall visitor
experience. In analysing Birkenhead’s competition, it is clear that this combination of
leisure and retail is a key feature.
3.11 The leisure sector has emerged from the recession in a far stronger position than the
equivalent retail business and demand from leisure operators is generally stronger than
that of retailers. In addition, leisure operators are realising the benefits of Town Centre
locations for their outlets particularly where these have anchor uses which drive strong
footfall.

Page 170

3.12 Birkenhead is relatively unusual in that it has a modern Town Centre cinema but this is
not supported by the car parking and restaurant uses which are essential for a
successful operation.
3.13 It is understood that the existing Vue Cinema in Birkenhead does not perform in line
with expectations due primarily to the fact that its car parking and complimentary leisure
offer is extremely limited.
3.14 There is a synergy between cinemas and restaurants which are mutually dependent
and this has been illustrated well by the success of the New Brighton development
which has brought together a relatively unknown cinema operator with national
restaurant operators and is one of the best performing leisure developments of its type
in the UK.
3.15 The development of a new cinema in an alternative location would be extremely difficult
to deliver due to the intrinsic value of the existing building, together with the significant
cost of constructing and fitting out a new facility.
3.16 There is, however, an opportunity to utilise the value and investment in the existing
cinema and to transform its offer by the development of a series of restaurant uses
adjacent to it, together with a significant improvement in the current car parking
arrangements.
3.17 Having undertaken a comprehensive analysis of the options available for the
development of the area, it has been identified by Neptune Developments that the only
practical solution to the issue is to relocate the existing Europa Pool facility to an
alternative site and subsequent to this, develop the existing pool site for restaurant use.
3.18 Whilst this proposal may seem radical the developer believes that it provides a sensible
and cost effect solution which will be a very significant first phase of the regeneration of
Birkenhead Town Centre as a whole.
3.19 In order to capture the benefit of the footfall generated by a new pool and reinforce the
area’s position as an overall leisure destination, it is proposed that the new pool is
located on the Europa Boulevard site which lies adjacent to the Conway Park Railway
Station and Price Street.
3.20 The existing Europa Pool will continue to operate throughout the period of construction
of the new facility with no interruption in service with the existing pool only being
demolished when the new facility is fully operational.
3.21 Subsequent to the clearance of the existing pool, the construction of the commercial
leisure development will commence and this will consist of a series of family restaurants
adjacent to the cinema and discussions are already taking place with a number of
national restaurant operators.
3.22 The proposed development of a new leisure quarter centred around Conway Street and
Conway Park forms the first phase of a more comprehensive regeneration of
Birkenhead and Neptune has undertaken a masterplanning framework which will form
the future phases of the development of the Town Centre which will build upon the
leisure footfall and seek to improve the quality of the retail offer in the Town Centre to

Page 171

re-establish Birkenhead as a viable alternative to both Liverpool and the out of town
retail parks.
3.23 Discussions are currently ongoing with existing land owners and other key stakeholders
with a view to finalising proposals for the larger project in the near future.
3.24 The current proposals for the phase 1 development (set out in this report and in the
document at Appendix 1) are deliverable within a short timeframe and subsequent to
the confirmation of Council approval of the key principles a planning application will be
developed and consultations with stakeholders undertaken.
4.0 STRATEGIC DIRECTOR’S COMMENTS
4.1 Birkenhead Town Centre requires redevelopment to create a modern, vibrant town
centre to meet the retail needs of Wirral residents. The Framework document provides
key principles to achieve this.
4.2 The “leisure area” (the pool, cinema and food court) proposes an approach that has
been successfully implemented in a number of out of centre and in centre locations and
will bring a focus for these activities which does not currently exist in the town centre.
4.3 The proposals for the market and surrounding areas will create a destination point and
a modern centre for Birkenhead. Initial commercial in confidence discussions have
revealed that there is significant interest in creating this opportunity in Birkenhead.
4.4 Neptune Developments have a proven track record of delivering mixed use schemes as
New Brighton and Queen’s Square in Liverpool demonstrate.
5.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

5.1

An assessment of the Neptune proposals confirms that if delivered the scheme will
have the potential to revitalise an important part of Birkenhead Town Centre delivering
a far greater regeneration impact than if the sites identified in this report were
developed out separately. No other options have therefore been considered as NDL
has already secured an interest in the balance of the land that is needed to deliver the
re-provided market.

6.0

CONSULTATION

6.1

Public consultation on the scheme will be undertaken by the developer and statutory
consultation will take place in relation to the planning application(s) required for these
developments.

6.2

Consultation concerning the proposals of potentially relocating the pool will also take
place directly with staff and Trade Unions and be undertaken by the Strategic Director
for Families and Well-Being.

7.0

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS.

7.1

Consultation with these groups will take place as part of the consultation process.

Page 172

8.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, FINANCIAL, IT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

8.1

All financial matters relating to Neptune Development’s proposals along with the
outcome of the test of lawfulness and consultation will be reported to Cabinet in due
course prior to any decisions being taken.

8.2

The key principles of the masterplan envisage the sale of the Council owned land on
Europa Boulevard, including potentially the Europa Pools site and this will generate a
capital receipt. Subject to the project progressing the actual sum will be determined
following completion of the independent valuation of the sites.

8.3

The final return to the Council will be calculated and reported when the proposed
scheme has been fully developed. This would be prior to the Council entering into an
Implementation Agreement with Neptune and will be predicated on the scheme and its
delivery mechanism passing the test of lawfulness in terms of procurement and
implementation.

8.4

Consultation on the potential relocation of the pool will take place with staff and Trade
Unions.

9.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

If Members approve the key principles of the masterplan then a number of matters
including a test of lawfulness, procurement and land matters will be considered and
reported back to Members in due course.

10.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

10.1

The proposed redevelopment scheme that is the subject of this report will be available
to all residents of Wirral, irrespective of their religion, creed, sexual orientation or race.

10.2

An Equality Impact Assessment will be prepared to inform any public consultation
undertaken.

11.0

CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

11.1

The re-provision of the pool and the construction of new retail units will reduce carbon
omissions.

12.0

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

12.1

Any future application for the redevelopment of the sites named in this report will need
to be assessed against the Council’s Unitary Development Plan the emerging Core
Strategy Local Development Framework and the National Planning Policy Framework.

12.2

This masterplan seeks to bring new development and community activity to
Birkenhead Town Centre and is expected to improve community safety in this area.

Page 173

13.0

RECOMMENDATION

13.1

That the key principles of the masterplan proposed by Neptune Developments Limited
set out in Appendix 1 be agreed and be used as the basis for the test of lawfulness
and for consultation with the public, staff and Trade Unions as set out in this report
and that a further detailed report on the outcomes is brought back to Cabinet for a
future decision.

13.2

That the Strategic Director of Families and Well-Being be authorised to undertake
consultation with staff and Trade Unions concerning the potential re-location of
Europa Pools.

14.0

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

14.1

To progress the development of, and consultation on, a comprehensive
redevelopment scheme for Birkenhead Town Centre which is a Corporate Plan
Priority.

REPORT AUTHOR:

David Ball
Head of Regeneration and Planning
Tel: 0151 691 8395
Email: davidball@wirral.gov.uk

Page 174

Birkenhead Town Centre
Development Framework
Page 175

Phase 1 Leisure Development
P2006658 (REP) A001February 2015

Development Framework

Contents
1.

Introduction

2.

Policy Context

2.

Site Analysis

3.

Framework

Page 176
February 2015

C

Development Framework

Introduction

C
1

This document sets out a framework
for the first phase of a town centre
vision including a mixed use leisure
scheme to regenerate a key area
adjacent to Birkenhead Town Centre.
It also sets a context for further
phases of development that will see
improvements made to the retail
core focused around a remodelled
Birkenhead Market and bus station.

Page 177

Birkenhead is a key service centre
on the Wirral peninsula but the
commercial core is widely recognised
as not meeting its full potential. In
particular there is an opportunity to
improve the destination appeal of the
town centre particuarly to its core
Wirral catchment, by delivering a
broader family lsire offer. This will be
complemented by improvements to
the retail offer, public transport and
car parking.

The Phase 1 Proposals
The proposed development
comprises a leisure led mixed use
town centre scheme on an approx.
4ha site, comprising circa:
• 2,500 m² of Food & Beverage or
Leisure
• 500 m² Office / Hotel
• 3,855 m² Leisure Centre
• Car Parking

The proposals outlined in this
framework address these issues
by proposing a modern attractive
setting which will attract a variety
of new operators to Birkenhead and
reignite this part of the town centre
and provide a catalyst for further
regeneration.

February 2015

Development Framework

Policy Context
The site has long been identified as
an opportunitiy area for the growth
of Birkenhead town centre. The area
is allocated in the adopted Unitary
Development Plan (UDP) as being
suitable for a mixed use business and
leisure location under policy EM2
Conway Park.

The proposals set out within this
framework document clearly align
with the aspitations for the growth
of the borough and more specifically
those set out for the site in both
emerging and adopted policy.

C
2

Emerging Policy

Page 178

The proposed submission version
of Wirral Core Strategy Local Plan
is due to be published for public
consultation in mid 2015.
Whilst the policies are not yet
adopted they do carry weight and
clearly set the policy direction for
the borough over the next 15 years.
Policy CS5 sets the priorities for the
Commercial Core of Birkenhead.
The aspiration is to safeguard and
enhance the vitality and viability
of Birkenhead town centre as the
Borough’s principal focus for retail,
office and town centre uses, including
services for leisure, entertainment,
culture, health and education
and other uses of Boroughwide
significance that attract large
numbers of people.

February 2015

Adopted Unitary
Development Plan
Proposals Map Extract

Development Framework

Site Analysis

C
3

The Phase 1 site is located to the
North of Birkenhead town centre
adjacent to public transport facilities
including the bus station and Conway
Park railway station.
The Pyramids shopping centre lies to
the south along with the Market Hall.
Wider Context

Page 179

Proposals are being developed for
a retail led scheme within the town
centre relating to Birkenhead Market
and parts of the Pyramids Shopping
Centre and adjoining retailing. This is
expected to be a second phase in the
town centre proposals.

Existing Public Realm outside the Vue Cinema

View of the nearby Pyramids Shopping Centre

View North East along Europa Boulevard

View of Birkenhead Bus Station

Details of this are outside of
the scope of this scheme but an
important part of the context.
It is envisaged that the proposed
Phase 11eisure and retail scheme will
complement these wider plans and
together will stimulate the wider
revitalisation of the town centre.

February 2015

Development Framework

C
4
Page 180
February 2015

Development Framework

C
5

Page 181
February 2015

Development Framework

Framework

BUILDI
OF THI

ALL DIM

DO NO

ANY D
OF BU

NO

Emerging Opportunities

C
6

The proposals will;
• Support and expand the
evening economy

PROPOSED
LEISURE CENTRE

• Strengthen the leisure offer

CAFE/RESTAURANT
DEVELOPMENT AND
IMPROVED CAR
PARKING

• Complement the existing
cinema

Page 182

• Integrate with the existing town
centre fabric by creating clear
pedestrian links to the Market
Hall, Bus Station and Retail Core
to the South.

IMPROVED
CAR PARKING

POTENTIAL HOTEL
LOCATION

IMPROVEMENTS TO
BUS STATION TO
REMOVE SERVICE
VECHILES AND AVOID
PEDESTRIAN/BUS
CONFLICTS

• Remodel the bus station and
remove conflicting uses

REMODELLED
MARKET HALL

• Better integrate the remodelled
Market with adjoining retailing

IMPROVEMENTS TO
PYRAMID SHOPPING
CENTRE AND THE
ADJOINING RETAIL

HOUSE OF FRASER

BIRKENHEAD CENTRAL

Indicitive Site Plan
1 : 1250

CLIENT

PROJECT TITLE

Birke

11 Ducie Street
PO Box 85, Picadilly Basin
Manchester, M60 3JA
United Kingdom
T +44 (0)161 828 2200
F +44 (0)161 828 2235
www.bdp.com
REVISION / DESCRIPTION

February 2015

DRAWN

CHECKED

DATE

REVISION / DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

DATE

REVISION / DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

DATE

REVISION / DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

DATE

REVISION / DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

DATE

REVISION / DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

DATE

REVISION / DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

DATE

REVISION / DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

DATE

P200
DRAWING TITLE

Indic

DRAWING No.

(SK)M

Development Framework

Phase 1 Indicative
Masterplan
BUILDING DESIGN PARTNERSHIP SHALL HAVE NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY USE
MADE OF THIS DOCUMENT OTHER THAN FOR THAT WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND
ISSUED.
ALL DIMENSIONS SHOULD BE CHECKED ON SITE.
DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING

C
7

ANY DRAWING ERRORS OR DIVERGENCIES SHOULD BE BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION
OF BUILDING DESIGN PARTNERSHIP AT THE ADDRESS SHOWN BELOW.

NOTES

leisure centre

car park

servicing area

Page 183

Unit 05
Unit 03
Unit 04
Unit 06

Unit 02
Unit 01

Indicative Only

Unit 07

car park
Public Bar/Restaurant

cinema

Drive Thro'

car park
con
wa
ys
tree
t

eur
opa
bou
lev
ard

existing
properties

REVISION / DESCRIPTION

DRAWN

CHECKED

DATE

KEYPLAN

CLIENT

11 Ducie Street
PO Box 85, Picadilly Basin
Manchester, M60 3JA
United Kingdom
T +44 (0)161 828 2200
F +44 (0)161 828 2235
www.bdp.com

europa square
birkenhead bus station

PROJECT TITLE

Birkenhead Town Centre

N

10m
0

30m
20m

50m
40m

60m

Birkenhead Town Centre
P2006511
February 2015

P2006511
DRAWING TITLE

Marketing Plan

SCALE

DRAWING No.

(SK)MAR001

@ A0

1 : 500
DATE

REVISION

February 2015

Page 184
BDP
11 Ducie Street
Piccadilly Basin
Manchester
M60 3JA
United Kingdom
www.bdp.com

Agenda Item 13
WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET
12 MARCH 2015
SUBJECT:
WARD AFFECTED:
REPORT OF:
CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDER
KEY DECISION?

PERIODIC REVIEW OF FEES FOR SCRAP
METAL LICENSES
ALL WARDS
STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF
REGENERATION & ENVIRONMENT
COUNCILLOR BERNIE MOONEY
NO

1.0

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

This report requests Cabinet review and approve the schedule of fees for the
administration and processing of applications under The Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013
with effect from 1 April 2015.

2.0

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1

The Council are legally entitled to charge such a fee for licences that they consider
reasonable with a view to recover the costs of administering the scheme and ensuring
compliance.

2.2

Under the provisions of the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 the cost of a licence must be
related to the cost of the licensing scheme itself. It is therefore appropriate for a local
authority to recover their administrative and other associated costs.

2.3

Estimated costs to the Licensing Section of licensing Scrap Metal Dealers has previously
been calculated as detailed in Appendix 1. A review of current costs has been
undertaken and it has been identified that from January 2015 the licensing function will
be subject to a 2.2% increase in staffing costs. Cabinet is therefore asked to approve an
increase in the licensing fees for Scrap Metal Licences as detailed in Appendix 2 to
reflect the increase in this cost of the administration.

3.0

RELEVANT RISKS

3.1

Fees that do not cover the costs of the administration of the Service can result in a
reduction in staffing resources.

4.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1

Maintaining the fees as they are which may not recover the staffing cost required to
administer the Service.

5.0

CONSULTATION

5.1

There is no legal obligation to consult.

Page 185

6.0

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

6.1

There are no specific implications arising from this report.

7.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS

7.1

There are cost implications to the Council in undertaking this legal duty and this is
recognised in the legislation which gives provision for the Council to recover the costs of
administering the scheme and to ensure compliance.

8.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1

Fees charged to applicants can be subject to legal challenge.

9.0

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to equality?
No because there is no relevance to equality.

10.0

CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

10.1

There are no specific carbon reduction implications arising from this report.

11.0

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

11.1

There are no implications arising out of this report.

12.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

12.1

That Cabinet agrees the fees for Scrap Metal Licences to be set as detailed in Appendix
2 of this report and for these fees to come into effect from 1 April 2015.

13.0

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

13.1

The Cabinet is required to approve Scrap Metal Fees.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Margaret O’Donnell
Licensing Manager
telephone: (0151) 691 8606
email: margaretodonnell@wirral.gov.uk

Page 186

Scrap Metal Licence Fees (Appendix 1)

Grant and Renewal
Site Licence – one site

£340.00

Site Licence – multiple sites

£340.00 plus £115 per
additional site

Collector’s Licence

£190.00

Variation of Licence
Collector’s Licence to a Site Licence

£175.00

Site Licence to a Collector’s Licence

£60.00

Additional site

£175.00

Site Manager

£225.00

Licensee’s details

£60.00

Miscellaneous:
Copy of Licence

£10.50

Page 187

This page is intentionally left blank

Scrap Metal Licence Fees (Appendix 2)

Grant and Renewal
Site Licence – one site

£348

Site Licence – multiple sites

£348 plus £118 per
additional site

Collector’s Licence

£195

Variation of Licence
Collector’s Licence to a Site Licence

£180

Site Licence to a Collector’s Licence

£62

Additional site

£180

Site Manager

£230

Licensee’s details

£62

Miscellaneous:
Copy of Licence

£10.50

Page 189

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14
WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET
12TH MARCH 2015
SUBJECT:

CONSIDERATION OF PROPOSAL TO IMPLEMENT
SELECTIVE LICENSING FOLLOWING CONSULTATION

WARD/S AFFECTED:

CLAUGHTON, BIRKENHEAD & TRANMERE, OXTON,
PRENTON SEACOMBE, LISCARD

REPORT OF:

KEVIN ADDERLEY

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO

COUNCILLOR GEORGE DAVIES

HOLDER:
KEY DECISION? (Defined in YES
paragraph 13.3 of Article 13
‘Decision Making’ in the
Council’s Constitution.)
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present Members with the results of the consultation
exercise on a proposal for a Selective Licensing scheme for private landlords in four
designated areas in the Borough known as :




Area 1 - Birkenhead South
Area 2 - Egerton North
Area 3 - Seacombe Library
Area 4 - Egremont Promenade South

The Maps and Address lists can be found in the Draft Business Case which can be
found in the Council’s web library
1.2 Based on the feedback from the consultation undertaken and the robust evidence used
for the Business Case rationale, Members are asked to approve the introduction of a
Selective Licensing Scheme for all private rented properties within the four designated
areas under Section 80 of the Housing Act 2004.
2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 On 6th November 2014 Cabinet approved a draft proposal for a Selective Licensing
Scheme within four designated areas of the borough. The report which members
considered set out the background to selective licensing, the strategic context, the
feasibility work undertaken to inform the development of the evidence base and
selection of proposed designated areas along with a draft Business Case and proposed
Consultation plan.
2.2 In summary the background and key reasons presented to Cabinet on 6th November
2014 regarding why Selective Licensing was being considered as an option within the
Borough included :-

Page 191













The 2011 Census reported a significant increase in the private rented sector by nearly
80% since 2001 when it was 8.8%;
Wirral’s Housing Strategy 2011-2026 sets out that the private rented sector has many
advantages such as flexibility and ease of access, however often contains many
vulnerable households, has the least security of tenure, has twice as many people
living in hazardous homes than the owner occupied sector and a third of all private
rented homes are non-decent
The private rented sector in Wirral is mainly terraced houses at 42.8%, compared to
24.8% in Wirral’s housing sector as a whole with over 40% built before 1919,
compared to 19% in the owner occupied sector;
Wirral’s 2013 Private Sector Stock Condition Survey identified that 32.0% of private
rented homes did not meet the Decent Homes Standard, compared to 20.6% of owner
occupied homes.
It further identified that just under 60% of private rented tenants had been resident in
the property for under two years;
66% of private rented tenants were in full-time work and 12.3% were registered
unemployed, in comparison to the owner occupied sector where the figures were 56%
and 1% respectively;
Rates of Category 1 Hazard failure under the Housing Health & Safety Rating System
were significantly higher within the private rented sector at 19.9% of homes compared
to 7.5% within the owner occupied sector.
Poorly managed rented properties are frequently associated with areas suffering from
low demand due to high levels and/or long term empty properties, environmental
blight, criminal damage (Anti-Social Behaviour), poor repair and high levels of housing
benefit claimants. Many of the areas which suffer from these indicators require
regular intervention from Council services and partner agencies and suffer from low
levels of activity in the housing market, particularly in the private rented sector.
Many tenants of poor landlords feel vulnerable to eviction, 837 of private rented
tenants registered on Wirral’s Housing Register said they were living in disrepair, but
only 185 had complained to the Council.

3.0 CONSULTATION
3.1 The Housing Act 2004, Section 80 imposes statutory consultation requirements in
respect of local authorities designating a licensing scheme. The Act states the council
must take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be affected by the
designation and then fully consider any representations made.
3.2 The Business Case and associated appendices were approved by Cabinet on 6th
November 2014 as the basis for the selection of four proposed selective licensing areas
and subsequent 10 week statutory public consultation.
3.3 An extensive public consultation with landlords, residents, businesses and stakeholders
commenced on 24th November 2014. Following the identification of a computer error
regarding the full address list within the consultation paperwork, the correction was
made and following legal advice the consultation was run for the statutory 10 week
period from the date the amendment was made up to 18th February 2015. All
responses and representations made have been analysed and considered as part of
the final Business Case presented to Members. The final report of the public and
stakeholder consultation is contained within Appendix 5 of the Business Case which
can be found in the Council’s web library.

Page 192

3.4 There was a significant and wide ranging consultation process including an online
questionnaire, press release, website information, social media releases, emails and
letters, leaflets and postcards were delivered to all homes within the boundaries and a
buffer zone, the Council’s One Stop Shops provided information on their plasma
screens, along with copies of the questionnaire and posters to draw attention to them,
and posters were placed in local businesses and shops in the proposed areas.
3.5 Various other consultation has been undertaken such as specific meetings with
residents, national landlords association, the Public Service Board and local managing
agents. In total 607 people and organisations have responded to the consultation,
broken down as follows:
507
31
10
44
17

responses received to the on line survey and hard copy questionnaires
written submissions (21 emails and 10 letters)
landlords and agents attended three Selective Licensing Working Group
meetings
landlords attended 7 focus groups
residents attended open forums

3.6 All of the above responses have informed the basis of the final Business Case,
Consultation report and proposed changes to the scheme, which Members are being
asked to approve in Section Four of this report however key messages from the
consultation are:
 From the on-line survey, the overwhelming majority (68.19%) of respondents
either strongly agreed or agreed with selective licensing proposals compared to
25.17% who either strongly disagree or disagreed.
 In total of the 290 people who said they lived in Wirral (but were not also
landlords/letting agents) 83.8% either strongly agreed or agreed with proposals to
introduce a selective licensing scheme.
 In total 118 landlords and letting agents responded to the questionnaire of
which 60.2% disagreed or strongly disagreed with the proposals to introduce a
selective licensing scheme. Although this is a majority, it is still lower than in other
Local Authorities’ consultations.
 It is encouraging to note that even with an estimated indicated fee of £550-750,
26.3% of landlords either agreed or strongly agreed with the proposals.
 58 of the respondents to the on-line questionnaire made additional comments
in support of the proposal. A common view was that while good landlords were
already meeting these requirements, there were unscrupulous landlords that were
neglecting their responsibilities and selective licensing would provide greater
protection for tenants.

Page 193

 There were a significant number of respondents (16) who thought that the
scheme should be applied across Wirral rather than being limited to small areas.
 There were 22 general comments against the proposal for a number of reasons
including unnecessary regulation; it is penalising good landlords while not
addressing the bad; the Council already has existing powers to tackle poor
landlords, there are few benefits for landlords and it will increase rents as
landlords will have to pass the costs on to tenants.
 A number of landlords against the scheme suggested that the existing landlord
accreditation scheme was adequate for good landlords and as they were
accredited, they should not have to pay an additional selective licensing fee.
 In addition to the general comments against selective licensing, the were a
substantial number (52) written comments against the scheme relating specifically
to fees. Many of the comments suggested that the scheme was a ‘money making
exercise’ for the Council and that landlords would sell their properties rather than
pay the fee associated with Selective Licensing.
 Another common view from landlords was
“As a small private landlord, I fully support the proposed selective licensing
scheme. A good landlord would not disagree with any of the proposals being put
forward, other than the cost of securing a licence which needs to be kept as low
as possible”.
 36 respondents made neutral comments that were neither in support of or
against Selective Licensing but offered wide-ranging suggestions or observations
about how the scheme should operate at a practical level. These suggestions
have been considered in the revised fee structure, draft conditions and other
operational considerations.
 In addition to the on line questionnaire officers have had regard to the views
expressed via the Landlord Forums and also the Landlord Working Group. From
these sessions, many landlords actually agree with the scheme in principle
however their biggest concern was the level of the licensing fee. Landlords asked
for good landlords to be recognised in the fee structure and for there to be
flexibility in payment methods.
4.0 CHANGES TO THE BUSINESS PLAN AS A RESULT OF CONSULTATION AND
REPRESENTATIONS MADE
4.1 There were a number of issues raised as part of the consultation process which has
resulted in the Business Case and associated appendices being reviewed and
amended. The revised Business Case can be found in the Council’s web library. The
Business Case setting out the evidence base and rationale for the introduction of
selective licensing has remained unchanged. The main changes in the Business Plan
relate to the following key aspects:

Page 194

Licence Conditions
The main changes involved removal of the requirement for electrical inspection
certificates for all properties. Instead these will be requested on a risk based approach
where hazards are suspected.
Landlords also proposed that tenants must accept some responsibility for maintaining
the outside of their properties, managing waste disposal and addressing pest
infestations that may occur during their occupancy providing the properties were clean,
tidy and free from pests at the start of the tenancy. The conditions relating to these
issues have been amended accordingly as being fair for a tenant to take on this
responsibility once the property is let.
Fees and Charges
The Selective Licensing Consultation raised significant concerns about the level of fees
and consequently these views have been taken into consideration when determining
the final fee structure as set out in Appendix 1 of this report. Whilst it was felt that
landlords who don’t come forward and co-operate with the Council should be charged
the full fee, it was considered that good landlords who are likely to be meeting the
licensing conditions already should be rewarded with discounts, as certain checks or
standards will have already been applied and have been through an existing
accreditation process with the Council.
It is proposed to offer discounts and make charges for license fees based on those set
out in Appendix 1.
Benefits to Landlords
The Selective Licencing consultation feedback suggested that the benefits listed in the
first draft of the business case needed to be more tangible and offer practical support to
both landlords, tenants and the community. The support most requested by landlords
was financial support to help with disrepair issues and support to address what they
often described as ‘problem tenants’.
Based on this feedback, if the scheme is supported, the Council is now in a position to
be able to offer the following support services:



A named Selective Licensing Officer in proposed Selective Licensing areas that
will raise awareness in the community about minimum standards and act as a
contact for complaints and queries about property management and standards
While the Council will not provide financial assistance for landlords to carry out
improvements where their property falls below the minimum statutory standard,
financial support (up to £3,000.00) will be provided towards renovation costs of
empty properties that have been vacant for more than 6 months. In addition to
this will be the availability where appropriate for access to Cosyhomes Heating
Grants where tenants meet the qualifying criteria and external wall insulation
for ‘hard to treat’ properties with solid walls. (Cosyhomes and empty property
grants are already funded via the Councils Capital Programme Budget and

Page 195

funding for external wall insulation has been secured from the Public Health
funding for 2015/16).


The Council will aim to process new property accreditation applications where
possible before the commencement of the scheme so that landlords not
currently accredited can benefit from the discounts offered for accredited
properties.



The Council will appoint three Healthy Homes Community Workers to focus
their work in proposed Selective Licensing Areas, to act as a referral hub to
multiple-agencies to support tenants and residents living in designated areas
and reduce health inequalities.



The Council will offer information and advice to landlords and residents in
proposed Selective Licensing Areas to help address issues relating to antisocial behaviour (ASB), will offer mediation where this is applicable and offer
an Anti-Social Behaviour case management service to landlords where the
level of ASB does not warrant enforcement action. Where appropriate cases
can also be referred to the Troubled Families Project or Council commissioned
tenancy support services and where required practical training sessions for
landlords.



Tenant information will be available to increase tenant awareness of their
rights, where tenants can seek help from, along with their responsibilities to
behave and act within the terms of their tenancy agreements. Consultation
feedback so far has also identified that a high number of tenants in these areas
lack general lifestyle and tenancy management skills which puts them at a
higher risk of homelessness due to tenancy breakdown. The Council aims to
increase its tenancy support service to be targeted within Selective Licensing
areas via funding secured through Public Health.



The Council will also commit to exploring a ‘co-regulation’ model as suggested
by the National Landlord Association as a model that could be looked at in the
future.

Monitoring of Impacts
Consultation feedback suggested Wirral needed a robust set of annual indicators to
monitor how effective the scheme was if implemented. Initially it was proposed that the
full 20 data-sets that were used to determine low demand for the purpose of selecting
the four selected licensing areas would be updated in year four of the scheme, it is
suggested that the following condensed set of indicators are measured and reported on
an annual basis:
 Number of properties licensed in each designated area
 Number of properties improved

Page 196

 Reduction in empty properties (N.B it is anticipated that this figure may increase
in the first year if some landlords sell their properties to avoid paying a licence
fee)
 Reduction in time taken to let properties
 Number of residents supported through Healthy Homes, ASB team or tenancy
support services or partner agencies as a result of Selective Licensing.
5.0

RELEVANT RISKS

5.1

As part of the preparation work for the consultation a risk assessment was undertaken
and identified controls which would be put into place to help mitigate these factors.
Members where advised that following consultation the risk assessment would be
reviewed and any further issues identified. The full risk assessment is attached as
Appendix 4 of the Business Case which can be found in the Council’s web library,
however Members attention is drawn to the following:Risk
Controls
Low take up by landlords resulting in an
 Full Consultation taken place
income shortfall
 Earlybird discount offered to
encourage landlords to come
forward;
 Enforcement and publicity of noncompliant landlords
Inability to process and respond to high
 Staff to be recruited for new team
level of licence applications all submitted
 Feasibility of on line applications
at the same time
and payments
 Fixed term staff to assist in early
stage of programme if higher level
of applications anticipated are
received
Challenge of the Councils decision by
 Councils legal team involved in
seeking judicial review of the decision
feasibility
and
consultation
resulting in cost implications for the
processes
council
 Robust consultation plan agreed by
cabinet
 License conditions and fees
changed to reflect views and
concerns from consultation with
landlords

6.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

6.1

The Council has used a range of tools for tackling poor management including
property accreditation, healthy homes and enforcement action. Whilst this has had
some success the benefit that Selective Licensing brings is a co-ordinated, targeted
mandatory approach, where the ultimate sanction is that a landlord can be prevented
from letting out properties.

6.2

A Borough wide selective licensing approach was considered but Wirral has very
distinct housing markets which are clearly concentrated in small pockets in the east of
the borough as evidenced in various research studies conducted in Wirral and the
Merseyside Sub region into low demand. Although the HMRI programme has not

Page 197

operated since 2011, recent evidence from the Performance and Public Health
Intelligence Report (July 2014) still supports the fact that there is significant
polarisation of the housing markets in different parts of the borough. The Council
therefore needs to focus resources in the areas displaying to the worst problems of
low demand.
7.0

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

7.1

There have been no direct representations to the Council from any voluntary,
community and faith groups regarding the consultation exercise, however it is
proposed the business case for the implementation of Selective Licensing will need to
be communicated to Voluntary, Community and Faith Groups in order that clients can
be supported sufficiently. Following approval of the business case, Voluntary
Community Action Wirral will be contacted with information provided for them to share
with their members which will be consistent with communications on the Council
website.

8.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS

8.1

The estimated costs of operating a scheme in the four areas are estimated to be in the
region of £200k per year over the five year designation period. A Budget of £365k
from 2015/16 and subsequent yearly allocation of £193k in years 2016/17-2019/20 is
available to support five FTE staff members and the operation of the service. These
posts have already been established and the recruitment/redeployment to the posts
will commence following Members decision to implement a scheme. The initial budget
for the 2015/16 of £365k is higher than subsequent years based on the additional
costs associated with complying with the legal requirements of setting up a new
regulatory scheme including the statutory consultation exercise; publicity costs for
publishing statutory notices if the scheme is approved and other costs associated with
the initial set up of the scheme The 2015/16 budget also allows provision for legal
costs in the event that the proposed designations are called into Judicial Review.
However, this will not be known until the expiry of the notice period.

8.2

Members should note assumptions on costs regarding fee income have had to be
made on the current level of private rented properties across the areas however this
could be subject to change if there are less private rented properties in the area or
landlords make more properties empty to try and avoid fees. This would have an
impact on the level of fee income generated and would need to be reported to
members. This risk will be managed through regular monitoring of income generation
and by the new team working to establish an accurate private landlord database.

8.3

Officers are proposing a baseline fee per licence in the designated area of £695. The
proposed fee to be charged is based on the true costs associated with running the
scheme, this includes processing applications, administration costs for issuing the
licence and staff monitoring compliance of the scheme conditions over the five year
designation period. The proposed fee charge will need to be included in the Councils
Fees and Charges Directory.

8.4

Whilst the baseline fee will be charged at £695, it is proposed that discounts will be
applied to the scheme for all private landlords. Wirral is proposing that discounts will
be applied and given to landlords where less administration is required such as
multiple applications or landlords are members of the Wirral Accreditation Scheme

Page 198

where much of the checks and documentation required for licensing will have already
been made available.
8.5

Members attention is drawn to Appendix 1 of this report which sets out the
consultation findings which officers have had regard to when proposing the final fee
structure and the range of discounts which will be available.

8.6

Members should note that councils are not able to include the costs of enforcement as
part of any licence fee. Recent case law means this is no longer lawful for the
collection of the licence fee to include any element of enforcing a licensing system.
The costs of prosecuting landlords who fail to obtain a licence within the scheme area
would be recoverable from the landlord on conviction but subject to the approval of the
Court therefore budgetary provision would have to be made available in advance to be
able to prosecute in the first place.

8.7

Based on the above two issues an element of the costs of operating the scheme will
be required to be made available by the Council.
Budgetary provision has been
made within the Councils resources to part fund a Selective Licensing Scheme over
the five year designation period as set out in 8.1 of this report.

8.8

Some costs of the overall service will be offset by the fee income generated as part of
the licence process however it is also anticipated if a scheme was taken forward, the
reduction of vacant and poorly managed properties will drive increases in Council Tax
income as more people choose to reside in the areas because of an improved quality
of housing offer.

8.9

There will be a requirement to extend the current MVM Northgate software system
currently used by the Council to extend the database facilities to be able to manage
the service. As part of the current contract with Northgate, who is the provider of the
system, there is provision for 3 days consultation support to assist with service
changes and support. It is anticipated that the requirements for software changes will
be undertaken as part of the existing contract arrangements however if additional
support is required this would be authorised by the Strategic Director of Regeneration
and Environment under Delegated Authority.

8.10

For a number of years the council has been improving its online services to make it
easier for our customers to do business with us via the internet and will take a another
step forward this year in the way the council deals with its customers through how the
one stop shops and the call centre will change.

8.11

All Councils are promoting Channel Shift as an effective means of making savings
which does not impact on essential services. It is proposed as part of Wirral’s
‘Channel Shift’ approach the implementation of on line applications and payments for
the Selective Licensing scheme is taken forward.

9.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The Housing Act 2004 contains provisions for local authorities to license the private
rented sector in some circumstances. Selective Licensing is one form of licensing that
can be used. The criteria for selective licensing are:1. That the area is, or is likely to become, an area of low housing demand and that
making the designation will, when combined with other measures taken in the

Page 199

area by the local authority, contribute to the improvement of the social and
economic conditions in the area and/or
2. That the area is experiencing a significant and persistent problem with anti-social
behaviour and some or all of the private landlords with properties in the area are
failing to take appropriate action to combat the problem and that making the
designation ill, when combined with other measures taken by the local authority,
lead to a reduction in or elimination of the problem.
9.2

The definition of “Private landlord” does not include a non-profit registered provider of
social housing or a registered social landlord and as such these landlords would be
exempt from any license scheme introduced.

9.3

The Council must have taken reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be
affected by the designation, have regard to the Equality Act 2010 and be satisfied that
the proposal are compliant with landlords’ and occupiers’ human rights as set out in
Article 1 of the European Convention of Human Rights as set out below. This means
that either the proposals do not interfere with the following right or that any
interference is lawful and justified by and proportionate to the public interest:Article 1 Protection of Property
Every natural and or legal person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his
possessions. No one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the public interest
and subject to the conditions provided for by law and by the general principles of
international law.
The preceding provisions shall not, however in any way impair the right of a state to
enforce such laws as it deemed necessary to control the use of property in
accordance with the general interest or to secure the payment of taxes or other
contributions or penalties.

9.4

Wirral Council has undertaken a full consultation programme for a ten week period in
line with Government guidance.
An Equality Impact Assessment has been
undertaken to ensure that Wirral as a Council has had full regard to all the relevant
protected characteristics contained within the act and to eliminate discrimination,
harassment, or victimisation. The full EIA can be viewed via the following link in
Section 10 of this report.

9.5

Whilst the proposals to introduce selective licensing may interfere with landlord’s
human rights by imposing additional requirement and restrictions on their use of their
property, such interference is justified by and proportionate to the public interest in the
likely improvement in the social and economic conditions delivered by the proposals.
Based on the consultation, EIA and consideration of Article 1, Cabinet is therefore
requested to approve the recommendations.

9.6

If Members agree to the recommendation to implement Selective Licensing in the four
designated areas in Wirral a public notice of a designation must be given once it is
made. The designation cannot come into force until the elapse of 3 months after the
date it is made. Members should note that the designations may be challenged by
judicial review as has been the experience of other local housing authorities. The time
for seeking judicial review is 3 months of the date the designation is made.

Page 200

10.0

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

10.1

It is anticipated that the proposed implementation of Selective Licensing will have a
positive impact on stakeholders in the affected areas through improvements in the
standards and management of private rented properties, improving the Borough’s
housing offer and improved access to quality housing in the top four Lower Super
Output Areas. The introduction of a Selective Licensing Scheme is consistent with
the priorities identified in the Housing Strategy Statement 2011-2026 of which an EIA
was completed. However a full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for Selective
Licensing has been completed and can be found via the following link:http://bit.ly/regenEIA

11.0

CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

11.1

The implementation of Selective Licensing will result in a comprehensive register of
landlords within the designated areas and in meeting the requirements of the licence
will result in improved housing conditions and thermal efficiency of private rented
homes. It is proposed that the use of Empty Homes Grants funded by the Capital
Programme and targeted energy efficiency measures advice and support will be
directed to properties within the Selective Licensing areas. This alongside the general
property conditions which will need to be met by the licence holder will have a positive
effect on thermal efficiency and help reduce CO2 emissions.

12.0

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

12.1

There are no planning implications arising from this report.

12.2

The designation of the Selective Licensing area can be made if the area to which it
relates satisfies one of both of the following – Low demand or significant and
persistent Criminal Damage (Anti Social Behaviour) and private landlords are not
addressing this. The proposal for Wirral is to undertake a designation based on low
demand. Criminal Damage and long term empty homes along with others are
contributing indicators which have been used as part of the evidence base to select
the areas and are seen as issues which are connected to criminal activity and
community safety issues.

12.3

As part of the consultation feedback on additional licence conditions relating to ASB
the following percentage of respondents strongly agreed/agreed that the licence
holder must comply with the following aspects:



12.4

Make sure that the tenants complies with other conditions about living in the
property (91.38%)
Deal with any complaints of ASB in a proper and timely manner (85.79%)
Make sure that the tenants and their visitors don’t cause a nuisance to their
neighbours (80.39%)

As part of the Consultation process a specific landlord’s Selective Licensing Working
Group was established to discuss specific aspects of the proposed scheme and
included the additional licensing aspects relating to ASB. The Working Group was
supportive of the above conditions however expressed a need for some form of
support to be given to landlords in dealing with ASB and meeting the conditions. It is
proposed that work will be undertaken with the Head of Corporate and Community
Safety on information for landlords to be able to use and other forms of support and

Page 201

advice which may be available. The Strategy, Standards and Renewal Team has also
been successful in securing Public Health funding to offer a floating support service to
landlords who are experiencing difficulties with tenants identified as needing support
and who may be at risk of losing their tenancy for various reasons including their
behaviour.
13.0

RECOMMENDATION/S

13.1

Members are requested to :a)
b)

c)

d)

approve the proposal for the designation of Selective Licensing in the 4 areas
in the Borough as set out in the Business Plan to cover all private tenancies
in accordance with Section 80 of the Housing Act 2004;
give delegated authority to the Strategic Director of Regeneration and
Environment and the Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods, Housing and
Engagement to take all necessary steps to implement the operational
delivery of selective licensing including recruitment of staff;
agree that the selective licensing designation shall come into force on 1st
April 2015 with an anticipated target commencement date of 1st July
2015delegated authority be given to the Strategic Director, Regeneration and
Environment in consultation with the Cabinet Member for neighbourhoods
Housing and Engagement to discuss co-regulation options with the National
Landlords Association and other representative organisations.
Cabinet refer this report to Full Council on 16th March 2015 for approval.

14.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

14.1

The report sets out the reasons for implementing a Selective Licensing Scheme in
four designated areas in the borough following extensive consultation with
stakeholders, local residents and landlords. These recommendations will improve
living conditions and well managed private rented properties in the designated areas
supported by both the Housing Strategy’s objectives and the Councils priorities
identified within the Corporate Plan.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Lisa Newman
Senior Manager, Housing Strategy, Standards and Renewal
telephone: (0151-691-8197)
email: lisanewman@wirral.gov.uk
Emma Foley
Standards and Renewal Manager
telephone: (0151-691-8198)
email: emmafoley@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 Proposed Fee Structure
The following documents can be accessed via the Council’s web library:

Page 202

Draft Business Case
Business Case Appendix 1: Evidence Base
Business Case Appendix 2

Maps & Address Lists

Business Case Appendix 3: License Conditions
Business Case Appendix 4: Risk Register
Business Case Appendix 5: Final Report - Consultation Responses
REFERENCE MATERIAL
Approval Steps for additional and selective licensing designations in England, Department of
Communities and Local Government, Revised addition 2010
Selective Licensing of Privately Rented Housing December 2013, House of Commons
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

Cabinet Report - Approval of Business Case and 6th November 2014
Consultation Approach for the proposed Introduction of
Selective Licensing

Page 203

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 Proposed Fee Structure following Consultation
In considering and setting the final fee structure for the Selective Licensing
Scheme in Wirral, Officers have had regard to both the actual eligible costs
which can be included within the fee and also the results and comments
obtained from the consultation undertaken. The views of landlords and
residents have been considered and were obtained from the on line
questionnaire, the Landlord Working Group, specific representations and the
Landlord Forums and Resident Drop in Sessions.
Responses from the consultation
From the consultation process, responses to the on line questionnaire were
analysed from both landlords who have property within the proposed
designated area and residents who live in the proposed areas against all
responses received. Each of their responses to the proposed discounts that
could be applied to the licence fee where as follows:Discount

Landlord
Resident
All
Responses
Responses*
responses**
Strongly
Strongly
Strongly
Agree/Agree
Agree/Agree
Agree/Agree
Reduce
the 59.09%
60%
73.57%
licence fee for
landlords who are
signed up to the
Councils
Accreditation
scheme
Reduce
the 80%
35.56%
48.08%
licence fee for
landlords
with
multiple properties
Reduce
the 56.82%
47.7%
53.25%
licence fee for
landlords
who
submit
early
licence
fee
applications
Charge a standard 25.58%
65.9%
56.9%
fee to landlords
who apply after
the start date
*this applies to residents only, private landlords were excluded as their
comments have been included in the landlord responses.
**all responses also include landlords with property in the area and residents
who live in the proposed areas, as it is not possible to accurately extract these
two groups from overall figures because respondents could tick more than

Page 205

one category in Question 2 of the questionnaire ‘Which of the following apply
to you?’.
It is clear that there are differences between landlords and residents on some
aspects of discounts namely the landlords feel that they should not be
charged a fee if they do not submit an application by the start of the
designation, whereas residents feel landlords who do not co-operate should
be penalised and charged a fee. Landlords feel they should not have to pay
the full licence fee where they own multiple properties due to the fact that after
one property is licenced the Council would not have to undertake the same
checks for each subsequent licensable property therefore a reduction in
administration charge should be applied.
In addition to the on line questionnaire officers have had regard to the views
expressed via the Landlord Forums and also the Landlord Working Group.
From these sessions, many landlords actually agree with the scheme in
principle however their biggest concern was the level of the licensing fee.
Landlords asked for good landlords to be recognised in the fee structure and
for there to be flexibility in payment methods. The proposed fee structure was
presented to landlord representatives as a draft at the Working Group on 16th
February 2015, they agreed with the basis for the fee structure and level of
discounts to be applied but were made aware this was subject to elected
members final comments.
Proposed Fee Structure
Based on the results and considerations from the Consultation findings the
final fee structure is proposed as follows:Standard Fee

£695

Discount for Accredited Property

£200

Discount for applications submitted within 3 £100
months of commencement or 3 month of
buying a property in a designated Selective
Licensing Area
Multiple Property Discount
£50
Applications for a license in the last 6 months £347.50
of the designation will be eligible for an initial
discount of 50% (where properties have not
been licensable prior to this time) and may be
eligible for other discounts as mentioned
above

Charge for each incomplete applications

Page 206

£25

Charge for yearly direct debits
Charge to vary license*
Charge if late payment if signed up to direct
debit payment plan / 2 or more warning
letters issued
Temporary Exemption Notice made by the
Council

£45
£35*
£50
And any
removed
£35

Applicants
with
previous
property
management/property
standards
contraventions
Applicants
with
previous
property
management/property
standards
contraventions who have had no further
contraventions during the first year

£695 for
license

discounts

1

year

£250 for the remaining
term of the licence

Example: A landlord has 3 properties that are accredited and he applies in the 1st
three months of the scheme. He pays £395.00 for the first property and £345.00 for
subsequent properties.
*Variations must be made for:




Change of address or existing licence holder, manager, owner, mortgagor,
freeholder or leaseholder
Change of Mortgagor, owner freeholder and leaseholder
Change in number of permitted occupiers/households

N.B. Change of Licence Holder will require a new application fee.

Page 207

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 18

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 209

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 19

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 215

This page is intentionally left blank

